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i am pleased to present the 2012 Annual 
report for Qube Logistics Holdings 
Limited (Qube), the first for Qube as a 
listed corporate entity. the 2012 financial 
year was a transformational year for 
Qube with the completion of a number 
of initiatives and acquisitions that have 
established a strong foundation for 
continued long-term growth.

the Qube restructure which was approved by 
shareholders in August 2011 and completed 
in September 2011 was a pivotal milestone 
in Qube’s development as it established the 
Board, management and corporate structure to 
support the next stage of Qube’s development. 

As part of this process, a comprehensive 
corporate governance framework was 
put in place to ensure that Qube has the 
appropriate processes and procedures to 
deliver sustainable growth for shareholders.

Qube is fortunate to have a very experienced 
Board with expertise in industries relevant to 
Qube’s activities including logistics, shipping, 
mining and finance. the management team, 
led by Maurice James, is amongst the most 
experienced logistics team in the country with 
a demonstrated track record of operating 
and building highly profitable port-related 
logistics businesses. 

Qube delivered very strong results in FY 2012 
with pro-forma eBItDA and pro-forma 
net profit after tax increasing almost 62% 
and more than 32% to $112.7 million and 
$61.5 million respectively over the prior year1. 

Qube reported a consolidated statutory loss 
after tax attributable to Qube shareholders of 
$2.5 million for the year ended 30 June 2012. 
However, as previously advised, the pro-forma 
results provide a better reflection of the 
underlying performance of Qube’s operations 
during the period as the statutory results 
include non-recurring costs associated with 
the Qube restructure as well as other non-
operating and non-cash expenses.

the record underlying financial results 
achieved by both operating divisions in the 
2012 financial year is a reflection on the 
quality of Qube’s management team.

these results are particularly pleasing 
as they have been achieved in the face 
of a challenging external environment 
particularly in europe, difficult retail conditions 
domestically and unfavourable weather 
events in Japan, thailand and Western 
Australia that impacted Qube’s operations.

the financial results benefitted from the 
contribution from several complementary 
strategic acquisitions that Qube undertook 
during the financial year. these acquisitions 
expanded the geographical reach, 
capabilities and diversification of Qube’s 
operations, and will underpin revenue and 
earnings growth over the medium term. 
Following these acquisitions, Qube has 
around 4,000 employees across its various 
operations and joint ventures.

CHAirMAn’S LEttEr
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Additionally, Qube increased its stake in the 
property located in the Moorebank precinct 
in Sydney which has been identified as the 
location for the development of a major 
logistics freight hub with related logistics 
infrastructure in the Sydney basin.

Financial strength
Qube has a strong balance sheet with 
conservative gearing. A four year $550 million 
syndicated debt facility was finalised in May 
2012 which was used to assist in funding 
the recent acquisitions. Additionally, Qube 
has undrawn debt facilities and cash which 
will provide the company with the capacity 
and flexibility to fund further acquisitions and 
capital investment. However, in financing 
its continued growth, Qube will continue 
to maintain a conservative approach to its 
capital structure with a long-term target 
gearing range of 30–40%. 

Shareholders received a full year fully 
franked dividend of 4.1 cents per share, an 
increase of 7.9% over the previous year. In 
the future, Qube intends to pay out 50–60% 
of underlying earnings subject to the capital 
needs of the business and earnings outlook. 

Strategy and outlook
the 2012 financial year saw the company 
enhance its position as a leading national 
provider of containerised logistics solutions 
in the import and export sector. Furthermore, 
Qube expanded its capabilities to provide 
mine-to-ship logistics services for the bulk 
resources sector.

Qube achieved consistent growth by 
focussing on parts of the logistics supply 
chain where it has the management team, 
strategic locations and asset base to achieve 
sustainable long-term growth. Qube knows 
and understands these niche markets 
well and believes they provide scope for 
continued expansion.

the 2013 financial year will be a year 
of consolidation for Qube with a strong 
focus by both the Board and management 
on extracting synergies from our recent 
acquisitions. Additionally, Qube will 
continue to make further investment in 
facilities and equipment.

As Chairman, I wish to thank the Board, 
Maurice James and the management  
team for making Qube’s first year such  
an outstanding success.

Christopher d Corrigan
Chairman

1. references to ‘pro-forma’ information are to 
non-IFrS financial information prepared in 
accordance with ASIC regulatory Guide 230 
(Disclosing non-IFrS financial information) 
issued in December 2011. Non-IFrS financial 
information has not been subject to audit.
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Qube’s first year as a listed company 
was one of growth, expansion and 
investment. Qube’s operating divisions 
delivered a record underlying result 
in fy 2012 reflecting strong organic 
growth and the contribution from 
strategic acquisitions and capital 
investment. Qube continued to expand 
and diversify its activities and is well 
placed to continue to grow despite 
the challenging external environment.

I am pleased to present the 2012 financial 
results for Qube Logistics Holdings Limited 
(Qube). Qube continued to deliver very strong 
results with pro-forma revenue and eBItDA  
of $836.7 million and $112.7 million, a  
35% and 62% increase on the prior year’s 
pro-forma result. the result reflected revenue 
and earnings growth in both operating 
divisions and continued reliable income from 
the strategic assets.

It is particularly pleasing that the record 
financial results were achieved while 
delivering a continued improvement in safety 
with a material improvement in the lost time 
injury frequency rate (LtIFr). Management 
is committed to achieving on-going 
improvement in safety and to provide a 
productive and safe work environment 
for its employees.

Qube undertook a number of acquisitions 
during the financial year to provide it with 
long-term access to strategic locations, and 
to expand the breadth and geographical 
reach of its logistics operations. 

these acquisitions included:

•	 Mackenzie Intermodal (July 2011);

•	 Giacci Holdings (March 2012);

•	 Victoria Dock (March 2012);

•	 Increased equity in the Moorebank 
Industrial property trust (June 2012); and

•	 MISt/ItG (signed in June and completed 
in August 2012).

Qube also completed sizeable investment 
to acquire new rail locomotives and 
wagons, trucks, trailers and other capital 
equipment to increase its capacity to provide 
reliable, innovative logistics solutions to its 
customers across multiple aspects of the 
logistics supply chain.

mAnAging 
DiReCtoR’S 
letteR

Qube will continue to undertake significant 
investment in FY 2013 to support recent 
new contracts in the ports & Bulk division, 
to expand and improve the facilities in the 
Logistics division, and to build the capacity 
and capability of Qube to deliver reliable, 
innovative solutions for its customers. 

Subject to no material deterioration in 
economic conditions or the industrial relations 
environment, Qube expects its businesses 
to deliver underlying revenue and earnings 
growth in FY 2013, albeit at a lower growth 
rate than achieved in FY 2012. this will 
reflect continued organic growth and the 
full year contribution from acquisitions and 
investments made during FY 2012.

the full benefit of the investments undertaken 
in FY 2012 and FY 2013 will be realised from 
FY 2014 and beyond. 

I would like to thank Qube’s management 
team and employees for their outstanding 
contribution in 2012 and look forward to 
another year of growth for Qube as we  
deliver reliable and innovative solutions  
for our customers and long-term value  
for our shareholders.

Maurice James 
Managing Director

An increasing proportion of Qube’s 
investment in the year has been targeted 
at expanding Qube’s capacity to provide 
logistics solutions for the rural and bulk 
commodities sectors. Qube has identified 
a broad range of opportunities across both 
operating divisions to expand its logistics 
activities in these sectors.

Qube also completed the rebranding of 
its operating divisions to ensure that all its 
activities are conducted under the Qube 
brand. the container-related logistics 
activities are now operated through Qube 
Logistics while the ports and bulk related 
logistics activities are undertaken by Qube 
ports & Bulk. the final element of the 
rebranding is expected to be completed 
following Qube’s Annual General Meeting 
when shareholders will be asked to approve 
a name change from Qube Logistics Holdings 
Limited to Qube Holdings Limited. this 
change is intended to clearly differentiate 
the operating division Qube Logistics from 
the parent entity.

Qube enters the 2013 financial year in a very 
strong financial position with high quality 
businesses which are diversified by customer, 
geography, product type and service. Qube’s 
management team comprises some of the 
most experienced logistics executives in the 
country with the expertise to continue to grow 
Qube’s operations despite the challenging 
domestic and global economic conditions.

03QUBE
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ltiFR Qube logiStiCS holDingS Qube’s operating divisions both 
generated record financial and 
operating results during the period. 
Qube’s operations are diversified by 
region, customer, commodity and 
service type and are well positioned 
to continue to grow.

Qube conducts its operations through two 
divisions. the Logistics division is one of 
the largest national providers of containerised 
logistics solutions for the import-export supply 
chain. the ports & Bulk division provides 
a range of port-related services for the motor 
vehicle industry, general and project cargo as 
well as for bulk commodities. A third division, 
the Strategic Assets division, owns and 
develops key infrastructure which can be used 
by the two operating divisions in the future. 

Qube’s strategy is to provide innovative, 
reliable and cost-effective logistics solutions 
focussed on the import-export supply chain. 
Qube seeks to differentiate its service offering 
by providing integrated solutions covering 
multiple aspects of the supply chain. this 
enables Qube to establish scale, reduce 
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•	 the acquisition of the Victoria Dock 
assets in March 2012 provides a strategic 
site in the port of Melbourne which has 
a rail siding, warehousing and a large 
parcel of land which Qube Logistics 
is developing for container storage 
and related activities. As part of this 
transaction Qube Logistics entered into 
a formal alliance with Salta properties to 
create an Intermodal network throughout 
metropolitan Melbourne; and 

•	 the acquisition of the MISt group of 
companies in August 2012 provides 
a strategic intermodal site at Minto in 
South-West Sydney which has a rail 
siding, warehousing and container 
storage. the transaction increases Qube 
Logistics’ rail capability and intermodal 
footprint in New South Wales. 

A key focus of management in the period 
has been to expand the logistics services 
provided to the rural commodity sector and 
Qube continues to see significant opportunity 
in this sector as increasing volumes of 
specialised grains are moved via containers. 

the growth in container volumes moving by 
rail has also been particularly pleasing with 
Qube Logistics securing a number of new rail 
contracts during the year which are expected 
to make an increasing contribution to revenue 

and earnings in FY 2013. Importantly, these 
contracts are typically part of a broader 
logistics solution involving the provision of 
other integrated services by Qube Logistics.

the growth has been supported by the 
acquisitions and capital expenditure on 
locomotives and wagons during the year 
which provided additional terminal facilities 
and equipment which were necessary to 
facilitate further growth. 

the division’s rail kilometres travelled 
increased from around 1.2 million in FY 2011 
to around 1.7 million kilometres in FY 2012 
and this is expected to increase further as 
Qube Logistics continues to expand its 
rail operations.

Qube Logistics is very positive about the 
outlook for its rail operations given the strong 
economic and environmental benefits of the 
modal shift to rail.

Qube Logistics is now one of the largest 
providers in Australia of containerised 
logistics services to a broad range of 
customers including shipping lines, rural 
exporters, retailers and wholesalers. It 
provides an integrated, reliable and value-
add service across the supply chain which is 
made possible through key sites in all major 
capital cities and major regional areas. 

costs and improve efficiencies, thereby 
providing savings and operational benefits 
to Qube’s customers.

this strategy delivered record underlying 
results in 2012 with Qube’s pro-forma 
revenue and earnings before interest, tax  
depreciation and amortisation (eBItDA) 
increasing by 35% and 62% to $836.7 million 
and $112.7 million respectively. this reflected 
the contributions from recent acquisitions 
and investment as well as continued 
organic growth.

Qube continued to invest in systems and 
resources to enhance safety across its 
locations. this focus delivered a reduction 
in the number of lost time injuries. Qube will 
strive to improve its safety performance and 
ensure it provides a safe and productive 
work environment for all of its employees 
and contractors.

Further information on the performance  
of these divisions is provided below.

logiStiCS DiviSion
the division comprises Qube’s wholly owned 
operations, Qube Logistics, as well as an 
associate of Qube Logistics, Mackenzie 
Hillebrand (50%). 

the primary focus of Qube Logistics is to 
provide a broad range of services relating to 
the import and export of containerised cargo. 
the services currently provided include the 
physical and documentary processes and 
tasks of the import-export supply chain such 
as road and rail transport of containers to 
and from ports, operation of full and empty 
container parks, customs and quarantine 
services, warehousing, intermodal terminals 
and international freight forwarding. 

In FY 2012, Qube Logistics grew pro-forma 
revenue by 34.3% from $355 million to 
$476.8 million, and pro-forma eBItDA by 
40.6% from $41 million to $59.3 million. 
this reflected strong organic growth and 
the contribution from acquisitions including 
Mackenzie Intermodal (July 11), Victoria Dock 
(March 12) and the full year contribution from 
troncs transport (completed January 11).

Qube Logistics has continued to expand its 
geographic and service footprint over the past 
year through several acquisitions including:

•	 the acquisition of Mackenzie Intermodal 
in July 2011 provides a strategic 
intermodal site in the port of Adelaide  
at outer Harbour which has a rail siding, 
warehousing and container storage. the 
business provides a range of logistics 
services for the major participants in the 
wine industry and also provides Qube 
Logistics with additional terminal facilities 
for its rail business; 

05QUBE
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poRtS & bulk DiviSion
the ports & Bulk division is focused on 
two core activities comprising port and 
bulk logistics.

the division comprises Qube’s wholly owned 
operations, Qube ports & Bulk, as well as 
Qube’s associates Australian Amalgamated 
terminals pty Limited (50%), Northern 
Stevedoring Services pty Ltd (50%) and 
prixcar Services pty Ltd (25%). 

Consistent with Qube’s overall strategy, 
the objective of the division is to provide 
a comprehensive logistics solution for its 
customers covering all major aspects of the 
import-export supply chain.

the division’s port activities involve the 
provision of a range of services for passenger, 
agricultural and mining vehicles with a strong 
emphasis on imported motor vehicles. 
Services include stevedoring of the vehicles 
from the vessels, storage of the vehicles, 
processing, inspection and delivery to the 
end customer. these services are provided 
both directly by Qube ports & Bulk and in 
conjunction with its associates. Qube ports 
& Bulk is the largest provider of stevedoring 
services to the automotive sector in Australia 
with operations in all capital cities.

Qube’s bulk activities are aimed at offering 
customers a comprehensive logistics 
solution from mine to port to ship covering 
activities including transport, stockpile 
management, warehousing, bulk out-loading 
and stevedoring. 

In FY 2012, Qube ports & Bulk grew 
pro-forma revenue by 35.1% from 
$261.4 million to $353.3 million, and 
pro-forma eBItDA by 56.2% from 
$35.7 million to $55.8 million. the associates 
in the division also contributed increased 
underlying profits to Qube. 

the record divisional result was achieved 
as a result of high levels of activity across 
all parts of the business including vehicles, 
bulk and project cargo. the full year 
contribution from the Utah point facility and 
the partial contribution from the acquisition 
of Giacci Holdings in March 2012 also 
assisted the result.

the Qube ports business benefitted 
from growth in vehicle imports and sales 
which increased by approximately 5.9% in 
FY 2012. this had flow-on benefits for other 
activities within the division including facilities 
management, processing and storage for 
Qube’s associates, AAt and prixcar.

06 QUBE
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Qube has enhanced its ability to offer its 
import vehicle customers an integrated 
supply chain solution from “ship to dealer” 
for its import motor vehicle customers 
by supporting the acquisition of a vehicle 
distribution business by Qube’s associate 
prixcar Services (completed July 2012).

General and project cargo also delivered 
strong volumes on the back of major new 
resources and infrastructure projects.

the bulk capabilities within the division 
were strengthened considerably with the 
acquisition of Giacci Holdings in March 2012. 
this acquisition has provided Qube ports & 
Bulk with the infrastructure and expertise to 
expand its service offering deeply into the 
entire bulk supply chain. this business has 
strategic property and road fleet assets which 
provide logistics solutions for miners as part 
of their production process or from mine to 
storage to port.

the division handles a diverse range of 
commodities including iron ore, coal, 
manganese, copper and nickel concentrates 
and mineral sands. the main operations 
are located in Western Australia and 
Queensland and the Giacci acquisition has 
expanded operations to South Australia and 
New South Wales.

the Utah point facility has passed its first 
year anniversary and is exceeding volume 
expectations with an annualised run rate  
over 12 million tonnes.

Qube ports & Bulk continues to progress 
opportunities to replicate the Utah point 
model of working with one or more mining 
companies which require complete logistics 
solutions from mine to port to ship from an 
independent, experienced logistics provider. 

Qube ports & Bulk has continued to invest in 
innovative technology and capital equipment 
to provide a superior customer solution.

through a combination of acquisitions, capital 
investment and organic growth, management 
has been successful in diversifying the 
revenue and earnings by customer, 
commodity type and region.
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StRAtegiC ASSetS DiviSion
the Strategic Assets division comprises 
Qube’s controlling interest in the Moorebank 
Industrial property trust (MIpt) (66.7%) 
which owns an 83 hectare property 
located at Moorebank, and a strategically 
located property at Minto in Sydney’s 
south west (100%). 

Both of these properties are located adjacent 
to the dedicated Southern Sydney Freight 
Line (SSFL) presently being constructed.

these assets are being leased to quality 
third party tenants to generate income while 
Qube undertakes the necessary analysis 
and planning and obtains the required 
development approvals to transform these 
assets into operating logistics properties 
predominantly involving inland rail terminals 
and related logistics activities. 

During the year, Qube was able to increase 
its interest in MIpt from 30% to 66.7% and 
assumed responsibility for the management 
of the property and development process.  
Qr National Limited owns the remaining 
33.3% of MIpt. 

Qube is continuing to progress the necessary 
planning approvals for the development of the 
property into an intermodal facility with related 
logistics activities. the project is continuing 
to receive strong support from a range of 
stakeholders who recognise the economic 
and environmental benefits which will result 
from the development. 

Qube is continuing its negotiations to 
secure the required consents, the most 
important of which is access over the private 
and Government owned land required to 
construct the rail connection from the new 
dedicated freight line to MIpt’s property. 

Importantly, recent developments have clearly 
established the Moorebank precinct as the 
future hub for Sydney’s metropolitan freight 
growth. Qube is well placed to benefit from 
future logistics developments in the precinct. 

08 QUBE
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This Corporate Governance statement outlines the key aspects of 
Qube’s corporate governance framework. The Board is committed 
to the highest standards in corporate governance and believes 
that good governance plays a major role in Qube’s success. As 
at the date of this report, Qube’s governance practices comply 
with the ASX Corporate Governance Council recommendations 
(Recommendations) except as noted below.

Also listed below are matters required to be disclosed by the 
Recommendations.

Information about the governance framework and the polices and 
charters referred to in this statement can be found on Qube’s website 
at www.qube.com.au.

PRinCiPle 1 – lay Solid foundationS foR 
management and oveRSight
The Board is responsible to shareholders for the long-term 
performance of Qube and for overseeing the implementation of 
the highest standards of corporate governance with respect to 
Qube’s affairs. 

To assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities, Qube has 
adopted a governance framework which provides for the delegation 
of functions to Board Committees and senior management (under the 
leadership of the Managing Director). Whilst ultimate accountability 
rests with the Board, the framework ensures that functions are carried 
out by the most appropriate person or group and that a tiered system 
of responsibility and accountability exists throughout Qube. 

The Board operates under a formal charter which sets out its role and 
responsibilities, and which is available on Qube’s website.

In summary, the Board is responsible for:

•	 Strategy – approving, directing, monitoring and assessing Qube’s 
performance against strategic and business plans as well as 
approving and monitoring capital management including major 
capital expenditure, acquisitions and divestments;

•	 Risk Management – ensuring processes are in place to identify the 
principal risks of Qube’s business and assessing the integrity of 
Qube’s systems of risk management;

•	 Reporting and Disclosure – approving and monitoring financial and 
other reporting requirements, including reporting to shareholders 
and other stakeholders and establishing procedures to ensure 
compliance with the company’s continuous disclosure obligations;

•	 Management and Performance – evaluating the performance of 
the Managing Director, approving criteria for assessing, monitoring 
and evaluating the performance of senior executives, as well 
as undertaking an annual performance review of the Board’s 
own effectiveness; and

•	 Corporate Governance – establishing and monitoring the 
company’s compliance with corporate governance standards 
and encouraging ethical behaviour.

Non-executive directors are advised of the Board’s Charter and 
the terms and conditions of their appointment in formal letters 
of appointment.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management of Qube’s 
business to the Managing Director and management. The Managing 
Director and management regularly report to the Board to enable 
the directors to discharge their duties. Management and key staff 
performance is regularly reviewed.

To ensure appropriate oversight of the senior executive team, Qube 
has adopted a range of mechanisms which reinforce the accountability 
of the senior executive team for functions delegated to them and 
ensures their performance is assessed accordingly. The Board is 
responsible for setting the major goals, objectives and personal 
development programs for the Managing Director for the year ahead, 
and then assessing and measuring performance against such goals, 
objectives and programs. 

The Managing Director reviews the performance of all senior 
executives who report to the Managing Director by way of formal 
review as appropriate throughout the year. As part of the review 
process, the Managing Director considers internal feedback, 
the individual’s performance against requisite standards, and 
actively monitors their contribution to all aspects of Qube’s 
performance and culture. 

Performance evaluations for all senior executives were undertaken 
during the reporting period in accordance with this process.

PRinCiPle 2 – StRuCtuRe the BoaRd to add value
Board composition
The Board of Qube has eight members of which seven are 
non-executive directors comprising Mr Chris Corrigan as Chairman, 
Mr Sam Kaplan as Deputy Chairman, Messrs Ross Burney, 
Allan Davies, Peter Dexter, Robert Dove and Yutaka Nakagawa, 
and Mr Maurice James as Managing Director. The Board has also 
accepted the appointment of Messrs Aage Holm as alternate 
non-executive director to Mr Dexter, Simon Moore as alternate 
non-executive director to Mr Dove and Alan Miles as alternate 
non-executive director to Mr Nakagawa. 

The Board is balanced in its composition with each director bringing a 
range of complementary skills and experience to Qube. Further details 
regarding the relevant skills, experience, tenure and expertise of each 
director are set out in the Directors’ report.

Messrs Chris Corrigan, Sam Kaplan and Allan Davies are considered 
by the Board to be independent directors. Qube does not comply with 
the Recommendation that the majority of the Board be independent 
as only three of eight existing directors are independent.

The directors believe, despite this, that the Board is appropriately 
structured given the extensive knowledge of each of the directors 
regarding Qube and its business divisions and their substantial 
experience and expert recognition in the logistics industry and other 
industries relevant to Qube’s operations.

CoRPoRate goveRnanCe Statement
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Independence
The Board will continually assess the independence of the directors 
appointed to the Board, the interests they have disclosed and such 
other factors as the Board determines are appropriate to take into 
account. In making this determination, the Board is seeking to assess 
whether directors are:

•	 independent of management;

•	 free of any business or other relationship that could materially 
interfere, or be perceived to materially interfere, with their 
unfettered and independent judgement; and

•	 capable of making decisions without bias and which are in the 
best interests of all members.

Factors to be considered when determining whether a non-executive 
director is to be regarded as an independent director include 
whether that director:

•	 is a substantial shareholder of Qube or an officer of, or otherwise 
associated directly with, a substantial shareholder of Qube;

•	 within the last three years has been employed in an executive 
capacity by any member of the Qube Group;

•	 within the last three years has been a partner or a senior 
management executive with audit responsibilities of a firm which 
has acted in the capacity of statutory auditor of any member 
of Qube;

•	 within the last three years has been a principal of a material 
professional adviser or a material professional consultant to any 
member of the Qube Group, or an employee materially associated 
with the service provided – for this purpose a material professional 
adviser/consultant is an adviser whose billings to Qube exceed 
5% of the total revenues of the adviser/consultant;

•	 is a material supplier to, or material customer of, any member 
of the Qube Group, or an officer of or otherwise associated 
directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer – for this 
purpose a material supplier to Qube means a supplier whose 
revenues from Qube exceed 5% of the supplier’s total revenues 
and a material customer is a customer whose payments to Qube 
exceed 5% of the customer’s operating costs;

•	 has a material contractual relationship with any member of Qube 
other than as a director; or

•	 has any interest or business or other relationship which could 
materially interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best 
interests of Qube and independently of management.

These are only factors to be considered and are not determinative of 
whether a director is to be regarded as independent. Kaplan Funds 
Management Pty Limited (KFM) provided management services to 
Qube Logistics, the predecessor entity of Qube, until August 2011. 
Mr Kaplan was managing director of KFM and holds an interest in 
Kaplan Partners Pty Limited (KP), the ultimate holding company 
of KFM. Mr Corrigan held shares in KP and was the head of the 
Investment Advisory Committee. In view of the historical relationship 
between KFM and Qube Logistics, the board determined in the 
context of the 2011 restructure, that Messrs Corrigan and Kaplan 
be considered as not independent. 

In recognition of the fact that the arrangement with KFM has been 
terminated and will not be recommenced under the current corporate 
structure of Qube, Messrs Corrigan and Kaplan do not have and 
are not expected to have any advisory or consultancy role or other 
material business relationship with Qube and are not substantial 
shareholders, the Board considers it appropriate to regard each  
of them as independent.

Accordingly, the Board has made the following determinations:

•	 Mr Chris Corrigan is an independent director;

•	 Mr Sam Kaplan is an independent director;

•	 Mr Ross Burney is not independent as he is associated with 
Taverners Group, a substantial shareholder of Qube;

•	 Mr Allan Davies is an independent director;

•	 Mr Peter Dexter is not independent as he is associated with the 
Wilhelmsen Group companies, a substantial shareholder of Qube 
and a material customer of the Qube Group;

•	 Mr Robert Dove is not independent as he is associated with 
Carlyle Infrastructure Partners, a substantial shareholder of Qube; 
and

•	 Mr Yutaka Nakagawa is not independent as he is associated with 
the Kawasaki Group companies, a substantial shareholder of 
Qube and a material customer of the Qube Group.

Independent advice
In order to assist directors in fulfilling their responsibilities, each 
director has the right (with prior approval from the Chairman) to  
seek independent professional advice regarding those responsibilities 
at the expense of Qube.

When a new director is appointed, he or she must undertake 
an induction program which includes information about Qube’s 
strategies, objectives and values, Qube’s governance framework 
and business operations as well as meetings with key senior 
management personnel. In addition, all directors have on-going 
access to information with respect to Qube’s business operations 
and to members of senior management through Board presentations, 
strategic discussions and site visits. 

Board committees
The Board has established three standing committees to assist  
with the effective discharge of its duties, as follows:

•	 Audit and Risk Management Committee;

•	 Nomination and Remuneration Committee; and

•	 Safety, Health and Environment Committee.

Further detail regarding the standing committees is set out on the 
following page.

All three committees have at least three members. Non-committee 
members, including the Managing Director, may attend committee 
meetings by invitation and generally do attend where appropriate. 

Each committee operates under a specific Charter approved by the 
Board and the Charters are available on Qube’s website. The Board 
regularly reviews the appropriateness of the existing committee 
structure, as well as the membership and Charter of each committee. 
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Committee Members and Composition Role

audit and Risk 
management 
Committee

The members of the committee are:

•	 Sam Kaplan (Chairman)

•	 Allan Davies

•	 Ross Burney

The committee consists of a majority 
of independent directors and is 
chaired by an independent director. 

The composition of this committee 
was restructured in September 2012.

The primary responsibility of the committee is to review the integrity of Qube’s 
financial reporting process and to report the results of its activities to the Board. 

Other responsibilities of the committee include: 

•	 assessing internal controls;

•	 confirming compliance with legal and regulatory obligations;

•	 assessing the integrity of the financial reporting process;

•	 overseeing the relationship with, and the independence of, the 
external auditor; 

•	 advising on the provision of non-audit services by the external auditor; and 
overseeing: 

 – the establishment and implementation of Qube’s enterprise-wide risk 
management systems and reporting; 

 – Qube’s compliance systems; and 
 – Qube’s corporate governance processes. 

The committee meets with external auditors on a regular basis. 

nomination and 
Remuneration 
Committee 

The members of the committee are:

•	 Sam Kaplan (Chairman)

•	 Chris Corrigan

•	 Robert Dove

The committee consists of a majority 
of independent directors and is 
chaired by an independent director. 

The responsibilities of the committee include: 

•	 overseeing the remuneration of non-executive directors; 

•	 reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on Qube’s 
remuneration policies including senior executive remuneration and short-
term incentives (‘STI’); 

•	 reviewing Qube’s superannuation arrangements; 

•	 making recommendations to the Board in relation to the implementation 
and operation of equity-based incentive plans and other employee 
benefit programs; 

•	 reviewing Qube’s recruitment, retention and termination policies and 
fringe benefits; 

•	 reviewing the size, composition and necessary competencies of the Board 
and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and 
removal of directors; 

•	 consideration of diversity in the context of director and senior executive 
succession planning; 

•	 establishing guidelines for the selection and appointment of new directors, 
including strategies to address diversity in the Board’s composition; and 

•	 reviewing succession plans and overseeing the performance evaluation 
of senior executives including the Managing Director.

Safety, health 
and environment 
Committee

The members of the committee are:

•	 Allan Davies (Chairman)

•	 Peter Dexter

•	 Yutaka Nakagawa

•	 Maurice James 

The responsibilities of the committee include assisting the Board in fulfilling its 
strategy, policy, monitoring and corporate governance responsibilities in regard 
to safety, health, environment and operational matters, including:

•	 reviewing the strategies, systems, policies and processes established by 
Qube management to:

(i) protect Qube’s reputation;

(ii) manage the environmental performance of Qube and its subsidiaries;

(iii)  monitor the adequacy of safety, health, environment and 
operational systems for the reporting of actual or potential 
incidences and breaches;

(iv) monitor subsequent investigations and remedial actions; 

•	 compliance and related legal and regulatory obligations; and

•	 enterprise-wide risk management.
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Appointment and re-election of directors
When appointing new directors, the Board and the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee will look to ensure that an appropriate 
balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity is maintained. 
Any recommendations are presented to the full Board.

In considering the selection, appointment and re-election of directors, 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee implements Qube’s 
policy of maintaining a Board with a mix of skills, experience and 
diversity of backgrounds suitable for Qube’s current and anticipated 
future circumstances. External consultants will be engaged to assist 
with the selection process as necessary and each Board member 
will have the opportunity to meet with the nominated director.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee will assess candidates 
against a range of criteria developed for the role and in doing so 
consider their background, experience, personal qualities and 
professional skills. Following this assessment, the Committee will 
provide its recommendation of the preferred candidates for the 
Board to consider prior to making the appointment. 

Directors receive formal letters of appointment setting out the key 
terms, conditions and expectations of their appointment. Directors 
to be re-elected are reviewed by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee. Directors are re-elected in accordance with the Qube 
Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules.

Tenure and retirement
Directors appointed to casual vacancies during any reporting 
period are required to stand for election at the next general 
meeting of members. 

All directors, excluding the Managing Director, are required to retire 
and, if eligible, stand for re-election by members at least once every 
three years. Further, one third of the Board is up for re-election at each 
annual general meeting. Before recommending the re-election of any 
director to members, the Board has regard to the recommendations 
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, any relevant 
performance assessments and the mix of skills, experience and 
expertise represented on the Board at the time. 

Directors required to retire at a meeting, or only hold office until that 
meeting, are eligible for re-election or election (as appropriate). 

Where incumbent directors are to be nominated for re-election, 
their performance is reviewed by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee. The committee then makes recommendations to the 
Board as to their nomination for re-election. The Board then makes 
recommendations to shareholders in the Notice of Meeting concerning 
the election or re-election of any director. 

Induction and training
Upon appointment, directors receive an induction pack 
which includes:

•	 a letter of appointment, which refers to and summarises 
the securities dealing policy and the shareholder 
communication policy; 

•	 a copy of the code of conduct and ethics; 

•	 a director’s interests disclosure agreement; and

•	 a deed of indemnity, insurance and access.

At this time, directors are also introduced to the senior executive team 
and receive a briefing in relation to meeting arrangements and the 
culture and values of Qube.

Qube recognises the importance of providing continuing education 
to directors so as to enhance their knowledge of the Group and 
the industries in which it operates. As part of the Board’s on-going 

development program, directors attend an annual off-site planning 
and strategy session which includes briefings on current and future 
projects. Additionally, several Board meetings each year are held at 
operational locations and typically include site visits to supplement  
the Board’s knowledge and understanding of Qube’s operations.

Performance review
The Board has adopted a policy setting out a performance evaluation 
process for the Board. This policy provides that the performance of 
the Board, each of its committees and each director will be reviewed 
annually. The policy also sets out matters that will be considered 
relevant in assessing their performance. 

Additionally, as part of this review, the Chairman may decide to meet 
with the Board as a whole and with each director individually to 
discuss the effectiveness of the Board and each of the committees. 

Such reviews may also be conducted by an external consultant. 
Where an independent external consultant has been engaged to 
assist with the review, the Board will consider the results of the review 
and, where desirable, take steps to implement any recommendations 
for improving Board performance. 

A comprehensive process for the evaluation of the performance 
of senior executives is conducted on an annual basis. The results 
of these reviews are used by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee in determining future remuneration. 

PRinCiPle 3 – PRomote ethiCal  
and ReSPonSiBle deCiSion-making
Code of conduct and ethics
Qube is committed to conducting its business in accordance with 
the highest standards of ethical behaviour. All directors, managers 
and employees are expected to act with integrity and objectivity, 
striving at all times to enhance the reputation and performance of 
Qube. Accordingly, Qube has established policies in order to maintain 
confidence in Qube’s integrity and encourage compliance with both 
legal obligations and stakeholder expectations. 

Qube’s code of conduct and ethics sets out obligations in relation 
to Qube’s fair dealing, insider trading, equal opportunity, privacy 
and confidentiality, health and safety, the environment, gifts and 
favours, conflicts of interest, expenses and claims, and use of 
company property. 

The code is also available on Qube’s website.

Not withstanding the above policy, employees are encouraged to 
report unacceptable behaviour to their nominated supervisors or the 
Company Secretary in the first instance.

Qube recognises the value of attracting and retaining employees 
with different knowledge, abilities and experiences and is committed 
to creating a working environment that is fair and flexible, promotes 
personal and professional growth, and benefits from the capabilities  
of its diverse workforce.

Diversity
Qube believes that a talented and diverse workforce is a key driver of 
competitiveness and Qube’s success is a reflection of the quality and 
skills of its people. Qube is committed to providing equal employment 
opportunities and fostering an environment which attracts, welcomes 
and retains a diverse and talented workforce, and to treating people 
equitably with respect, dignity and fairness.

Diversity recognises and values the contribution of people with 
differences in capabilities, experience and perspectives.



14 QUBE
ANNUALREPORT2012

Diversity encompasses gender, age, ethnicity, religious, and 
cultural backgrounds.

Qube is committed to:

•	 attracting and retaining well-qualified employees, senior 
management and Board members from a deep talent pool;

•	 eliminating artificial, unfair and inappropriate barriers to workplace 
and Board participation and facilitating equal employment 
opportunities based on merit, performance and potential; 

•	 taking action against inappropriate workplace behaviours including 
discrimination and harassment;

•	 providing the opportunity for workplace flexibility when meeting 
business requirements; and

•	 creating an inclusive workplace culture, recognising that people 
are different and valuing those differences.

Qube policy also requires that all positions at Qube are filled on the 
basis of merit. This means that applicants for positions for which a 
formal recruitment process is undertaken will be assessed on the 
basis of the competencies they possess in relation to the requirements 
of the job. Merit-based selection ensures the opportunity exists for 
all applicants to demonstrate their competencies for the position 
being offered. 

As such, Qube’s diversity policy does not include a requirement on 
the Board to establish measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity or to assess any such objectives or progress towards 
achieving them. The proportion of women employees throughout 
the Qube Group is approximately 15.1%. The proportion of women 
employees in senior executive positions is approximately 6.5%. 
There are no women on the Board.

Conflicts of interest
All directors are required to disclose any actual or potential conflict 
of interest at the time of their appointment and are required to keep 
these disclosures up to date.

Directors who have a conflict of interest in relation to a particular 
item of business being considered by the Board must absent 
themselves from the Board meeting before commencement of 
discussion on the topic.

Dealing in the company’s securities
The Board has adopted a securities dealing policy which provides 
guidance to directors and employees regarding dealing in Qube 
securities. All directors, executives and employees are prohibited from 
trading in the company’s securities, related financial products and 
derivatives whenever they have price sensitive information which is 
not generally available. 

The company also provides informal briefing sessions on the policy for 
directors, senior executives and relevant employees of the company 
as part of its continuing employee education initiatives. A copy of the 
policy is available on Qube’s website.

PRinCiPle 4 – SafeguaRd integRity  
in finanCial RePoRting
The Board has an Audit and Risk Management Committee whose 
terms of reference and procedures govern its responsibilities and 
composition requirements.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee assists the Board in 
fulfilling its statutory responsibilities in relation to financial reporting, 
risk management and internal control. The committee’s responsibilities 
have been outlined under Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add 

value. The Recommendation that a majority of members of the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee be independent and be chaired  
by an independent director was satisfied from September 2012.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also monitors procedures 
to ensure the rotation of external audit engagement partners every 
five years as required by the Corporations Act. If circumstances arise 
where it becomes necessary to replace the external auditor, the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee will formalise a process for the 
selection and appointment of a new auditor and recommend to the 
Board the external auditor to be appointed to fill the vacancy. Policies 
are also in place to restrict the type of non-audit services which can 
be provided by the external auditor and there is a detailed review of 
non-audit fees paid to the external auditor.

The company’s external auditor is PwC. All Audit and Risk 
Management Committee papers are available to the external auditor, 
and they are invited to attend all committee meetings and are available 
to committee members at any time. The external auditor also attends 
the AGM to answer any questions from shareholders.

As the company’s external auditor, PwC is required to confirm 
its independence and compliance with specified independence 
standards on a half-yearly basis. This declaration is contained in 
this Annual Report.

PRinCiPle 5 – make timely and BalanCed diSCloSuRe
Qube is committed to providing timely, open and accurate information 
to all of its stakeholders including shareholders, employees, regulators 
and the investment community. 

The Board has adopted a disclosure policy that sets out the 
company’s approach to continuous disclosure and to external 
announcements generally. The policy provides an outline of the 
company’s continuous disclosure obligations and sets out the 
measures it has implemented to ensure compliance with these 
obligations, including listing the kind of matters that would generally 
require disclosure. 

The policy also provides guidelines for the management 
of external announcements and specifies the company’s 
authorised spokespeople.

A copy of the Continuous Disclosure Policy is available on Qube’s website.

In accordance with the policy, senior executives that become aware of 
potentially price-sensitive information must immediately report this to 
the company’s disclosure officers, being either the Managing Director 
or Company Secretary. 

Although the Board has ultimate responsibility for ensuring that 
the company complies with its continuous disclosure obligations, 
the Board has delegated to the company’s disclosure officers 
responsibility for overseeing compliance with the company’s 
continuous disclosure policy. 

The Board reviews the continuous disclosure policy at appropriate 
times to ensure it is effective and remains consistent with relevant laws 
and ASX requirements.

PRinCiPle 6 – ReSPeCt the RightS  
of ShaReholdeRS
Qube is committed to the delivery of timely and relevant information 
to its shareholders and to the broader investment community. 
Shareholders are provided with access to on line half-yearly and 
annual reports and have the option of receiving hard copies of these 
documents if required. 

CoRPoRate goveRnanCe Statement (Cont.)



The website also provides a broad range of information about Qube 
and is updated regularly. All Qube announcements are available 
on the website. 

The Board encourages full participation by shareholders at the 
AGM to ensure accountability and transparency. The external 
auditor will attend the AGM to answer shareholder queries about 
the Auditor’s Report.

PRinCiPle 7 – ReCogniSe and manage RiSk
Oversight and management of material business risks
The Board is responsible for the oversight of Qube’s risk management 
and control framework. The Audit and Risk Management Committee 
and Safety, Health and Environment Committee assist the Board in 
fulfilling its responsibilities in this regard by reviewing and monitoring 
the financial and reporting aspects of Qube’s risk management and 
control framework. A copy of the Risk Management Policy is available 
on Qube’s website.

As required by the Board, management has implemented a policy 
framework designed to ensure that Qube’s material business risks 
are identified and that adequate controls are in place and function 
effectively, and for management to report to the Board on whether 
those risks are managed effectively. This framework incorporates the 
maintenance of comprehensive policies, procedures and guidelines 
which span Qube’s diverse activities, including setting financial 
controls, conducting business audits, investment and acquisition 
overview, and ensuring high standards in corporate communications 
and external affairs.

Responsibility for control and risk management is delegated to the 
appropriate level of management within Qube with the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee and Safety, Health and Environment 
Committee having ultimate accountability to the Board for the risk 
management and control framework. 

Risk management and internal control system
The risk management framework incorporates input from a range 
of existing systems, programs and policies including: 

•	 a comprehensive occupational health and safety program, 
including specific targets for continuous improvement, 
occupational health and safety standards, rail safety standards 
and safety management systems, all of which are monitored 
and reviewed to achieve compliance with applicable legislation 
and regulations;

•	 a delegation of authority policy, including guidelines and approval 
limits for operational and capital expenditure and investments; 

•	 a comprehensive annual insurance program; 

•	 a Board-approved finance policy;

•	 annual budgeting and monthly reporting systems for all divisions 
to monitor performance against budget targets; 

•	 the identification and assessment of strategic risks in the annual 
review and updating of strategic plans and associated business 
models; and 

•	 an environmental regulation compliance policy and 
improvement strategies. 

Management assurance
In accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 and 
recommendation 7.3 of the ASX Principles, the Managing Director and 
the Chief Financial Officer provided assurances to the Board attesting 
that to the best of their knowledge and belief: 

•	 Qube has determined the material business risks it faces and 
has established the necessary policies for the oversight and 
management of material business risks; 

•	 there is a risk management and internal control system in place 
to manage Qube’s material business risks, including both financial 
and non-financial risks, and to ensure that those risks are being 
managed effectively; 

•	 the integrity of the financial statements is founded on a sound 
system of risk management and internal control and compliance; 
and 

•	 Qube’s risk management and internal control and compliance 
system is operating efficiently and effectively in all material 
respects regarding financial reporting risks. 

The Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer require that 
management of the business divisions and of the corporate function 
complete a declaration on a six monthly basis for each financial 
reporting period addressing financial reporting and the internal 
control environment. 

The assurances provided to the Board, due to their nature, are not 
absolute. The assurances provided are based on judgements, use 
of sample testing and the inherent limitations of internal control.

PRinCiPle 8 – RemuneRate faiRly and ReSPonSiBly
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee reviews and makes 
recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages and 
policies applicable to the Managing Director, non-executive directors 
and, where appropriate, senior executives.

The committee may also review and make recommendations 
regarding the policies applicable to staff salary reviews generally. 
One of the requirements of the committee is to ensure remuneration 
levels are competitively set in order to attract and retain appropriately 
qualified and experienced directors and senior executives.

The duties of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee have 
been outlined under Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add value.

Qube’s approach to non-executive director, Managing Director and 
senior executive remuneration is set out in the Remuneration Report. 

Qube’s remuneration framework is designed to support the strategies, 
objectives and future direction of the business by attracting and 
retaining high calibre individuals. The level and mix of remuneration of 
non-executive directors and other senior executives is determined by 
reference to the market via survey data and may include input from 
external professional remuneration consultants.

The remuneration framework clearly distinguishes the remuneration 
structure for non-executive directors from that of the Managing 
Director and other senior executives and Qube does not have any 
schemes or retirement benefits (other than superannuation) in place 
for its non-executive directors. 

Qube has established an executive long-term incentive plan under 
which participating executives are provided with non-recourse interest 
bearing loans to buy shares in Qube that vest in tranches depending 
on achievement of certain key performance indicators. 

Qube’s securities dealing policy includes a prohibition on entering 
into transactions in financial products which limit the economic risk of 
holding unvested entitlements under any equity-based remuneration 
schemes. A copy of the policy is available on Qube’s website.

15QuBe
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diReCtoRS’ RePoRt
30 JUNE 2012

Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as ‘the Group’) consisting of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited 
and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2012.

diReCtoRS
The following persons were directors of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report:

Chris Corrigan Non-executive chairman appointed 23 March 2011

Sam Kaplan Non-executive deputy chairman appointed 23 March 2011

Maurice James Managing Director appointed 23 March 2011

Ross Burney Non-executive director appointed 9 September 2011

Allan Davies Non-executive director appointed 26 August 2011

Peter Dexter Non-executive director appointed 1 September 2011

Robert Dove Non-executive director appointed 26 August 2011

Yutaka Nakagawa Non-executive director appointed 1 September 2011

Aage Holm Alternate to Peter Dexter appointed 7 November 2011

Alan Miles Alternate to Yutaka Nakagawa appointed 7 November 2011

Simon Moore Alternate to Robert Dove appointed 7 November 2011

PRinCiPal aCtivitieS
During the year the principal continuing activities of the Group consisted of providing comprehensive logistics solutions across multiple aspects 
of the import-export supply chain.

In addition, the Group is also involved in the management and development of strategic properties with future development potential into inland 
rail terminals and related logistics facilities.

dividendS/diStRiButionS PRovided oR Paid By the ComPany duRing the finanCial yeaR:

Cents 
per share

Total 
$M

Franked/
unfranked

Payment
date

Ordinary Shares
2012

2011 Final dividend 1.9 15.2 Franked 31/10/2011

2012 Interim dividend 2.0 17.5 Franked 4/4/2012

2011

2010 Final dividend 1.5 7.7 Franked 30/9/2010

2011 Interim dividend 1.9 9.8 Franked 31/3/2011

dividends paid or declared by the company after year end:

2012 Final dividend 2.1 19.3 franked 17/10/2012

Review of oPeRationS
Qube has continued its focus on being a leading logistics provider focussed on the import-export supply chain. Qube aims to provide 
competitive, quality services to its customers by offering comprehensive logistics solutions across multiple aspects of the supply chain.

Restructure
During the year ended 30 June 2012, Qube completed a major restructure (‘Qube Restructure’) involving three important initiatives. 

Firstly, Qube changed its structure from a trust to a company. This included appointing a Board of Directors with extensive experience and 
expertise across industries relevant to Qube’s activities including logistics, mining, shipping and infrastructure. 

Secondly, Qube internalised the management function thereby ensuring it had its own dedicated management team reporting to the Board. The 
corporate management team, led by Maurice James and management within the broader Qube group include some of the most experienced 
senior logistics executives in the country. 

Thirdly, Qube acquired additional shareholdings in certain logistics businesses that gave Qube control or increased shareholdings in these entities. 
The operational businesses are all quality businesses with attractive growth outlooks and provide a solid foundation for Qube’s continued growth. 
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These three initiatives have provided Qube with a much simpler 
corporate structure, a dedicated management team focussed on 
continuing to build Qube’s logistics capabilities and value, and 
increased control over strategic logistics businesses. As a result, Qube 
is well placed to continue its growth both organically and through 
selective acquisitions. 

There were a number of non-recurring costs that were associated 
with these initiatives that had a significant impact on Qube’s statutory 
result for the period. Additionally, as a result of these initiatives, the 
accounting treatment for Qube changed during the period from a 
managed investment scheme, fair valuing its investments in associate 
entities and taking the gain or loss through the income statement, 
to that of a corporate entity that equity accounts its share of the 
associates’ profit after tax and reserves. As a result of these factors, 
the statutory results for the year ended 20 June 2012 are not 
comparable to the reported results for the year ended 30 June 2011, 
nor in the directors’ opinion do the results provide a reflection of the 
underlying profitability of Qube and its businesses over this period.

Building on foundations for growth
During the period, Qube continued to enhance its capabilities across 
the logistics supply chain through several acquisitions and capital 
expenditure that expanded both the geographic reach and range  
of services that can be offered by Qube.

The acquisition of Mackenzie Intermodal in July 2011 provided the 
Logistics division with increased scale and rail capabilities for its South 
Australian operations.

In March 2012, Qube completed the acquisition of Giacci Holdings Pty 
Limited, a major logistics provider to the bulk sector. The acquisition 
has enabled Qube to provide a complete mine-to-ship logistics solution 
covering transport, stockpile management and stevedoring. This 
expanded range of services has already enabled Qube to secure a major 
contract and has positioned the business for continued long-term growth.

In March 2012, Qube secured its long-term tenure on a major site 
located within Australia’s busiest container port precinct through 
the acquisition of assets and assignment of leases at victoria Dock 
in Melbourne. Qube will spend around $15 million over the next 
12–18 months to develop this site into a major logistics and stevedoring 
facility comprising rail, hardstand and on-site warehousing.

In May 2012, Qube announced that its associate, Prixcar Services 
Pty Limited had agreed to acquire a vehicle distribution business. This 
acquisition, which was completed in July 2012, provides Prixcar with 
the ability to offer its customers a fully integrated end-to-end supply 
chain management service.

In June 2012, Qube completed the acquisition of an additional 36.7% 
interest in the Moorebank Industrial Property Trust, increasing Qube’s 
interest in this strategic property to 66.7%. Qube is continuing to 
progress the necessary planning approvals for the future development 
of this property into a major logistics hub to service the expected 
future growth in container volumes in Sydney.

In June 2012, Qube also announced that it would expand its logistics 
capabilities for the rural commodities sector and acquire an additional 
intermodal terminal facility through the acquisition of Macarthur 
Intermodal Shipping Terminal (trading as ITG). On 22 August 2012 
Qube completed this acquisition.

These transactions are complementary to Qube’s existing operations 
and collectively provide solid foundations for continued revenue and 
earnings growth over the medium to long-term.

During the period, Qube undertook significant capital expenditure 
on new equipment including locomotives, wagons, containers and 
vehicles to ensure it had the capacity to deliver an efficient, reliable 
service for its customers.

Strong financial performance
Qube delivered strong financial results in the period with underlying 
revenue and earnings increasing in all divisions. 

Logistics Division
The Logistics division reported record revenue reflecting organic 
growth and the benefits of the recent acquisitions. These results were 
achieved despite a difficult retail environment that impacted some 
of Qube’s customers and put pressure on volumes and margins for 
logistics services to the retail sector. 

Management has focussed on offering customers a comprehensive 
logistics solution covering a broad range of services including road 
and rail transport, customs and quarantine clearance, warehousing, 
international freight forwarding and empty container storage.

The division has continued to invest in new rail locomotives 
and wagons with 8 new locomotives and around 100 wagons 
commissioned during the period and in service at the end of the 
period. Qube is now a major rail provider for movement of freight to 
and from ports, particularly for the rural sector. 

The transactions completed during the year have reinforced Qube’s 
position as one of the leading national providers of containerised 
logistics solutions for the import-export sector.

Ports & Bulk Division
The Ports & Bulk division also delivered record results in the period 
and substantially improved operating margins over the prior year 
largely due to the contribution from capital investment made in 
previous periods.

The ports activities benefitted from strong vehicle imports and sales 
which contributed to stevedoring, facilities access, storage and 
processing revenue. This was particularly evident in the second half 
of the year following recovery in vehicle production volumes overseas 
after severe weather events had disrupted production. Project and 
general cargo volumes also contributed to the result, reflecting the 
significant infrastructure investment being undertaken in Queensland 
and Western Australia.

Revenue and earnings from bulk activities grew as Utah Point 
delivered a full year’s contribution and Qube’s other bulk activities 
benefitted from strong commodity demand for most of the period. 
The acquisition of Giacci Holdings in March increased the capabilities 
of Qube to offer mine-to-ship logistics solutions and also diversified 
the customer base and commodity exposure of the Group.

The results for the division were particularly pleasing as the businesses 
had to manage a difficult industrial relations environment and several 
major climatic events that impacted operations during the period. 

Strategic Assets
The Strategic Assets division continued to generate stable income 
during the period from the existing tenants. The highlight during the 
period was the transaction in June 2012 whereby Qube increased 
its ownership in the Moorebank property to 66.7% and took over 
responsibility for the management of the development.

Moorebank has been confirmed as the hub for major logistics activities 
in Sydney. Qube’s Moorebank property and other related logistics 
operations are therefore ideally positioned to benefit from future 
development of the precinct. 

Qube is continuing to actively engage with key stakeholders to gain 
the necessary approvals to progress the development of an inland 
terminal and related logistics activities on its site at Moorebank. 
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Funding
Qube substantially increased its funding capacity during the period. 

In August 2011, Qube refinanced its investment in Minto Properties through a new $25.05 million term debt facility.

In December 2011, Qube raised approximately $85 million through a placement to provide it with the financial capacity to fund its growth. 
This placement was oversubscribed with strong demand from existing and new shareholders.

In May 2012, Qube finalised a new four year $550 million syndicated debt facility that refinanced the existing term debt within Qube and the two 
operating divisions and provided additional funding capacity. 

These initiatives have provided Qube with cash and undrawn debt facilities to fund Qube’s continued growth.

The table below provides a reconciliation of the net profit before tax of Qube to the Pro-forma Proportionate EBITDA removing the cost impact 
of the restructure and other major non-cash, non-operating and non-recurring expenses on the results for the year ended 30 June 2012.

FY12 
$’000

FY11
$’000

Revenue from external customers 781,975 278,664

Pro-forma adjustments 54,753 342,956

Pro-forma revenue 836,728 621,620

Proportional share of associates revenue 105,971 80,527

Pro-forma Proportional Revenue 942,699 702,147

net profit/(loss) before income tax (1,795) 71,351

Share of profit of associates (13,235) –

Interest income (4,842) (4,853)

Interest expense 16,613 6,015

Depreciation & amortisation 36,215 7,396

eBitda 32,956 79,909

Fair value of derivatives 2,812 –

Fair value adjustments (net) 255 (67,599)

Non-recurring Qube restructure items (excluding stamp duty) 42,757 –

Legacy share-based payments 8,613 –

Refinance costs 7,419 –

Stamp duty 10,307 –

adjusted eBitda 105,119 12,310

Pro-forma adjustments 7,581 57,411

Pro-forma eBitda 112,700 69,721

Proportional share of Associates EBITDA 33,033 27,850

Pro-forma Proportional eBitda 145,733 97,571

The table above has been extracted from note 3 of the financial statements but is un-audited.
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PRo-foRma adjuStmentS
The Pro-forma adjustments are intended to demonstrate the 
underlying result for Qube as if the Qube Restructure had been 
completed on 30 June 2011.

Pro-forma Revenue is revenue from external customers adjusted to:

•	 exclude distributions received from Moorebank Industrial Property 
Trust (MIPT) for the 2 months it was under Qube’s previous trust 
structure; and

•	 include the revenues of Qube Ports & Bulk and Minto Properties 
for the 2 month period prior to the Qube Restructure.

Pro-forma Proportional Revenue is Pro-forma Revenue adjusted  
to include the 12 month proportional revenue contribution from Qube’s 
associates and MIPT.

eBitda is statutory net profit before tax adjusted to remove 
share of profit of associates, net finance costs and depreciation 
and amortisation.

adjusted eBitda is EBITDA adjusted to remove the impact of the 
non-recurring costs associated with the Qube Restructure and Qube’s 
previous trust structure, non-cash items such as unrealised gains 
and losses and non-operating expenses such as refinance costs 
and stamp duty.

Pro-forma eBitda is Adjusted EBITDA amended to:

•	 exclude distributions received from MIPT for the 2 months it was 
under Qube’s previous trust structure; and

•	 include the EBITDA of Qube Ports & Bulk and Minto Properties 
for the 2 month period prior to the Qube Restructure.

Pro-forma Proportional eBitda is Pro-forma EBITDA adjusted  
to include the 12 month proportional EBITDA contribution from  
Qube’s associates and MIPT.

matteRS SuBSeQuent to the end of the 
finanCial yeaR
Except for the new acquisitions and investments discussed above,  
no other matter or circumstance has arisen since the end of the 
financial year that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect:

(a) the Group’s operations in future financial years; or

(b) the results of those operations in future financial years; or

(c) the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

likely develoPmentS and exPeCted ReSultS 
of oPeRationS
Subject to no material deterioration in economic conditions and the 
industrial relations environment, Qube is well positioned to continue  
to grow revenue and earnings in 2013, albeit the growth rate is likely 
to be lower than achieved in 2012.

The Group will continue to pursue its policy of developing strategic 
businesses that can deliver sustainable increase in earnings over the 
medium to long-term.

enviRonmental Regulation
The Group is subject to various state and federal environmental 
regulations in Australia.

The directors are not aware of any material non-compliance with 
environmental regulations pertaining to the operations or activities 
during the period covered by this report. 

All Qube businesses continue to operate an integrated Environment, 
Health and Safety Management System ensuring that non-compliance 
risks and opportunities for environmental improvement are identified, 
managed and reported accordingly.
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infoRmation on diReCtoRS 

ChRiStoPheR CoRRigan 
Chairman – Non-executive director
Experience and expertise
Mr Corrigan is the chairman of Qube and has been involved in Qube’s 
strategic direction since its formation. 

Mr Corrigan was managing director of Patrick Corporation 
Limited, Australia’s largest stevedore company with interests in rail 
transportation and aviation through virgin Blue, from March 1990 to 
May 2006. Prior to that, Mr Corrigan had a career with Bankers Trust 
spanning 20 years, including periods as Managing Director of Bankers 
Trust in Australia and for the Asia-Pacific region.

In 1990, Mr Corrigan sponsored the formation of a development 
capital business, Jamison Equity, which in December 1996 became 
a wholly owned subsidiary of the then publicly listed company Patrick 
Corporation Limited.

Mr Corrigan was appointed as a director of Qube on 23 March 2011.

Directorships of listed companies held during the last three years
•	 Consolidated Media Holdings Limited – from 8 March 2006 

to current

•	 Crown Limited – from 6 July 2007 to current

•	 Webster Limited – from 30 November 2007 to 9 July 2010

Special responsibilities
•	 Chairman of the board

•	 Member of the Nomination & Remuneration committee

Sam kaPlan 
Deputy Chairman – Non-executive director
Experience and expertise
Mr Kaplan is managing director of Kaplan Funds Management Pty 
Limited, the investment manager of Qube from its establishment in 
2006 until the Qube Restructure in September 2011.

Mr Kaplan is an experienced board member and is currently a director 
of Prixcar Services Pty Limited and an alternate director of Maritime 
Super, Northern Stevedoring Services Pty Limited and Australian 
Amalgamated Terminals Pty Limited.

Mr Kaplan was one of the founders of Patrick Corporation and was 
involved in strategic planning with the company. During his tenure 
at Patrick Corporation, Mr Kaplan was involved in a number of 
acquisitions including Pacific National and virgin Blue.

Mr Kaplan was appointed as a director of Qube on 23 March 2011.

Directorships of listed companies held during the last three years
None

Special responsibilities
•	 Chair of Nomination & Remuneration committee

•	 Member of Audit and Risk Management committee

mauRiCe jameS 
Managing Director 
Experience and expertise
Mr James has over 30 years’ experience in engineering, ports and 
logistics industries. 

Mr James spent 12 years at Patrick Corporation during which it 
grew from a company capitalised at $200 million to being sold to 
Toll Holdings in 2006 for $6.3 billion. His last position was Executive 
Director, Ports.

Prior to Patrick, Mr James spent 15 years at the Port of 
Melbourne Corporation where his last position was Manager, 
Commercial Operations.

Mr James is a non-executive director of Coates Group 
Holdings Pty Limited.

Mr James was appointed as a director of Qube on 23 March 2011.

Directorships of listed companies held during the last three years
None

Special responsibilities
•	 Managing Director

RoSS BuRney 
Non-executive director
Experience and expertise 
Mr Burney is the chief executive of Taverners Group. He has over 
20 years’ experience as an accountant and investment manager 
previously having worked for BDO Chartered Accountants, Brierley 
Investments Limited and Guinness Peat Group. 

Mr Burney is on the board of Oncard International Limited and recently 
retired as a director of MSF Sugar Limited and Customers Limited.

Mr Burney was appointed as a director of Qube on 9 September 2011.

Directorships of listed companies held during the last three years
•	 Customers Limited – from November 2010 to 4 July 2012

•	 Oncard International Limited – from May 2010 to current

•	 MSF Sugar Limited – from February 2006 to 8 September 2011

Special responsibilities
•	 Member of Audit and Risk Management committee
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allan davieS 
Non-executive director
Experience and expertise
Mr Davies has over 35 years’ mining experience in the Australian 
and international coal and metalliferous mining industries having 
worked in operational roles up to executive director.

From 2000 until early 2006, Mr Davies also worked for Patrick 
Corporation as Director Operations. This position included 
responsibility for Patrick’s interest in Pacific National, Patrick Shipping, 
Patrick General Stevedoring and Patrick Autocare.

Mr Davies was a director of Pacific National from its initial acquisition 
by Toll and Patrick in 2001 until 2006. In addition, Mr Davies is 
currently an executive director of Whitehaven Coal Limited.

Mr Davies was appointed as a director of Qube on 26 August 2011.

Directorships of listed companies held during the last three years
•	 Executive director of Whitehaven Coal Limited  

– from 25 February 2009 to current

•	 Non-executive director of QR National Limited  
– from 19 February 2009 to 13 December 2011

Special responsibilities
•	 Chair of Safety, Health and Environment committee

PeteR dexteR am 
Non-executive director
Experience and expertise
Mr Dexter has over 40 years’ experience in the maritime and logistics 
industries in Australia and internationally. 

Mr Dexter is a non-executive director of the ASX listed Royal Wolf 
Holdings Limited, chairman of the Australian National Maritime 
Museum, chairman of SeaSwift Pty Limited and chairman/director of 
the Wilhelmsen Group companies operating in Australia. 

Prior to his non-executive roles with the Wilhelmsen Group 
companies, he served as a member of the global management team 
of Wallenius Wilhelmsen Logistics.

Mr Dexter was appointed as a director of Qube on 1 September 2011.

Directorships of listed companies held during the last three years
•	 Non-executive director of Royal Wolf Holdings Limited – from April 

2011 to current

Special responsibilities
•	 Chair of Audit and Risk Management committee

•	 Member of Safety, Health and Environment committee

RoBeRt dove 
Non-executive director
Experience and expertise
Mr Dove is a managing director with The Carlyle Group in Washington 
DC and is head of Carlyle Infrastructure Partners, a $1.2 billion 
infrastructure fund that was raised in 2007. 

Prior to joining Carlyle in 2006, Mr Dove was a senior vice president 
of Bechtel Group where he had responsibility for aspects of its project 
development and financing activities. 

Mr Dove currently sits on the boards of a number of Carlyle’s 
infrastructure investments. 

Mr Dove was appointed as a director of Qube on 26 August 2011.

Directorships of listed companies held during the last three years
None

Special responsibilities
•	 Member of Nomination & Remuneration committee

yutaka nakagawa 
Non-executive director
Experience and expertise
Mr Nakagawa has almost 30 years’ experience in the shipping 
industry. He is presently chairman of “K” Line (Australia) Pty Limited, 
managing director of Kawasaki (Australia) Pty Limited and director of 
“K” Line Auto Logistics Pty Limited.

Mr Nakagawa was appointed as a director of Qube on 1 September 2011.

Directorships of listed companies held during the last three years
None

Special responsibilities
•	 Member of Safety, Health and Environment committee

aage holm 
Alternate non-executive director
Experience and expertise
Mr Holm has extensive experience in the global automotive logistics 
and maritime industries.

Mr Holm is a vP of corporate finance, strategy and investor relations 
at Wilh. Wilhelmsen Holding ASA.

Mr Holm was also the former CFO of Wallenius Wilhelmsen Logistics 
AS and a non-executive director of Group CAT and other European 
based vehicle logistics companies.

Mr Holm was appointed as a director of Qube on 7 November 2011.

Directorships of listed companies held during the last three years
None

Special responsibilities
•	 Alternate director for Peter Dexter
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alan mileS 
Alternate non-executive director
Experience and expertise
Mr Miles is managing director of “K” Line (Australia) Pty Limited. 
Mr Miles has more than 30 years’ experience in the Australian 
shipping industry, including management roles of Bulk, Liner 
and PCC Shipping.

Mr Miles is also currently the chairman of Prixcar Services Pty Limited, 
a director of a number of Kawasaki Australia and affiliated companies 
and a member of the Policy Council of Shipping Australia.

Mr Miles was appointed as a director of Qube on 7 November 2011.

Directorships of listed companies held during the last three years
None

Special responsibilities
•	 Alternate director to Yutaka Nakagawa

Simon mooRe 
Alternate non-executive director
Experience and expertise
Mr. Moore is a managing director with The Carlyle Group based in 
Sydney, Australia.

Prior to joining The Carlyle Group, Mr. Moore was a managing director 
and Investment Committee Member of Investcorp International, Inc. 
based in New York. While at Investcorp International, Mr Moore was 
a director of CSK Auto, Inc., Aero Products International, Inc., MW 
Manufacturers, Inc. and Associated Materials Holdings. 

Prior to that, Mr Moore worked in private equity investments and 
investment banking at J.P. Morgan & Co. in New York, Hong 
Kong and Melbourne.

Mr Moore was appointed as a director of Qube on 7 November 2011.

Other current directorships
•	 Non-executive director of Coates Group Holdings Pty Limited

Directorships of listed companies held during the last three years
None

Special responsibilities
•	 Alternate director to Robert Dove

Chief finanCial offiCeR and ComPany SeCRetaRy
The Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary is Mr Paul 
Lewis. He has been involved with Qube since its establishment, 
responsible for managing the commercial and legal aspects of all of 
Qube’s investments. Prior to Qube, Mr Lewis was a senior executive 
at Patrick Corporation where he was responsible for investments 
and acquisitions.
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meetingS of diReCtoRS 
The number of meetings of the company’s board of directors and of each board committee held during the year from the completion of the 
Qube Restructure, and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:

meetings of committees

Full meetings  
of directors

Audit & Risk 
Management

Nomination & 
Remuneration

Safety, Health  
& Environment

A B A B A B A B

Chris Corrigan 5 7 ** ** 3 3 ** **

Sam Kaplan 7 7 3 3 3 3 ** **

Maurice James* 7 7 ** ** ** ** 1 1

Ross Burney 6 7 3 3 ** ** ** **

Allan Davies 7 7 ** ** ** ** 1 1

Peter Dexter 6 7 3 3 ** ** ** **

Robert Dove 6 7 ** ** 3 3 ** **

Yutaka Nakagawa 6 7 ** ** ** ** 1 1

Aage Holm 1 1 ** ** ** ** ** **

Alan Miles 1 1 ** ** ** ** ** **

Simon Moore 1 1 ** ** ** ** ** **

A = Number of meetings attended

B = Number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the committee during the year

* = Not a non-executive director

** = Not a member of the relevant committee
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RemuneRation RePoRt

1. meSSage fRom the BoaRd
The Board presents the Qube Remuneration Report for the year 
ended 30 June 2012.

The Board is committed to ensuring Qube’s remuneration framework 
is aligned with the business’s objectives and performance, and 
believes the remuneration structure adopted within this framework 
is appropriate given the market sectors in which the Group operates. 
The Board is committed to clear and transparent disclosure of 
Qube’s remuneration arrangements. 

This remuneration structure is designed to attract and retain 
employees with the skills and experience required to deliver 
the Group’s strategy. It is also designed to deliver appropriate 
performance-based rewards to executives.

Each year, the Board reviews and considers enhancements to 
the remuneration framework to ensure it remains appropriate. 

As outlined in the following pages, the Board has implemented 
changes to the short-term incentive and long-term incentive 
measures for the Managing Director and other key management 
personnel of the Group.

The report also illustrates how Qube’s performance for the 2012 
financial year has resulted in the reported remuneration outcomes 
and outlines the changes Qube has made to its remuneration 
structure going forward to ensure it is fully aligned to the objectives 
set by the Board.

The 2012 Financial Year
As noted in the Directors Report, the 2012 financial year was a year of 
transition for Qube where the company moved from being a managed 
investment scheme, operated through a trust structure, to a logistics 
business operating through a corporatised entity. These changes 
included the termination of the external management agreement and 
the appointment of a Board and head office management team.

Pursuant to these changes Qube has been transitioning the 
existing remuneration arrangements to a standardised structure 
throughout the Group. This has included replacing option schemes 
that had existed within Qube’s subsidiaries with other schemes 
aimed at driving long-term growth in Qube. Notwithstanding the 
standardisation process being undertaken, Qube still has one legacy 
long-term incentive remuneration arrangement which remains in 
place until December 2014.
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2. RemuneRation SummaRy
This remuneration report sets out remuneration information for Qube’s non-executive directors, executive directors, and other key management 
personnel of the Group.

Directors and executives disclosed in this report

Name Position

non-executive directors

Chris Corrigan Chairman, Non-executive director

Sam Kaplan Deputy Chairman, Non-executive director

Ross Burney Non-executive director 

Allan Davies Non-executive director

Peter Dexter Non-executive director

Robert Dove Non-executive director

Yutaka Nakagawa Non-executive director

Aage Holm Alternate director for Peter Dexter

Alan Miles Alternate director for Yutaka Nakagawa

Simon Moore Alternate director for Robert Dove 

executive directors

Maurice James Managing Director

other key management personnel

Paul Lewis Qube CFO and company secretary 

Don Smithwick MD Ports & Bulk division

Paul Digney MD Logistics division

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of executive remuneration
The current executive remuneration framework provides Qube with simple and transparent remuneration practices which have regard to growth 
and performance ambitions as well as recognising the importance of Qube’s people. 

Qube’s philosophy towards remuneration is based on a fixed component that is intended to be consistent with the lower end of comparable 
executive pay levels and a performance based component that increases the overall remuneration towards the upper end if the relevant 
performance hurdles are achieved. This is intended to align executive remuneration with long-term value creation for Qube shareholders.

For the year ended 30 June 2012 the executive remuneration framework consists of total fixed remuneration, cash short-term incentives and 
deferred long-term incentives. The mix between these three components for particular roles varies and is determined by the Nomination & 
Remuneration committee.
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Objective Performance condition

Fixed remuneration Reflects the market value of the role and 
the incumbent’s skills, experience and 
performance, having regard to Qube’s 
philosophy outlined above.

Reviewed annually following individual 
performance review and internal peer relativity.

Short-term incentive (‘STI’) – at risk Incentive for the achievement of financial 
and non-financial objectives for the year.

Executives participate in a formal STI plan which 
assesses performance against pre-determined 
KPI’s over the financial year. The STI is in the 
form of a cash payment which is based on pre-
determined financial and non-financial targets.

The financial and non-financial measures 
against which the STI is assessed are set at 
the beginning of each year. They are based 
on scorecard measures approved by the 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee.

Long-term incentive (‘LTI’) – at risk Incentive for long-term shareholder 
value creation and assists in retention 
of key executives.

For the year ended 30 June 2012, an Executive 
Long-Term Incentive Plan (ELTIP) was 
introduced. The eligible participants are subject 
to conditions imposed which may vary from 
offer to offer, relating to financial performance 
(e.g. annual shareholder return (‘ASR’) and 
earnings per share (‘EPS’) growth targets) and 
continued engagement with Qube.

With the focus of the executive remuneration 
framework to create a standardised structure 
across the Group, legacy arrangements within 
Qubes’ subsidiaries such as the Shadow 
Equity and Equity Growth Bonus Plan are being 
phased out or terminated.

(See LTI section for more information).

3. goveRnanCe
Role of the Nomination & Remuneration committee (‘N&RC’)
The objective of the N&RC is to assist the Board in fulfilling its corporate governance responsibilities in regard to remuneration matters, including: 

•	 the remuneration framework for non-executive directors; 

•	 the remuneration framework, including any proposed equity incentive awards for the Managing Director, any other executive directors and 
all executives that report directly to the Managing Director (Senior Executives); 

•	 recommendations and decisions (as relevant) on remuneration including incentive awards for the Managing Director and other Senior 
Executives; and 

•	 strategic human resources policies.

The committee may appoint independent expert external advisers to assist it in performing its duties. The Corporate Governance Statement 
provides further information on the role of this committee.
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4. exeCutive RemuneRation fRamewoRk
The framework provides a mix of fixed and variable pay, and a blend of short and long-term incentives. As executives gain seniority with the 
Group, the balance of this mix shifts to a higher proportion of ‘’at risk’’ rewards.

The executive pay and reward framework has three components:

•	 fixed remuneration comprising base pay and benefits, including superannuation

•	 short-term performance incentives, and

•	 long-term incentives through participation in the Qube ELTIP.

The combination of these comprises an executive’s total remuneration and is set out below. 

Remuneration mix
The relative proportions of remuneration (excluding legacy long-term incentive schemes) that are linked to performance and those that are fixed 
are as follows: 

Name
Fixed

remuneration
At risk
– STI

At risk 
– LTI 

executive directors of Qube logistics holdings limited

Maurice James 48% 24% 28%

other key management personnel of the group

Paul Lewis 56% 28% 16%

Don Smithwick  62% 31% 7%

Paul Digney 60% 30% 10%

Fixed remuneration
Structured as a total employment cost package which may be delivered as a combination of cash and prescribed non-financial benefits at the 
executives’ discretion.

Executives are offered a base pay that comprises the fixed component of pay as well as contributions to superannuation plans. Base pay for 
executives is reviewed annually to ensure the executive’s pay is competitive to comparable positions, having regard to Qube’s remuneration 
philosophy outlined above. 

Short-term incentives
If pre-determined annual financial (generally an EBIT measure) and non-financial targets set by the N&RC are met, short-term incentives are 
available to executives and other eligible participants. Cash incentives (bonuses) for senior executives are payable following the finalisation of 
audited annual results. Using a profit target ensures that the variable reward is only paid when value has been created for shareholders and 
when profit is consistent with the business plan. 

Each eligible executive has a target short-term incentive opportunity depending on the accountabilities of the role and impact of their role on 
the organisation or business unit performance. The maximum target short-term incentive payable for the last financial year is 50% of fixed 
remuneration, unless otherwise determined by the N&RC.

Each year, the N&RC considers the appropriate targets and key performance indicators (KPIs) to link the STI plan and the level of pay out if 
targets are met. This includes setting any maximum pay out under the short-term incentive plan, and minimum levels of performance to trigger 
payment of short-term incentives.

The N&RC is responsible for assessing whether the KPIs are met. To help make this assessment, the committee receives reports on 
performance from management.

The N&RC has the discretion to adjust short-term incentives in light of unexpected or unintended circumstances. The short-term incentive target 
payment is reviewed annually.
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managing director: other key management Personnel:

KPI Weighting Measure KPI Weighting Measure

Financial Performance 50% Adjusted EBIT is a key 
metric used to assess 
operating performance

Financial Performance 23% Adjusted EBIT is a key metric 
used to assess operation 
performance

Strategic 15% Operational targets such 
as successful management 
of projects

Divisional Targets 27% Delivery against defined 
business unit objectives

Growth 15% Secured work in key 
business areas

Growth 20% Successful completion of 
acquisitions and projects

People and Safety 10% Employee engagement and 
delivery against defined 
safety objectives

Safety 13% Delivery of improved safety 
performance against 
defined targets

Investor Relations 10% Successful management 
of investors and board

Capital 7% Utilisation and management 
of capital to meet growth 
demands

Other 7% Delivering inter-divisional 
operational synergies and 
business development 
opportunities

Investor Relations 3% Successful management 
of investors and board

The N&RC believes the above performance measures appropriately reflect Qube’s current strategic priorities and value creating activities. 

In determining performance measures for short-term incentives, the N&RC ensures an appropriate mix of financial and non-financial targets 
and provides executives with a clear indication of the expected outcomes and priorities upon which their resources should be focussed. 

The Board considers the financial performance measures to be appropriate as they are aligned with Qube’s objective of delivering a sustainable 
growth in earnings over the medium to long-term, which flows through to improved shareholder returns. 

The non-financial measures encourage executives to act in alignment with Qube’s corporate philosophy – including Qube’s continued focus  
on providing a safe workplace for its employees.

Long-term incentives
Under the ELTIP participating executives are provided with non-recourse interest bearing loans to enable them to acquire new fully paid 
ordinary shares in Qube. The shares, known as ‘Plan Shares’ vest progressively over a three year period subject to the achievement of service 
and performance conditions determined by the Board. These conditions relate to the achievement of earnings per share growth targets 
and shareholder return targets to ensure alignment between the LTI targets and delivering value for Qube’s shareholders. The loan bears 
interest in an amount equal to the dividend paid on Plan Shares acquired with that loan, excluding any dividend characterised as a special 
dividend by the Board. 

Qube intends to issue up to a maximum of 5% of the issued capital of Qube under the ELTIP. Shares issued under the ELTIP are, except as set 
out below, issued on the same terms as, and rank equally with, other shares.

The Board may alter the terms of the ELTIP or their application in accordance with the Listing Rules and otherwise in accordance with the ELTIP.
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The key terms and conditions of the ELTIP are described below:

Participation Only those executives invited by the Board to apply are eligible to participate.

instrument Plan Shares (ordinary shares with vesting subject to performance conditions)

issue price The issue price for Plan Shares acquired is the volume weighted average price (vWAP) at which shares trade 
on ASX over the 20 trading days prior to the date of issue of the shares.

Performance period 5 years and 3 months after making the loan and any earlier date set by the Board at the time of offer of the 
Plan Shares

Shareholder approval Shareholders approved the ELTIP at Qube’s 2011 AGM. Issues of Plan Shares under the ELTIP to the Managing 
Director must be approved by shareholders.

Performance conditions The performance conditions imposed may vary from offer to offer, but generally relate to financial performance 
and continued engagement with Qube. Presently, the financial performance criteria are based on improvements 
in the profitability of the company as measured by a combination of compound annual shareholder return and 
earnings per share growth. The Board may also determine to impose length of service conditions in order to 
maximise the long-term incentive benefit of the ELTIP.

method for assessing 
performance

vesting of the Plan Shares is typically subject to Qube achieving performance conditions set by the Board linked 
to shareholder return: For the ELTIP as at the date of this report the performance hurdles comprise:
(a)  a compound annual shareholder return (ASR), including share price growth and dividends (presently set at 10%),
(b) a compound annual increase in the underlying earnings per share (presently set at 11%)

vesting criteria The Plan Shares vest in 3 tranches. Once vested, the Plan Shares may be traded subject only to the repayment 
of the loan referrable to those Plan Shares and Qube’s Securities Trading Policy.

lapsing and forfeiture Plan Shares will be forfeited, or sold by the company to repay the loan if performance hurdles are not achieved, 
or the executive is no longer employed by Qube.

dividends A participant in the ELTIP is entitled to receive any dividend or distribution paid in respect of Plan Shares.

Rights and bonus issues Participants in the ELTIP own the Plan Shares in their own right and are entitled to participate in any rights or 
bonus issue undertaken by Qube. Qube may, in its absolute discretion, provide a loan sufficient to meet the 
subscription price for a participant’s entitlement to new shares on terms agreed between Qube and the participant 
at the time. Any Plan Shares issued under a bonus or rights issue will not be subject to any trading restrictions.

holding lock Qube has a holding lock on Plan Shares until they become vested and the related loan and any outstanding 
interest have been paid. Plan Shares subject to a holding lock are unable to be traded.

expiry date The loan for any Plan Share must be repaid on the earlier of:
(a) the date 3 months after the Plan Share vests (subject to extension for up to 2 years)
(b) the date 3 months following the termination of engagement of the executive
(c) the date 5 business days after the Plan Share is sold
(d) the date 5 years and 3 months after making the loan, and
(e) any earlier date set by the Board at the time of offer of the Plan Shares. 

The loan is a limited recourse loan with the amount to be repaid limited to the lesser of the principal advanced 
and the price realised on sale of the Plan Share.



30 QUBE
ANNUALREPORT2012

diReCtoRS’ RePoRt (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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Legacy arrangements
Prior to the completion of the Qube Restructure, Qube’s two main 
operating businesses operated as separate companies with different 
shareholding structures and management teams. Accordingly, the 
long-term incentive arrangements for management of each company 
were based around the respective company’s performance. 

Following the completion of the Qube Restructure, and in order for the 
Group to achieve a consistent approach to executive remuneration, 
the N&RC has decided to phase out legacy long-term incentive 
arrangements in favour of the ELTIP in order to align all management 
interests with those of Qube rather than the individual divisions. 
However, there were two legacy long-term incentive schemes that 
were in operation during the 2012 financial year. 

These legacy schemes comprise the Shadow Equity Plan, which will 
remain in place until December 2014, and the Equity Growth Bonus 
Plan which has now been terminated. 

The key terms and conditions relating to each scheme are set 
out below:

Shadow Equity Plan
This scheme was offered to certain senior executives of Qube’s 
Logistics and Ports & Bulk divisions to encourage retention of 
senior employees and focus on growth in the value of Qube. The 
scheme replaced the existing options schemes in each division 
when they operated as independent private companies with different 
corporate structures.

Under the terms of the scheme, executives have been granted 
an economic interest in a total of 3,081,470 Qube shares which 
was equal to the estimated value of the option scheme that was 
terminated. Subject to achieving the vesting hurdle outlined below, 
they will be paid a cash bonus in January 2015 equal to the value of 
those Qube shares at the time (adjusted for items including dividends 
paid (disregarding franking credits), pro-rata entitlement issues, 
share splits and similar transactions) from the commencement of 
the scheme to the payment date.

Essentially, the cash bonus should be approximately equivalent to  
the value that would have accrued to that employee had they owned 
the Qube shares for the three year period, less applicable tax.

The only vesting hurdle is that the recipient must continue to be 
employed by the respective business on 31 December 2014 and 
the relevant employer has not become entitled to terminate the 
recipient’s employment due to adverse circumstances including 
serious misconduct.

Equity Growth Bonus Plan
Under the terms of this scheme, eligible senior executives were 
entitled to a cash bonus if the equity value of Qube Logistics or Qube 
Ports & Bulk (as applicable) exceeded a valuation hurdle on or prior  
to 31 December 2014. 

For each business, the cash bonus was calculated based on 2% 
of the expected increase in the equity value from a base valuation 
at the time the relevant scheme was approved to the relevant 
hurdle valuation. 

To trigger the hurdle, the equity valuation on or prior to 31 December 
2014 adjusted for new capital contributed since 30 June 2011, would 
have to increase by approximately $280 million in respect of Qube 
Logistics and in the case of Qube Ports & Bulk by $140 million from 
the date the relevant scheme was approved. Based on the valuation  
of each business as at June 2012, it was considered likely that 
relevant hurdles would be achieved prior to 31 December 2014.

Therefore, given the high probability of the incentive being payable 
in the future and to ensure that all senior executives were aligned 
to Qube’s long-term growth rather than divisionally focused, it was 
decided to terminate the Equity Growth Bonus Plan based on an 
agreed value with management.

As a result of the decision to terminate the plan, a payment of 
$5.2 million to Qube Logistics management and $2.6 million to 
Qube Ports & Bulk management was agreed. The value was based 
on the expected future payment under the scheme, adjusted to 
reflect the risk of not achieving the hurdle, and the time expected to 
achieve the hurdle. 

The eligible participants will receive a termination payment in the form 
of a cash bonus of 50% of the total amount less applicable tax, in 
December 2012 and December 2013.
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5. linking RewaRdS, PeRfoRmanCe and StRategy
Performance of Qube 
Qube’s remuneration framework is intended to align rewards to management with the delivery of financial and non-financial performance that 
drives sustainable growth in shareholder value.

Over the last five years, there have been a number of events, including corporate restructures, internalisation of management, multiple 
acquisitions and a change in the accounting treatment of the logistics investments which have created substantial complexity and lack of 
meaningful comparability from year to year in the accounting measures outlined below.

As a result of these events, historic financial information is no longer comparable to current financial information of the Group as it stands today. 
Since Corporatisation in September 2011, the Group accounts for all its investments as either subsidiaries or equity accounted investments and 
no longer as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. This is the reason for such divergence from year to year in the revenue and 
earnings figures outlined below.

However, Qube’s underlying revenue and earnings have grown significantly over the period, which has been reflected in the significant increase 
in Qube’s market capitalisation over the period. This is illustrated by the share price movement over the last four years in the table below. 

30 June
2012
$’000

30 June
2011
$’000

30 June 
2010
$’000

30 June 
2009
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

Revenue from sales and services 776,818 190,782* n/a n/a n/a

net gain/(loss) on financial instruments held at fair 
value through profit or loss – 67,599 23,194 (20,070) 18,123

(loss)/profit before income tax (1,795) 71,351 29,913 (12,495) 26,355

* Qube Logistics (Aust) Pty Limited (formally POTA Holdings Pty Limited), consolidated from January 2011.

30 June 
2012

30 June 
2011

30 June 
2010

30 June 
2009

30 June 
2008

Closing share price $1.55 $1.56 $0.78 $0.54 $0.66

dividend/distribution 4.0c 3.8c 3.5c 4.0c 4.5c

6. emPloyment ConditionS
Service agreements
On appointment to the board, all non-executive directors enter into a service agreement with the company in the form of a letter of appointment. 
The letter summarises the board policies and terms, including compensation, relevant to the office of director. 

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Managing Director, Chief Financial Officer and the other key management personnel are 
also formalised in service agreements. Each of these agreements provide for the provision of performance related cash bonuses, other benefits, 
and participation, when eligible, in the ELTIP. Other major provisions of the agreements relating to remuneration are set out below.

The MD of the Logistics Division and the Chief Financial Officer’s contracts may be terminated by either party with three months notice, subject 
to termination payments as detailed below. The Managing Director and the MD of the Ports & Bulk Division’s contracts provide for 6 months 
notice by the executive and 12 months notice by the company.

Name Term of agreement
Fixed remuneration

including superannuation* Termination benefit**

Maurice James 
Managing Director

On-going commencing 
1 September 2011

$616,000 per annum 12 months base salary

Paul Lewis 
Chief financial officer and company secretary

On-going commencing 
1 September 2011

$316,000 per annum 3 months base salary

Don Smithwick 
MD Ports & Bulk division

On-going commencing 
1 September 2011

$592,524 per annum 12 months base salary

Paul Digney 
MD Logistics division

On-going commencing 
1 September 2011

$438,000 per annum 3 months base salary

* Base salaries quoted are for the year ended 30 June 2012; they are reviewed annually by the N&RC. 

** Termination benefits are payable on early termination by the company, other than for gross misconduct; unless otherwise indicated, they are equal to the base 
salary for the remaining term of the agreement. 
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7. non-exeCutive diReCtoRS
To maintain their independence and impartiality, non-executive directors’ rewards do not have any at-risk components. Fees and payments  
to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the directors, Non-executive directors’ fees and 
payments are reviewed annually by the N&RC.

Directors’ fees
Non-executive director fees comprise a base fee plus additional fees for directors who chair, or are a member of, a committee.

Non-executive directors’ fees are determined within an aggregate directors’ fee pool limit, which is periodically recommended for approval  
by shareholders. The maximum currently stands at $675,000 per annum.

The following per annum fees have applied from 1 September 2011:

Year
Base Fee

$

Audit & Risk
Management

Committee
$

Safety Health
& Environment

Committee
$

Nomination &
Remuneration

Committee
$

Chairman 2012 120,000

Deputy Chairman 2012 90,000

Non-executive director 2012 60,000

Committee Chairman 2012 – 25,000 25,000 25,000

Committee Member 2012 12,500 12,500 12,500

The allocation of fees based on responsibility per non-executive director for the 10 months since corporatisation are as follows:

Board Committee fees

Board fees
audit & Risk 
management

Safety, health  
& environment

nomination  
& Remuneration

Chair
$

Deputy
Chair

$

Base
Director

Fee
$

Chair
$

Member
$

Chair
$

Member
$

Chair
$

Member
$

Other
Fees*

$
Total

$

Chris Corrigan 100,110 10,428  110,538

Sam Kaplan 75,083 10,428 20,856 30,000 136,367

Ross Burney 50,055 10,428 60,483

Allan Davies 50,055 20,856 70,911

Peter Dexter 50,055 20,856 10,428 81,339

Robert Dove 50,055 10,428 60,483

Yutaka Nakagawa 50,055 10,428 60,483

Aage Holm –

Alan Miles –

Simon Moore –

100,110 75,083 250,275 20,856 20,856 20,856 20,856 20,856 20,856 30,000  580,604

* Fees earned as director of associated entities.

Retirement allowances for non-executive directors
Where appropriate, superannuation contributions required under the Australian Superannuation Guarantee Legislation form part of the directors’ 
overall fee entitlements.
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8. diReCtoRS’ inteReStS
The relevant interests of each director in the shares in the company during the financial year as notified to the ASX are as follows:

Opening
balance as at 

1 July 2011

Held at time
of becoming

a Director
Dividend

reinvestment Disposed***
Other

changes

Balance as
at 30 June

2012*

Balance as
at date

of report*

Chris Corrigan – 15,993,553 – – – 15,993,553 15,993,553

Sam Kaplan – 39,373,363** – 3,941,667 – 35,431,696 35,431,696

Maurice James – 1,510,000 – – 2,360,855**** 3,870,855 3,870,855

Allan Davies – 2,595,795 – – – 2,595,795 2,595,795

Peter Dexter – 175,000 – – – 175,000 175,000

Robert Dove – – – – – – –

Ross Burney – – – – – – –

Yutaka Nakagawa – – – – – – –

Aage Holm – – – – – – –

Alan Miles – 5,600 – – – 5,600 5,600

Simon Moore – 100,000 – – – 100,000 100,000

* This includes shares held in the name of spouse, superannuation fund, nominee and/or other controlled entities and deemed relevant interests.

** Includes shares in which Mr Kaplan has only a deemed relevant interest under the Corporations Act from which Mr Kaplan may receive no economic benefit.

*** Off-market sales and transfers in connection with service and incentive arrangements relating to KFM implemented in connection with the Qube Restructure – 
2,409,748; and off-market transfers as part of a restructure of holdings – 1,531,919. 

**** Includes 2,000,000 shares issued under the 2012 ELTIP.

To ensure independence and impartiality is maintained, non-executive directors are not eligible to participate in any of the Group’s incentive 
arrangements, including equity grants. 

The company has not issued any options to directors. 
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9. detailS of total RemuneRation
Total amounts of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of the directors and the key management personnel of the Group are set out in the following tables. Remuneration 
reflects the 10 month period since corporatisation.

Key management personnel of the Group

2012
Short-term  

employee benefits

Post 
employment  

benefits

long 
term 

benefits
equity 

based payments

Name

Cash
salary 

and fees
$

Cash
bonus

$

Non
monetary

benefits
$

Super
annuation

$

Long
service

leave
$

ELTIP
$

Legacy
schemes

$
Total

$

non-executive directors

Chris Corrigan 72,327 – 31,702 6,509 – – – 110,538

Sam Kaplan 127,584 – – 8,783 – – – 136,367

Ross Burney 55,489 – – 4,994 – – – 60,483

Allan Davies  65,056 – – 5,855 – – – 70,911

Peter Dexter 74,623 – – 6,716 – – – 81,339

Robert Dove 60,483 – – – – – – 60,483

Yutaka Nakagawa 60,483 – – – – – – 60,483

Aage Holm – – – – – – – –

Alan Miles – – – – – – – –

Simon Moore – – – – – – – –

Subtotal non-executive directors 516,045 – 31,702 32,857 – – – 580,604

executive directors

Maurice James 481,333 273,350 – 32,000 – 220,417 – 1,007,100

other key management personnel 

Paul Lewis 250,187 150,500 2,454 13,146 24,583 55,104 – 495,974

Don Smithwick * 495,235 278,000 2,454 – – – 1,339,769 2,115,458

Paul Digney** 342,691 262,500 317 17,974 27,528 – 1,417,284 2,068,294

total key management personnel 
compensation (group) 2,085,491 964,350 36,927 95,977 52,111 275,521 2,757,053 6,267,430

* Don Smithwick’s short-term benefits include a cash bonus of $128,000 attributable to the calendar year ended 31 December 2011.

** Paul Digney’s short-term benefits include a cash bonus of $175,000 attributable to the calendar year ended 31 December 2011.

Cash bonuses to key management personnel are paid following the finalisation of the audit of the financial results which would be in the financial 
year immediately following the financial year to which the bonus relates.

Qube operated as a managed investment scheme with a Responsible Entity and an external investment manager for the year ended 
30 June 2011 and up until corporatisation in September 2011. There were no fees paid to the directors of the Responsible Entity for the year 
ended 30 June 2011 and up until corporatisation in September 2011.

For each grant of shares issued under the 2012 ELTIP tranche, notional shares issued under the Shadow Equity Plan, or payments made under 
the Equity Growth Bonus plan included in the table above, the percentage of the available bonus or grant that was paid, or that vested, in the 
financial year is set out in the following pages. The ELTIP shares vest over three years, provided the vesting conditions are met. 
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Equity settled compensation
ELTIP
Qube has made two issues under the ELTIP. One on 1 September 2011 in relation to remuneration for the 2012 financial year and another  
on 29 June 2012 in relation to remuneration for the 2013 financial year. As the 29 June 2012 issue relates to the 2013 financial year, it does  
not form part of this remuneration report. 

The terms and conditions of each grant of the 2012 ELTIP affecting remuneration in the current or a future reporting period are as follows:

Grant date Vesting date Expiry date** Issue price
Value per share 

at grant date Target Hurdle*
Performance 

achieved % Vested

aSR increase > 10% compound

1 Sept 2011 31 Aug 2012 30 Nov 2014 $1.3575 $0.21 $1.4933 – –

1 Sept 2011 31 Aug 2013 30 Nov 2014 $1.3575 $0.26 $1.6426 – –

1 Sept 2011 31 Aug 2014 30 Nov 2014 $1.3575 $0.27 $1.8068 – –

ePS increase > 11% compound

1 Sept 2011 31 Aug 2013 30 Nov 2014 $1.3575 $0.20 – – –

1 Sept 2011 31 Aug 2014 30 Nov 2014 $1.3575 $0.17 – – –

* Prior to adjustment for dividends.

** Last possible vesting date.

The plan rules contain a restriction on removing the ‘at risk’ aspect of the instruments granted to executives. Plan participants may not enter into 
any transaction designed to remove the ‘at risk’ aspect of an instrument before it vests. 

Details of ELTIP shares in the company provided as remuneration to Qube Directors and key management personnel are set out below. Further 
information on the ELTIP scheme is set out in note 41 to the financial statements.

Name
Held at 

1 July 

Granted 
during 

the year

Fair value 
of Plan 
Shares

granted 
$*

Amount
expensed
during the 

year 
$

Vested/
exercised

during 
the year

Lapsed 
during

the year
Held at

30 June**

directors of Qube 
logistics holdings limited

Maurice James – 2,000,000 $437,667 $220,417 – – 2,000,000

other key management 
personnel of the group

Paul Lewis – 500,000 $109,417 $55,104  – – 500,000

Paul Digney  – – – –  – – –

Don Smithwick  – – – –  – – –

* The value at grant date calculated in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payment of options granted during the year as part of remuneration.

** On 29 June 2012 the 2013 ELTIP allocation was announced for eligible senior executives. These allocations have not been included in the numbers above as 
they relate to remuneration for FY 13 and future financial periods. Further information on this allocation can be found in note 29 to the financial statements.

The assessed fair value at grant date of Plan Shares granted to the individual is allocated over the period from grant date to vesting date, and 
the amount is included in the remuneration tables above. Fair values at grant date are independently determined using a Monte Carlo simulation 
pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying 
share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term.
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Cash settled compensation
Legacy arrangements
The terms and conditions of each grant of shares affecting remuneration in the current or a future reporting period are as follows: 

Shadow Equity Plan

Name
Year 

granted
Vested

%

Fair value 
of notional 

shares
granted

Forfeited
%

Financial
years in which 

notional
shares 

may vest

Amount
expensed

during 
the year

$

Maurice James 2012 – – – 2011/2012 –

2013 – – – 2013/2014 –

2014 – – – 2014/2015 –

2015 – – – 2011/2012 –

Paul Lewis 2012 – – – 2011/2012 –

2013 – – – 2012/2013 –

2014 – – – 2013/2014 –

2015 – – – 2014/2015 –

Don Smithwick 2012 – 219,936 – 2011/2012 39,769

2013 – – – 2012/2013 73,312

2014 – – – 2013/2014 73,312

2015 100 – – 2014/2015 33,543

Paul Digney 2012 – 648,616 – 2011/2012 117,284

2013 – – – 2012/2013 216,205

2014 – – – 2013/2014 216,205

2015 100 – – 2014/2015 98,922

The assessed fair value at grant date under the Shadow Equity Plan, granted to the individual is allocated equally over the period from grant 
date to vesting date, and the amount is included in the remuneration tables above. Fair values at grant date are determined using a valuation 
methodology approved by the N&RC that takes into account the share price at grant date, expected price volatility of the underlying shares 
and the expected dividend yield over the term.

Equity Growth Bonus Plan

Name
Year

vested
Vested 

%

Amount
expensed

during 
the year

$
Year 

payable
Amount
payable

Maurice James 2012 – – 2012 –

2013 – – 2013 –

2014 –  – 2014  –

Paul Lewis 2012 –  – 2012 –

2013 – – 2013 –

2014  –  – 2014  –

Don Smithwick 2012 100 1,300,000 2012 –

2013 – – 2013 650,000

2014 – – 2014 650,000

Paul Digney 2012 100 1,300,000 2012 –

2013 – – 2013 650,000

2014 –  – 2014 650,000

The Equity Growth Bonus Plan fair value granted to the individual is equivalent to the cash bonus agreed on terminating the scheme. The impact 
of discounting for future payments was considered insignificant. 

Further information on both schemes is set out in note 41 to the financial statements.

This is the end of the Remuneration Report.

diReCtoRS’ RePoRt (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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Loans to directors and executives
Information on loans to directors and executives, including amounts, interest rates and repayment terms are set out in note 29 to the 
financial statements.

Insurance of officers
During the financial year, Qube Logistics Holdings Limited paid a premium to insure the directors and secretaries of the company and its 
Australian-based controlled entities, and the general managers of each of the divisions of the Group against liabilities that are permitted to  
be covered by Section 199B of the Corporations Act 2001. It is a condition on the insurance contract that its limits of indemnity, the nature  
of the liability and the amount of the premium not be disclosed. 

Indemnity of auditors
The company has not indemnified the auditor under certain circumstances as permitted in the Corporations Act 2001.

Proceedings on behalf of the company
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the company, 
or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or 
part of those proceedings.

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the company with leave of the Court under section 237 of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

Non-audit services
The company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s expertise and 
experience with the Group are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (PwC) for audit and non-audit services provided during the year are set out below.

The board of directors has considered the position and, in accordance with advice received from the audit committee, is satisfied that the 
provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 
2001. The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

•	 all non-audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor

•	 none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for non-audit services provided by the auditor of the Group, its related practices and 
non-related audit firms:

2012
$

2011
$

non-audit services

taxation services

PwC Australian firm:

 Tax compliance services 57,300 58,000

 Tax consulting services 384,075 369,426

total remuneration for taxation services 441,375 427,426

other services

 Other services – 274,399

total remuneration for non-audit services 441,375 701,825
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auditoR’S indePendenCe deClaRation
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 39.

Rounding of amountS
The Group is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the 
‘’rounding off’’ of amounts in the directors’ report. Amounts in the directors’ report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order 
to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.

auditoR
PwC continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors.

Sam kaplan 
Director

SYDNEY 
22 August 2012

diReCtoRS’ RePoRt (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012, I
declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited and the entities it controlled during
the period.

N R McConnell Sydney
Partner 22 August 2012
PricewaterhouseCoopers
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012, I
declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited and the entities it controlled during
the period.

N R McConnell Sydney
Partner 22 August 2012
PricewaterhouseCoopers

QuBe
auditoR’SINDEPENDENCEdeClaRation
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ConSolidated Statement of ComPRehenSive inCome
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Notes
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Revenue from continuing operations

Revenue from sales and services 4 776,818 190,782

Other income 5 5,157 87,944

781,975 278,726

Direct transport and logistics costs 251,824 52,808

Repairs and maintenance costs 34,569 10,015

Employee benefits expense 6 289,545 64,060

Fuel, oil and electricity costs 52,246 17,412

Occupancy and property costs 47,183 15,579

Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 36,215 7,396

Professional fees 9,754 3,826

Refinance costs 7,419 –

Qube restructure termination payment 6 40,000 –

Trust related expenses 274 8,966

Other expenses 16,205 26,151

Results from operating activities (3,259) 72,513

Finance income 4,842 4,853

Finance costs 6 (16,613) (6,015)

net finance costs (11,771) (1,162)

Share of net profit of associates accounted for using the equity method 37 13,235 –

(loss)/Profit before income tax (1,795) 71,351

Income tax (benefit)/expense 7  (325) 5,892

(loss)/Profit for the year (1,470) 65,459

Other comprehensive income net of tax – –

total comprehensive (loss)/income net of tax (1,470) 65,459

total comprehensive (loss)/ income attributable to:

 Owners of Qube (2,525) 61,838

 Non-controlling interests 1,055 3,621

(1,470) 65,459

Cents Cents

earnings per share/unit for profit from continuing operations attributable to the 
ordinary equity holders of the Company/trust:

Basic earnings per share/unit 40 – 11.40

Diluted earnings per share/unit 40 – 11.40

earnings per share/unit for profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
Company/trust:

Basic earnings per share/unit 40 – 11.40

Diluted earnings per share/unit 40 – 11.40

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



41QUBE
Financialreport

ConSolidated BalanCe Sheet
AS AT 30 JUNE 2012

Notes
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

aSSetS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8 118,565 78,860

Trade and other receivables 9 141,823 63,585

Inventories 10 3,604 2,032

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 11 996 7,559

Current tax receivable 2,903 –

Total current assets 267,891 152,036

non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 13 4,002 4,002

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 11 – 398,908

Investments accounted for using the equity method 14 182,763 –

Property, plant and equipment 15 362,933 121,302

Investment properties 16 279,400 –

Deferred tax assets 17 22,811 6,098

Intangible assets 18 599,703 198,424

Other assets 1,395 –

Total non-current assets 1,453,007 728,734

total assets 1,720,898 880,770

liaBilitieS
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19 94,505 37,243

Borrowings 20 19,306 7,583

Derivative financial instruments 12 2,662 43

Provisions 21 38,226 30,199

Total current liabilities 154,699 75,068

non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19 18,523 –

Borrowings 22 423,864 103,099

Deferred tax liabilities 23 23,403 9,492

Provisions 24 9,169 6,724

Total non-current liabilities 474,959 119,315

total liabilities 629,658 194,383

net assets 1,091,240 686,387

eQuity

Contributed equity 25 1,019,583 583,907

Reserves 26(a) (34,138) 20,589

Retained earnings 26(b) 27,903 63,299

Capital and reserves attributable to owners of Qube 1,013,348 667,795

Non-controlling interests 27 77,892 18,592 

total equity 1,091,240 686,387

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ConSolidated Statement of ChangeS in eQuity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

attributable to owners of Qube

Notes

Contributed
equity
$’000

Reserves
$’000

Retained
earnings

$’000
Total

$’000

Non-
controlling

 interests
$’000

Total
equity
$’000

Balance at 1 july 2010 427,165 – 16,806 443,971 – 443,971

Profit for the year as reported in the 2011 financial 
statements – – 61,838 61,838 3,621 65,459

Other comprehensive income – – – – – –

total comprehensive income for the year – – 61,838 61,838 3,621 65,459

transactions with owners in their capacity 
as owners:

Contributions of equity net of transaction costs 156,742 – – 156,742 – 156,742

Dividends/distributions provided for or paid 28 – – (17,568) (17,568) (877) (18,445)

Equity acquired by non-controlling interests – – – – 4,002  4,002

Non-controlling interests recognised on obtaining 
control of subsidiary – – – – 54,390  54,390

Fair value adjustment on acquisition of 
non-controlling interest – 28,436 – 28,436 –  28,436

Non-controlling interests acquired –  (7,847) 2,223 (5,624) (42,544)  (48,168)

25  156,742  20,589 (15,345)  161,986 14,971  176,957

Balance at 30 june 2011  583,907  20,589  63,299 667,795  18,592 686,387

(Loss)/profit for the year – – (2,525) (2,525)  1,055 (1,470)

Other comprehensive income – – – – –  –

total comprehensive(loss)/ income  
for the year – –  (2,525)  (2,525)  1,055 (1,470)
transactions with owners in their capacity 
as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs 
and tax 412,220 – – 412,220 – 412,220

Acquisition of options from management of 
subsidiaries 26 – (8,751) –  (8,751) – (8,751)

Transactions with non-controlling interests 26 –  (22,950) –  (22,950)  (19,682)  (42,632)

Non-controlling interests acquired –  – – – 77,927  77,927

Dividends/distributions provided for or paid 28 – – (32,871) (32,871) –  (32,871)

Employee share scheme 23,456  (23,026) –  430 –  430

25 435,676  (54,727)  (32,871) 348,078 58,245 406,323

Balance at 30 june 2012 1,019,583  (34,138)  27,903 1,013,348  77,892 1,091,240

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ConSolidated Statement of CaSh flowS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Notes
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax) 833,718 220,048

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax) (754,256) (211,712)

79,462 8,336

Payments for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – (6,468)

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6,459 13,318

Loans advanced to associates – (5,989)

Repayment of loans from associates – 7,500

Dividends and distributions received 17,083 15,024

Interest received 5,031 4,905

Other revenue 1,119 60

Interest paid (15,557) (5,898)

Income taxes paid (20,700) (4,521)

Fees paid to Kaplan Funds Management Pty Limited  (19,728) –

net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 39 53,169 26,267

Cash flows from investing activities

Payment for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 34 (199,211) (2,952)

Payments for property, plant and equipment 15 (77,751) (8,022)

Payments for additional investment in associates (2,563) –

Payments for asset acquisitions (9,782) –

Assets acquired though asset acquisitions 10,160 –

Loans to related parties (50) –

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,207 294

Payments for non-controlling interests (13,317) –

net cash/(outflow) inflow from investing activities (291,307) (10,680)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issues of shares and other equity securities 83,827 151,992

Proceeds from borrowings 438,288 10,000

Repayment of borrowings (201,345) (3,400)

Finance lease payments (13,832) (2,453)

Transactions with non-controlling interests – (102,005)

Dividends/distributions paid to company’s shareholders (28,756) (13,150)

Dividends/distributions paid to non-controlling interests in subsidiaries (339) (877)

net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 277,843 40,107

net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 39,705 55,694

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 78,860 23,166

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 8 118,565 78,860

Non-cash investing and financing items 39(a) 261,432 4,418

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. SummaRy of SignifiCant aCCounting PoliCieS
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated. 

(a) Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, 
Urgent Issues Group Interpretations and the Corporations Act 
2001. Qube is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the 
financial statements. 

On 30 August 2011, Qube Logistics Trust (‘Qube Trust’) restructured 
from a trust to a company whereby unitholders were given one 
ordinary share in the company for each unit they held in the Qube 
Trust immediately prior to the restructure. This resulted in Qube 
acquiring 100% of the units in Qube Trust.

The Qube corporatisation, internalisation of management, acquisitions 
and ancillary transactions referred to as the “Qube Restructure” as set 
out in the unitholder booklet and prospectus dated 12 July 2011 was 
approved by unitholders on 18 August 2011. The Corporatisation was 
completed on 30 August 2011, the internalisation of management  
was implemented on 31 August 2011 and the acquisitions finalised  
on 1 September 2011.

Corporatisation comprised the interposition of a new holding 
company, Qube Logistics Holdings Limited, between existing 
unitholders and the Qube Trust.

Since there was no change to the reporting entity, the consolidated 
financial statements of Qube have been prepared as a continuation 
of Qube Trust and combine the consolidated financial statements 
of a managed investment scheme for the two months to 31 August 
2011 and the Company from 1 September 2011. The primary impact 
of this is that, as a corporate entity, Qube no longer accounts for its 
investments in associate entities on the basis of fair value taking the 
gain or loss through the income statement, but rather equity accounts 
its share of the associates’ profit after tax and reserves. 

(i) Compliance with IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of Qube also comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

(ii) New and amended standards adopted by the Group
None of the new standards and amendments to standards that are 
mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 July 2011 
affected any of the amounts recognised in the current period or any 
period and are not likely to affect future periods. 

(iii) Early adoption of standards
The Group has not elected to apply any pronouncements before their 
operative date in the annual reporting period beginning 1 July 2011.

(iv) Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets 
and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through 
profit or loss, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and 
investment property.

(v) Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise 
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 

policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2.

(vi) Comparative information – change in presentation. 
The comparative information from 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011 
presented in the consolidated financial statements is that of Qube 
Trust which was a managed investment scheme fair valuing its 
investments in associates. Changes resulting from the Qube 
Restructure such as the reporting basis (noted above) and the 
acquisitions mean that the prior year figures are not comparable  
to the operations, assets and liabilities for the current year. 

The Company has also decided in the current year to change 
the classification of its major expense items in the statement of 
comprehensive income. The comparative information has been 
reclassified accordingly and there is no change to the net result. 

(b) Principles of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and 
liabilities of all subsidiaries of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited 
(‘Company’’ or ‘’parent entity’’) as at 30 June 2012 and the results 
of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Qube Logistics Holdings 
Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial 
statements as the Group or the consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over 
which the Company, directly or indirectly has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a 
shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence 
and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable 
or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group 
controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business 
combinations by the Group (refer to note 1(i)).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on 
transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence 
of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies 
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are 
shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet respectively.

(ii) Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant 
influence but not control or joint control, generally accompanying 
a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method 
of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. The Group’s 
investment in associates includes goodwill (net of any accumulated 
impairment loss) identified on acquisition (refer to note 37).

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses 
is recognised in profit or loss and its share of post-acquisition other 
comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the 
carrying amount of the investment. Dividends received or receivable 
from associates are recognised as reduction in the carrying amount  
of the investment.



46 QUBE
ANNUALREPORT2012

1. SummaRy of SignifiCant aCCounting PoliCieS (CONT.)

(b) Principles of consolidation (cont.)
(ii) Associates (cont.)
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds 
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured long-term 
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its 
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest 
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the 
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

(iii) Changes in ownership interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do 
not result in a loss of control as transactions with owners of the Group. 
A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the 
carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to 
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between 
the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any 
consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve 
within equity attributable to owners of Qube.

When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant 
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair 
value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or 
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of 
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, 
jointly controlled entity or financial asset. In addition, any amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of 
that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed 
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified 
to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced, but significant 
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified 
to profit or loss where appropriate.

(c) Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the 
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. 
The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,  
has been identified as the Board of Directors.

(d) Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s 
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which it operates (‘the functional currency’). The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, 
which is Qube’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year 
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit or loss, except 
when they are deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and 
qualifying net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net 
investment in a foreign operation. 

(e) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable and is recognised (net of discounts, allowances and 
disbursements) as follows:

(i) Provision of services
Revenue earned from the provision of services is recognised on 
delivery of those services, at the time that a vessel loading or 
unloading is completed or in accordance with agreed contractual 
terms in the period to which they relate. 

(ii) Storage
Revenue earned from provision of storage is recognised either  
on a per day or per week stored basis. 

(iii) Asset sales 

The gain or loss on disposal of assets is recognised when an 
unconditional contract of sale is signed. 

(iv) Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income for all debt instruments using the effective interest method. 
Interest income on assets held at fair value through profit or loss is 
included in the statement of comprehensive income. Other changes 
in fair value for such instruments are recorded in accordance with the 
polices described in note 1(n).

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating 
the interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts throughout the expected life of the financial 
instrument, or a shorter period where appropriate, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or liability. When calculating the effective 
interest rate, Qube estimates cash flows considering all contractual 
terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) 
but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes  
all fees paid or received between the parties to the contract that are 
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and  
all other premiums or discounts. 

(vi) Dividends
Dividend income is recognised on the ex-dividend date with any 
related foreign withholding tax recorded as an expense. 

Trust distributions are recognised on a present entitlement basis. 

(f) Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where 
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the 
Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in 
the profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the 
costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and 
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred income 
and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
expected lives of the related assets.

(g) Income tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the consolidated entities for the 
year is the tax payable on the current year’s taxable income based 
on the notional tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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Deferred income tax is determined using the liability method, being 
the temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible 
temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary 
differences and losses. However, the deferred income tax is not 
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability  
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of 
the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting 
period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income 
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

The consolidated entity may incur withholding tax imposed by certain 
countries on investment income. Such income is recorded gross of 
withholding tax in the statement of comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when 
the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current 
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally 
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Qube and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have 
implemented the tax consolidation legislation. As a consequence, 
these entities are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax 
assets and liabilities of these entities are set off in the consolidated 
financial statements.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to 
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised  
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

(h) Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception 
at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental 
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in borrowings. Each 
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The 
finance cost is charged to the profit or loss over the lease period so 
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and 
equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over  
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of 
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases (note 32). Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the profit or loss  
on a straightline basis over the period of the lease. 

Lease income from operating leases, where the Group is the lessor 
is recognised in other income on a straightline basis over the lease 
term (note 16 (e)).

(i) Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all 
business combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments 
or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any 
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement 

and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair 
values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, 
the Group recognises any non-controlling interests in the acquiree 
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’s proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any 
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair 
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value 
of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded 
as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired and the measurement  
of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly 
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the 
amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value 
as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s 
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing 
could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable 
terms and conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial 
liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are subsequently 
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in 
profit or loss.

(j) Impairment of assets
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not 
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they 
might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised 
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets 
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill 
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with 
financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value.

(l) Trade receivables 
Receivables may include amounts for dividends, interest and trust 
distributions. Dividends and trust distributions are accrued when the 
right to receive payment is established. Interest is accrued at the 
reporting date from the time of last payment in accordance with the 
policy set out in note 1(e). 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an on-going basis. 
Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off by reducing 
the carrying amount directly. An allowance account (provision for 
impairment of trade receivables) is used when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due. 
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1. SummaRy of SignifiCant aCCounting PoliCieS (CONT.)

(l) Trade receivables (cont.)
The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash 
flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect 
of discounting is immaterial. 

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss  
within other expenses. When a trade receivable for which an 
impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible 
in a subsequent period, it is written off. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses  
in profit or loss.

(m) Inventories
(i) Inventories on hand
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates 
and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Costs are assigned to 
individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs.

(n) Investments and other financial assets
Classification
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets 
held for trading. Assets in this category are classified as current assets 
if they are expected to settle within 12 months; otherwise they are 
classified as non-current. The Group’s investments comprise of:

•	 Financial instruments held for trading:

These include derivative financial instruments such as options. 
Qube does not designate any derivatives as hedges in a 
hedging relationship.

•	 Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss 
upon initial recognition:

These include financial assets that are not held for trading purposes 
and which may be sold. These are investments in exchange traded 
equity instruments, unlisted trusts and unlisted equity instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss at inception are those that are managed and their 
performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with Qube’s 
documented investment strategy. 

Recognition and derecognition
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on 
trade-date, the date on which Qube commits to purchase or sell the 
asset. Financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss 
are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial 
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially brought to 
account at fair value and transaction costs expensed through profit 
and loss. Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss were measured at fair value with changes 
in their fair value recognised in profit or loss. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial 
assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Investments have been brought to account by the Group as follows:

•	 Interests in listed securities in companies and trusts

The fair value of financial assets traded in active markets is based 
on the quoted market price at balance date. The quoted market 

price used for financial assets held by the Group is the closing bid 
price. Dividends and other distributions are recognised in profit or 
loss when entitled.

•	 Interests in unlisted securities in companies and trusts

Up until the Qube Restructure interests in unlisted companies 
were brought to account at fair value, determined using valuation 
techniques adopted by Qube’s Responsible Entity in consultation 
with Qube’s Manager. The fair values of the unlisted investments were 
based on an internal valuation or independent valuation (which was 
undertaken at least annually). 

Where for a particular six monthly reporting period, the most recent 
annual independent valuation was determined not to reflect the 
fair value of the investments, the fair value was determined based 
on a comparison of Qube’s relevant unlisted investment with the 
valuation implicit in recent arm’s length market transactions that were 
comparable to Qube’s investment. In the absence of any recent 
comparable arm’s length market transactions, the discounted cash 
flow valuation analysis was utilised. 

Discounted cash flow is the process of estimating future cash flows 
that are expected to be generated by an asset and discounting these 
cash flows to their present value by applying an appropriate discount 
rate. The discount rate applied to the cash flows of a particular asset 
comprises the risk free interest rate appropriate to where the asset is 
located and a risk premium, reflecting the uncertainty associated with 
the cash flows.

Interest, dividends and other distributions received from investments 
brought to account at fair value are recognised in profit or loss 
when entitled. 

Measurement
Qube has designated its investments in financial assets and liabilities 
at fair value (excluding borrowings) through profit or loss. Investments 
in financial assets and liabilities are revalued at each reporting date, 
or when there is a change in the nature of the investments or to 
their fair values in accordance with AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. Changes in the fair values of 
investments in financial assets and liabilities, both positive and 
negative, have been recognised in profit or loss for the year.

Impairment
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and 
that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated. 

(o) Derivatives 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their 
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The accounting for 
subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative 
is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the 
item being hedged. 

The Group does not look to designate its derivatives as hedging 
instruments for accounting purposes. Therefore changes in the fair 
value of these derivative instruments are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss and are included in other income or other expenses. 

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012



49QUBE
Financialreport

(p) Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less 
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Land is not depreciated. 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the 
useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or 
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a 
separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period 
in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straightline 
method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their 
estimated useful lives or as follows:

Buildings 2.5 – 20.0%

Leasehold improvements 2.5 – 10.0%

Furniture, fittings and equipment 10.0 – 20.0%

Plant and equipment 5.0 – 33.3%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted 
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds 
with carrying amount. These are included in profit or loss.

(q) Investment properties
Investment properties principally comprise freehold land that is 
presently leased and not occupied by the Group. Investment 
properties are carried at fair value, based on active market prices, 
adjusted if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or 
condition of the specific asset. If this information is not available, the 
Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent prices in less 
active markets or discounted cash flow projections. Changes in fair 
values are recorded in the profit or loss.

(r) Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as described in note 1(i). Goodwill on acquisitions 
of businesses is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions 
of associates is included in investments in associates. Goodwill is not 
amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might 
be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of 
impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating 
units or group of cash generating units that are expected to benefit 
from the business combination in which the goodwill arose, identified 
according to operating segments (note 3).

(ii) Operating rights
Operating rights are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straightline 
method to allocate the cost of the operating rights over a 20 year 
period from 2008, when the rights were initially recognised.

(iii) Customer contracts
Customer contracts acquired as part of a business combination are 
recognised separately from goodwill. The customer contracts are 
carried at their fair value at the date of acquisition less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated based 
on the timing of projected cash flows of the contracts over their 
estimated useful lives.

(s) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent unsecured liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are 
unpaid. Trade and other payables are recognised as current liabilities 
unless payment is not due within 12 months from the reporting date. 
They are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

(t) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction 
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the 
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees 
paid on the establishment of loan facilities which are material and not 
an incremental cost relating to the actual draw down of the facility, are 
recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the facility. 

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The 
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that 
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income 
or finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the 
entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish all or part 
of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognised 
in profit or loss, which is measured as the difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity 
instruments issued. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting period.

(u) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed over the life of the borrowing facility. 

(v) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the 
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for 
future operating losses. Provisions are measured at the present value 
of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the present obligation at the end of each reporting period.

(w) Employee benefits
(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, annual leave and accumulating sick 
leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date 
are recognised in provisions in respect of employees’ services up to 
the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to  
be paid when the liabilities are settled.
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(w) Employee benefits (cont.)
(ii) Long-service leave
The liability for long-service leave is recognised in the provision for 
employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected 
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date using the expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods 
of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms 
to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

(iii) Superannuation
Superannuation is paid to employees based on statutory rates or 
employment contracts where applicable. Staff who are members 
of a defined contribution fund in the P&O Superannuation Funds 
receive fixed contributions from the Group and the Group’s legal or 
constructive obligation is limited to these contributions.

(iv) Bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where 
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created 
or likely created a constructive obligation.

(v) Employee benefit on-cost
Employee benefit on-costs are recognised and included in 
employee benefit liabilities and costs when the employee benefits 
to which they relate are recognised as liabilities. On-costs include 
payroll tax, worker’s compensation and superannuation where 
payment is expected.

(vi) Share-based payments
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to certain senior 
management via the Group’s executive long-term incentive plan 
(‘ELTIP’), and the shadow equity plan. The equity growth bonus plan 
was terminated during the year. The ELTIP includes both performance 
and service based hurdles. The fair value of the benefits under this 
scheme is expensed to the profit and loss over the period over which 
the employee incentive is applicable, with a corresponding increase  
in contributed equity.

The shadow equity plan includes a service based hurdle, and the 
equity growth bonus plan was performance based. The fair value of 
the incentives under each scheme is expensed to the profit or loss 
over the period over which the employee incentive is applicable. 

(x) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(y) Dividends
Provision is made for treatment of any dividend declared being 
appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, 
on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the 
end of the reporting period. 

(z) Earnings per share/unit
(i) Basic earnings per share/unit
Basic earnings per share/unit is calculated by dividing the profit 
attributable to owners of the Company/Trust, excluding any costs 
of servicing equity other than ordinary shares/units, by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares/units outstanding during the 
financial year.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share/unit
Diluted earnings per share/unit adjusts the figures used in the 
determination of basic earnings per share/unit to take into account the 
after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated 
with dilutive potential ordinary shares/units, and the weighted 
average number of additional ordinary shares/units that would have 
been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential 
ordinary shares/units.

(aa) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of 
associated GST unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST 
receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables  
or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components 
of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are 
recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented 
as operating cash flows. 

(ab) Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, issued by 
the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the 
‘rounding off’ of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the 
financial statements have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the 
nearest dollar.

(ac) New accounting standards and interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been 
published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2012 reporting periods. 
The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and 
interpretations is set out below.

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 and AASB 
2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 (December 2010) (effective from 1 January 2013).

AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, 
measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. The standard is not applicable until 1 January 2013 * but  
is available for early adoption.

There will be no impact on the Group’s accounting for financial 
liabilities, as the new requirements only affect the accounting 
for financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss and the Group does not have any such liabilities. The 
derecognition rules have been transferred from AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and have not been 
changed. The Group has not yet decided when to adopt AASB 9.

* In December 2011, the IASB delayed the application date of IFRS 9 to 
1 January 2015. The AASB is expected to make an equivalent amendment 
to AASB 9 shortly.

(ii) AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11 Joint 
Arrangements, AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, 
revised AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures and AASB 2011-7 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards (effective 
1 January 2013)
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In August 2011, the AASB issued a suite of five new and amended 
standards which address the accounting for joint arrangements, 
consolidated financial statements and associated disclosures.

AASB 10 replaces all of the guidance on control and consolidation 
in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, 
and Interpretation 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. 
The core principle that a consolidated entity presents a parent 
and its subsidiaries as if they are a single economic entity remains 
unchanged, as do the mechanics of consolidation. However the 
standard introduces a single definition of control that applies to  
all entities. It focuses on the need to have both power and rights  
or exposure to variable returns before control is present.

This standard will not have any impact on the Group’s 
financial statements.

AASB 11 introduces a principles based approach to accounting 
for joint arrangements. The focus is no longer on the legal structure 
of joint arrangements, but rather on how rights and obligations 
are shared by the parties to the joint arrangement. Based on the 
assessment of rights and obligations, a joint arrangement will be 
classified as either a joint operation or joint venture. Joint ventures 
are accounted for using the equity method, and the choice to 
proportionately consolidate will no longer be permitted. Parties to a 
joint operation will account their share of revenues, expenses, assets 
and liabilities in much the same way as under the previous standard. 
AASB 11 also provides guidance for parties that participate in joint 
arrangements but do not share joint control. This standard will not 
have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.

AASB 12 sets out the required disclosures for entities reporting under 
the two new standards, AASB 10 and AASB 11, and replaces the 
disclosure requirements currently found in AASB 128. Application 
of this standard by the Group will not affect any of the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements, but will impact the type of 
information disclosed in relation to the Group’s investments.

AASB 127 is renamed Separate Financial Statements and is now a 
standard dealing solely with separate financial statements. Application 
of this standard by the Group will not affect any of the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

Amendments to AASB 128 provide clarification that an entity 
continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure its 
retained interest as part of ownership changes where a joint venture 
becomes an associate, and vice versa. The amendments also 
introduce a “partial disposal” concept. The Group is still assessing  
the impact of these amendments.

The Group does not expect to adopt the new standards before their 
operative date. They would therefore be first applied in the financial 
statements for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014.

(iii) AASB 2010-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets (effective from 
1 January 2012) 

In December 2010, the AASB amended AASB 112 Income Taxes to 
provide a practical approach for measuring deferred tax liabilities and 
deferred tax assets when investment property is measured using the 
fair value model. AASB 112 requires the measurement of deferred 
tax assets or liabilities to reflect the tax consequences that would 
follow from the way management expects to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of the relevant assets or liabilities that is through use 
or through sale. The amendment introduces a rebuttable presumption 
that investment property which is measured at fair value is recovered 
entirely by sale. The Group will apply the amendment from 1 July 
2012. It is currently evaluating the impact of the amendment. 

(iv) AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 (effective 
from 1 January 2013)

AASB 13 was released in September 2011. It explains how to 
measure fair value and aims to enhance fair value disclosures. The 
Group has yet to determine which, if any, of its current measurement 
techniques will have to change as a result of this new guidance. It is 
therefore not possible to state the impact, if any, of the new rules on 
any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The Group 
does not intend to adopt the new standard before its operative date, 
which means that it would be first applied in the annual reporting 
period ending 30 June 2014. 

(ad) Parent entity financial information
The financial information for the parent entity disclosed in note 43 
has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial 
statements, except as set out below.

(i) Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are 
accounted for at cost in the financial statements of the parent entity. 
Dividends received from associates are recognised in the parent 
entity’s profit or loss, rather than being deducted from the carrying 
amount of these investments. 

(ii) Tax consolidation legislation
The parent entity and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities 
have implemented the tax consolidation legislation.

The parent entity and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated 
group account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These 
tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated 
group continues to be a standalone taxpayer in its own right. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the parent 
also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred 
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits 
assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group. 

The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under 
which the wholly-owned entities fully compensate the parent entity 
for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by parent 
entity for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating 
to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to 
the parent entity under the tax consolidation legislation. The funding 
amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in 
the wholly-owned entities’ financial statements.

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are 
due upon receipt of the funding advice from the parent entity, which is 
issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The 
head entity may also require payment of interim funding amounts to 
assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments. 

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax 
consolidated entities are recognised as current amounts receivable 
from or payable to other entities in the Group. 

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or 
payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised as a contribution 
to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities. 

(iii) Financial guarantees 
Where the parent entity has provided financial guarantees in relation 
to loans and payables of subsidiaries for no compensation, the fair 
values of these guarantees are accounted for as contributions and 
recognised as part of the cost of investment. 
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(ad) Parent entity financial information (cont.)
(iv) Share-based payments 
The grant by the Company of shares to employees of subsidiary 
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution to that 
subsidiary undertaking. The fair value of employee services rendered, 
measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised 
over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary 
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity. 

2. CRitiCal aCCounting eStimateS and judgementS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based  
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations  
of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and  
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. 
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal 
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

(i) Estimated impairment of goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any 
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 
1(j). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been 
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations 
require the use of assumptions. Refer to note 18 for details of these 
assumptions and the potential impact of changes to the assumptions.

(ii) Income taxes
The Group has recognised deferred tax assets in relation to losses and 
timing differences on the basis that they can be utilised in the future. 
The utilisation of these assets depends on the Group’s ability to satisfy 
certain tests at the time of recoupment.

(iii) Estimated fair values of investment properties
The Group carries its investment properties at fair value with changes 
in the fair values recognised in profit or loss. It obtains independent 
valuations at least every two years or as otherwise required. At the 
end of each reporting period, the directors update their assessment 
of the fair value of each property, taking into account the most 
recent independent valuations. The key assumptions used in this 
determination are set out in note 16.

(iv)  Estimated fair values of investments accounted for using the 
equity method

The Group has undertaken a valuation of its investments accounted 
for using the equity method based on its proportionate ownership 
of these businesses, adjusted for other considerations including any 
applicable marketability or minority interest discount. The recoverable 
amount of each investment is determined using a discounted cash 
flow model. The general valuation assumptions include a risk free rate 
of 3.05% and a market risk premium of 7.0%.

3. Segment infoRmation
(a) Description of segments
Management has determined the operating segments based  
on the reports used by the Board to make strategic decisions.

Logistics
The primary focus of the Logistics division is on providing a broad 
range of services relating to the import and export of containerised 
cargo. The services currently provided include the physical and 
documentary processes and tasks of the import/export supply chain 
such as road and rail transport of containers to and from ports, 
operation of full and empty container parks, customs and quarantine 
services, warehousing, intermodal terminals and international 
freight forwarding.

Ports & Bulk 
This division has two core activities comprising port and bulk logistics. 
It is focused on the provision of a range of logistics services relating  
to the import and export of non-containerised freight, with a major 
focus on automotive, bulk and break bulk products.

Qube’s port logistics activities are focused on the provision of an 
integrated logistics solution for the automotive industry, covering 
a range of activities including facilities management, stevedoring, 
processing and delivery. This division also provides stevedoring 
services for project cargo and other similar items. 

Qube’s bulk logistics activities are aimed at offering customers a 
comprehensive logistics solution from mine-to-ship covering activities 
including transport, stockpile management, ship loading facilities and 
stevedoring. Qube handles a diverse range of commodities including 
iron ore, manganese, nickel concentrate and mineral sands. The main 
operations are located in Western Australia and Queensland.

Strategic Assets
This division comprises Qube’s interest in the Moorebank Industrial 
Property Trust (66.7%) and a strategically located property at Minto 
in Sydney’s south west (100%). Both of these properties are located 
adjacent to the dedicated Southern Sydney Freight Line (SSFL) 
presently being constructed.

These assets are being leased to quality third party tenants to 
generate income while Qube undertakes the necessary analysis 
and planning with a view to obtaining the required development 
approvals to transform these assets into operating logistics 
properties predominantly involving inland rail terminals and related 
logistics activities.

All other segments
Corporate head office is not considered a reportable segment, 
as it is not included as a distinct segment in the reports provided 
to the Board. Therefore its results are included in the ‘all other 
segments’ column.
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(b) Segment information provided to the Board
Qube’s Board assesses the performance of the operating segments on a measure of Pro-forma and Pro-forma Proportionate Revenue and 
EBITDA which is allocated into segments as follows:

2012
Logistics

$’000
Ports & Bulk

$’000

Strategic
Assets
$’000

All other
segments

$’000
Total

$’000

Revenue from external customers 476,758 301,756 5,006 (1,545) 781,975

Pro-forma adjustments – 51,573 1,635 1,545 54,753

Pro-forma revenue 476,758 353,329 6,641 – 836,728

Proportional share of associates revenue 11,586 88,454 5,931 – 105,971

Proportional Pro-forma Revenue 488,344 441,783 12,572 – 942,699

Pro-forma and Pro-forma Proportional revenue is determined as follows:

Pro-forma Revenue is revenue from external customers adjusted to:

•	 exclude distributions received from Moorebank Industrial Property Trust (MIPT) for the 2 months it was under Qube’s previous trust structure, 
and

•	 include the revenues of Qube Ports & Bulk and Minto Properties for the 2 month period prior to the Qube Restructure.

Pro-forma Proportional Revenue is Pro-forma Revenue adjusted to include the 12 month proportional revenue contribution from Qube’s 
associates and MIPT.

A reconciliation of Proportional Pro-forma EBITDA to (loss)/profit before income tax is as follows:

net profit/(loss) before income tax 23,212 35,490 (5,213) (55,284) (1,795)

Share of profit of associates (273) (12,519) (443) – (13,235)

Interest income (457) (362) (260) (3,763) (4,842)

Interest expense 8,561 5,537 4,687 (2,172) 16,613

Depreciation & amortisation 20,440 15,364 411 – 36,215

eBitda 51,483 43,510 (818) (61,219) 32,956

Fair value of derivatives – – 1,226 1,586 2,812

Fair value adjustments (net) – – 255 – 255

Non-recurring Qube restructure items (excluding stamp duty) – – – 42,757 42,757

Legacy share-based payments 5,857 2,756 – – 8,613

Refinance costs 353 281 – 6,785 7,419

Stamp duty 1,640 1,500 4,454 2,713 10,307

adjusted eBitda 59,333 48,047 5,117 (7,378) 105,119

Pro-forma adjustments – 7,717 (14) (122) 7,581

Pro-forma eBitda 59,333 55,764 5,103 (7,500) 112,700

Proportional share of Associates EBITDA 583 28,389 4,061 – 33,033

Pro-forma Proportional eBitda 59,916 84,153 9,164 (7,500) 145,733

Total assets includes:

Additions to non-current assets(other than financial assets 
and deferred tax) 82,241 403,072 – 13 485,326

Investments in associates 1,888 180,875 – – 182,763

total segment assets 513,486 811,798 291,677 103,937 1,720,898

total segment liabilities 85,452 128,880 75,276 340,050 629,658

EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Pro-forma and Pro-forma Proportional EBITDA are determined as follows:

eBitda is statutory net profit before tax adjusted to remove share of profit of associates, net finance costs and depreciation and amortisation.

adjusted eBitda is EBITDA adjusted to remove the impact of the non-recurring costs associated with the Qube Restructure and Qube’s 
previous trust structure, non-cash items such as fair value adjustments and non-operating expenses such as refinance costs and stamp duty.
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Pro-forma eBitda is Adjusted EBITDA amended to:

•	 exclude distributions received from MIPT for the 2 months it was under Qube’s previous trust structure; and

•	 include the EBITDA of Qube Ports & Bulk and Minto Properties for the 2 month period prior to the Qube Restructure.

Pro-forma Proportional eBitda is Pro-forma EBITDA adjusted to include the 12 month proportional EBITDA contribution from Qube’s 
associates and MIPT.

2011
Logistics

$’000
Ports & Bulk

$’000

Strategic
Assets
$’000

All other
segments

$’000
Total

$’000

Revenue from external customers 211,441 60,897 4,317 2,071 278,726

Pro-forma adjustments 143,600 200,518 847 (2,071) 342,894

Pro-forma revenue 355,041 261,415 5,164 – 621,620

Pro-forma share of associates revenue – 74,058 6,469 – 80,527

Pro-forma Proportional Revenue 355,041 335,473 11,633 – 702,147

A reconciliation of Proportional Pro-forma EBITDA to (loss)/profit after income tax is as follows:

net profit/(loss) before income tax 33,337 60,915 99 (23,000) 71,351

Share of profit of associates – – – – –

Interest income (1,096) (79) (131) (3,547) (4,853)

Interest expense 2,321 – 3,694 – 6,015

Depreciation and amortisation 6,985 – 411 – 7,396

eBitda 41,547 60,836 4,073 (26,547) 79,909

Fair value adjustments (17,814) (49,457) 890 (1,218) (67,599)

adjusted eBitda 23,733 11,379 4,963 (27,765) 12,310

Pro-forma adjustments 17,280 24,337 (768) 16,562 57,411

Pro-forma eBitda 41,013 35,716 4,195 (11,203) 69,721

Proportional share of Associates EBITDA – 23,199 4,651 – 27,850

Pro-forma Proportional eBitda 41,013 58,915 8,846 (11,203) 97,571

Total assets includes:

Investments in associates – – – – –

total segment assets 412,671  308,623  101,734  57,742  880,770

total segment liabilities 117,536 15  48,320  28,512  194,383

(i) Segment assets
The amounts provided to the Board with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent with that of the financial statements. 
These  assets are allocated based on the operations of the segment and the location of the asset. 

(ii) Segment liabilities
The amounts provided to the Board with respect to total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of the financial statements. 
These liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the segment.

The Group’s borrowings (excluding finance leases and facilities specifically relating to the Strategic Assets segment)  
and associated derivative instruments are not considered to be segment liabilities but rather managed centrally by the treasury function. 

4. Revenue

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

from continuing operations

Sales revenue

Transport and logistics services rendered 776,818 190,782

776,818 190,782

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012



55QUBE
Financialreport

5. otheR inCome

Notes
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 412 62

Fair value gains/(losses) on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (2,812) 67,599

Fair value losses on investment property 16 (4,182) –

Management fees 210 –

Dividend and distribution income 902 20,146

Gain realised on acquisition of subsidiary 3,927 –

Rental and property related income 6,686 –

Other 14 137

5,157 87,944

6. exPenSeS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Depreciation

 Buildings 109 –

 Plant and equipment 26,058 5,645

 Leasehold improvements 3,752 1,340

Total depreciation 29,919 6,985

Amortisation

 Customer contracts 5,885 –

 Operating rights 411 411

Total amortisation 6,296 411

depreciation and amortisation expense 36,215 7,396

Finance expenses

 Interest and finance charges paid/payable:

  Related corporations – 475

  Other persons 12,174 5,540

 Less: interest costs capitalised during the year (317) –

 Finance lease charges expensed 4,756 –

Finance costs expensed 16,613 6,015

Rental expense relating to operating leases

 Property 36,070 11,900

 Motor vehicles 1,410 4,196

 Plant and equipment 41,617 14,474

Total rental expense relating to operating leases 79,097 30,570

Employee benefits expense

 Defined contribution superannuation expenses 17,102 3,580

 Share-based payment expenses 9,043 –

 Other employee benefits expense 263,400 60,480

Total employee benefits expenses 289,545 64,060

Restructure costs

 Qube restructure termination payment 40,000 –

Stamp duty costs 10,307 –
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7. inCome tax exPenSe

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(a) Income tax (benefit)/expense:
Current tax 11,601 2,098

Deferred tax assets 7,706 (8,644)

Deferred tax liabilities (19,632) 12,438

(325) 5,892

Deferred income tax (revenue) expense included in income tax expense comprises:

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets (note 17) 7,706 (8,644)

(Decrease)/increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 23) (19,632) 12,438

(11,926) 3,794

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable
Loss/(profit) before income tax expense (1,795) 71,351

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2011 – 30%) (538) 21,405

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income:

 Rebatable dividends (20) (4,385)

 Share-based payments 129 (2,397)

 Distribution adjustment 1,266 –

 Reversal of deferred tax liability on unrealised gains for unlisted investments (25,291) (8,774)

 Non-assessable equity accounted profit (3,970) –

 Reset of tax cost bases for property plant and equipment 9,098 –

 Capital losses derecognised 8,839 –

 Non-deductible portion of termination fee 9,600 –

 Sundry items 562 43

income tax (benefit)/expense: (325) 5,892

(c) Amounts recognised directly in equity
Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period and not recognised in net profit or loss  
or other comprehensive income but directly debited or credited to equity:

 Current tax – credited directly to equity (note 25(b)) – –

 Net deferred tax – debited (credited) directly to equity (note 17) (368) (318)

(368) (318)

8. CuRRent aSSetS – CaSh and CaSh eQuivalentS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 67,697 18,546

Short-term deposits 50,868 60,314

118,565 78,860

(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the consolidated  
statement of cash flows as follows:

Balances as above 118,565 78,860

Balances per consolidated statement of cash flows 118,565 78,860

(b) Risk exposure
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in note 42. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of each reporting period is 
the carrying amount of each class of cash and cash equivalents mentioned above.

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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9. CuRRent aSSetS – tRade and otheR ReCeivaBleS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Trade receivables 119,209 53,576

Provision for impairment of receivables (a) (2,033) (1,162)

117,176 52,414

Prepayments 10,791 5,737

Accrued revenue 11,755 4,373

Other 2,101 1,061

141,823 63,585

(a) Impaired trade receivables
As at 30 June 2012 current trade receivables of the Group with a nominal value of $1,751,000 (2011 – $250,000) were impaired. The amount of 
the provision was $2,033,000 (2011 – $1,162,000). The individually impaired receivables are mainly the result of a difficult global and domestic 
environment that has impacted Qube’s customers. 

The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Up to 3 months – –

3 months and greater 1,751 250

1,751 250

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

At 1 July (1,162) –

Provision for impairment recognised during the year (1,337) (194)

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible 1,149 145

Provisions acquired as part of an acquisition (683) (1,113)

(2,033) (1,162)

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in ‘other expenses’ in profit or loss. Amounts charged to the 
allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

(b) Past due but not impaired
As at 30 June 2012, trade receivables of $35,995,000 (2011 – $912,000) were past due but not impaired. The ageing analysis of these trade 
receivables is as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Up to 3 months 32,697 –

3 months and greater 3,298 912

35,995 912

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on the credit history of 
these other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received when due. The Group does not hold any collateral in relation to 
these receivables.

(c) Fair value and credit risk
Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of each reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of receivables mentioned above. 
Refer to note 42 for more information on the risk management policy of the Group and the credit quality of the entity’s trade receivables.
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10. CuRRent aSSetS – inventoRieS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

At cost

 Fuel 428 361

 Steel strapping 44 302

 Containers 1,598 1,339

 Spare parts and other inventory 1,534 30

3,604 2,032

(a) Inventory expense
Inventories recognised as expense during the year ended 30 June 2012 amounted to $27,550,000 (2011 $14,090,000 which was for a 
6 month period).

Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value recognised as an expense during the year ended 30 June 2012 amounted to $Nil (2011 $Nil). 

11. finanCial aSSetS at faiR value thRough PRofit oR loSS
The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Current assets

 Australian listed securities 996 7,559

non-current assets

 Unlisted logistics investments – 398,908

As a result of the change in conditions arising from the Qube Restructure, Qube no longer accounts for its logistics investments on the basis 
of fair value but rather as subsidiaries or equity accounts its share of the associates’ profit after tax and reserves. Therefore, these investments 
have been reclassified from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to either subsidiaries or equity accounted investments.

Unlisted logistics 
investments

$’000

opening balance 1 july 2011 398,908

Reclassified as equity accounted investments (222,418)

Reclassified as investment property (19,432)

Derecognised on acquisition of subsidiaries (157,058)

Closing balance 30 june 2012  –

(a) Risk exposure and fair value measurements
Information about the Group’s exposure to price risk and about the methods and assumptions used in determining fair value is 
provided in note 42.

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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12. deRivative finanCial inStRumentS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Current liabilities

Interest rate swap contracts – a(i) 2,662 –

Exchange traded options– a(ii) – 43

Total current derivative financial instrument liabilities 2,662 43

(a) Instruments used by the Group
The Group is party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure to fluctuations in interest rates 
in accordance with the Group’s financial risk management policies (refer to note 42).

(i) Interest rate swap contracts 
Bank loans of the Group currently bear an average variable interest rate of 7.1% including line fees. It is policy to protect part of the loans from 
exposure to increasing interest rates. Accordingly, the Group has entered into interest rate swap contracts under which it is obliged to receive 
interest at variable rates and to pay interest at fixed rates. Swaps currently in place cover approximately 41.0% (2011 – 21.4%) of the variable 
loan principal outstanding with a weighted average base rate of 4.4%.

(ii) Exchange traded options – held for trading
In the prior year, the Group had entered into option contracts. An option contract is a contractual arrangements under which the seller (writer) 
grants the purchaser (holder) the right but not the obligation, either to buy or sell at or by a set date or during a set period, a specific amount  
of securities or a financial instrument at a predetermined price. 

(b) Risk exposures and fair value measurements
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of each reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of derivative mentioned above.

13. non-CuRRent aSSetS – tRade and otheR ReCeivaBleS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Loans to employees 4,002 4,002

Further information relating to loans and those provided under the ELTIP to related parties and key management personnel are set out in notes 
33 and 29 respectively.

(a) Impaired receivables and receivables past due
None of the non-current receivables are impaired or past due but not impaired.

(b) Fair values
The fair values and carrying amounts of non-current receivables are as follows:

2012 2011

Carrying
amount

$’000
Fair value

$’000

Carrying
amount

$’000
Fair value

$’000

Loans to employees 4,002 4,002 4,002 4,002

The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a current lending rate based on the ATO benchmark for loans to employees. 

(c) Risk exposure
Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk, foreign exchange and interest rate risk is provided in note 42. The maximum exposure  
to credit risk at the end of each reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of receivables mentioned above.
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14. non-CuRRent aSSetS – inveStmentS aCCounted foR uSing the eQuity method

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Investments in associates (note 37) 182,763 –

15. non-CuRRent aSSetS – PRoPeRty, Plant and eQuiPment

Land and
buildings

$’000

Plant and
equipment

$’000

Leasehold 
improvements

$’000
Total

$’000

at 1 july 2010

Cost – – – –

Accumulated depreciation – – – –

Net book amount – – – –

year ended 30 june 2011

Opening net book amount – – – –

Acquisition of subsidiary – 79,423 41,074 120,497

Additions – 5,401 2,621 8,022

Disposals – (232) – (232)

Depreciation charge – (5,645) (1,340) (6,985)

Closing net book amount – 78,947 42,355 121,302

at 30 june 2011

Cost – 84,592 43,695 128,287

Accumulated depreciation – (5,645) (1,340) (6,985)

Net book amount – 78,947 42,355 121,302

year ended 30 june 2012

Opening net book amount – 78,947 42,355 121,302

Acquisition of subsidiary 22,021 144,516 28,056 194,593

Additions 4,465 68,255 5,031 77,751

Disposals – (794) – (794)

Depreciation charge (109) (26,058) (3,752) (29,919)

Closing net book amount 26,377 264,866 71,690 362,933

at 30 june 2012

Cost or fair value 26,486 297,363 76,782 400,631

Accumulated depreciation (109) (32,497) (5,092) (37,698)

Net book amount 26,377 264,866 71,690 362,933

(a) Leased assets
Plant and equipment includes the following amounts where the Group is a lessee under a finance lease:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

leased equipment 

Cost 85,462 32,956

Accumulated depreciation (25,316) (11,226)

Net book amount 60,146 21,730

(b) Non-current assets pledged as security
Refer to note 22 for information on non-current assets pledged as security by the Group.

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012



61QUBE
Financialreport

16. non-CuRRent aSSetS – inveStment PRoPeRtieS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

at fair value

Opening balance at 1 July – –

Acquisition of subsidiaries 282,158 –

Capitalised subsequent expenditure 1,424 –

Net gain/(loss) from fair value adjustment (4,182) –

Closing balance at 30 June 279,400 –

(a) Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment properties

Rental income 6,260 –

Direct operating expenses from property that generated rental income (1,162) –

Direct operating expenses from property that did not generate rental income (132) –

(b) Valuation basis
The Group currently obtains independent valuations for its investment properties at least every two years or as otherwise required. At the end of 
each reporting period, the director’s update their assessment of the fair value of each property, taking into account the most recent valuations. 
The directors determine a property’s value within a range of reasonable fair value estimates.

In determining the fair value of investment properties held, the directors consider information from a variety of sources including:

(i)  current prices in an active market for properties of different nature or recent prices of similar properties in less active markets, adjusted 
to reflect those differences

(ii) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows

(iii)  capitalised income projections based upon a property’s estimated net market income, and a capitalisation rate derived from an analysis 
of market evidence.

The investment property held by the Group at Moorebank is leased to the Commonwealth of Australia (Department of Defence) (the “Tenant”), 
who occupies 100% of the property. The Tenant’s current lease expires on 25 March 2013 and they have two options, they can either extend 
the lease by 5 years or vacate the premises. As of the date of this report, the option to extend the lease has not been formally exercised.

Based on discussions with the Tenant to date, management have concluded there is reasonable grounds to believe the tenant will exercise the 
5 year lease option and therefore have adopted a property valuation at 30 June 2012 that reflects this outcome.

At the end of each reporting period the key assumptions used by the directors in determining fair value were in the following ranges for the 
Group’s portfolio of properties:

2012 
%

2011
% 

Discount rate 9.8 – 10.0 –

Terminal yield 6.2 – 10.7 –

Capitalisation rate 8.5 – 9.3 7.0 – 9.7 

Rental growth rate 2.8 – 3.0 –

All of the above key assumptions have been taken from the last independent valuation report for the assets in the portfolio.

(c) Non-current assets pledged as security
Refer to note 22 for information on non-current assets pledged as security by the Group.

(d) Contractual obligations
Refer to note 32 for disclosure of any contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property or for repairs, maintenance 
or enhancements.
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16. non-CuRRent aSSetS – inveStment PRoPeRtieS (CONT.)

(e) Leasing arrangements
Investment properties are leased to tenants under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. Minimum lease payments receivable on leases 
of investment properties are as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases of investment properties not recognised 
in the financial statements are receivable as follows:

Within one year 16,657 –

Later than one year but not later than 5 years 4,649 –

Later than 5 years – –

21,306 –

17. non-CuRRent aSSetS – defeRRed tax aSSetS
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Employee benefits 13,300 3,935

Plant and equipment 450 498

Tax losses 1,355 3,115

Capital losses – 8,102

Other provisions 7,706 7,817

Total deferred tax assets 22,811 23,467

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions (note 23) – (17,369)

Net deferred tax assets 22,811 6,098

Deferred tax assets expected to be recovered within 12 months 13,963 17,921

Deferred tax assets expected to be recovered after more than 12 months 8,848 5,546

22,811 23,467

Employee
benefits

$’000

Plant and
equipment

$’000

Tax 
losses
$’000

Capital 
losses
$’000

Other
$’000

Total
$’000Movements

at 1 july 2010 – – 1,989 6,807 291 9,087

(Charged)/credited 

– to profit or loss 619 124 1,126 1,295 5,480 8,644

– directly to equity – – – – (318) (318)

Acquisition of subsidiary 3,316 374 – – 2,364 6,054

at 30 june 2011 3,935 498 3,115 8,102 7,817 23,467

(Charged)/credited 

– to profit or loss 2,196 (48) (1,760) (8,102) 8 (7,706)

– directly to equity – – – – (368) (368)

Acquisition of subsidiary 7,169 – – – 249 7,418

at 30 june 2012 13,300 450 1,355 – 7,706 22,811

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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18. non-CuRRent aSSetS – intangiBle aSSetS

Goodwill
$’000

Operating 
rights
$’000

Customer 
contracts

$’000
Total

$’000

at 1 july 2010

Cost 1,889 7,609 – 9,498

Accumulated amortisation and impairment – (446) – (446)

Net book amount 1,889 7,163 – 9,052

year ended 30 june 2011

Opening net book amount 1,889 7,163 – 9,052

Additions – acquisition 189,783 – – 189,783

Amortisation charge – (411) – (411)

Closing net book amount 191,672 6,752 – 198,424

at 30 june 2011

Cost 191,672 7,609 – 199,281

Accumulated amortisation and impairment – (857) – (857)

Net book amount 191,672 6,752 – 198,424

year ended 30 june 2012

Opening net book amount 191,672 6,752 – 198,424

Finalisation of acquisition accounting (14,275) – 18,500 4,225

Acquisition of business 373,050 – 30,300 403,350

Amortisation charge – (411) (5,885) (6,296)

Closing net book amount 550,447 6,341 42,915 599,703

at 30 june 2012

Cost 550,447 7,609 48,800 606,856

Accumulated amortisation and impairment – (1,268) (5,885) (7,153)

Net book amount 550,447 6,341 42,915 599,703

Goodwill relates to:

(i) the acquisition of Kaplan Equity Limited in May 2010

(ii) obtaining control of Qube Logistics (Aust) Pty Limited (‘Qube Logistics’) (formally known as POTA Holdings Pty Limited) in January 2011 

(iii) the acquisition of Qube Logistics (QldT) Pty Ltd (formally known as Troncs Transport Solutions) in January 2011 by Qube Logistics.

(iv) Qube Logistics’ acquisition of Mackenzie Intermodal in July 2011 

(v)  the acquisition of a controlling interest in Qube Ports Pty Limited (‘Qube Ports & Bulk’) (formally known as POAGS Pty Limited) 
in September 2011

(vi) Qube Logistics’ acquisition of the assets of Westgate Ports at victoria Dock, Melbourne, in March 2012 and

(vii) Qube Ports & Bulk’s acquisition of Giacci in March 2012. 

Amortisation of $6,296,000 (2011 – $411,000) is included in depreciation and amortisation expense in profit or loss.

(a) Impairment tests for goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash generating units (CGUs) identified according to operating segments as presented below. The carrying 
amount of goodwill allocated to each CGU was recoverable at year end.

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Logistics 207,308 190,518

Ports & Bulk 343,139 1,154

550,447 191,672

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations, using cash flow projections based on financial budgets 
and forecasts prepared by management typically covering a three year period. Cash flows beyond a 3 year period are extrapolated using 
the estimated growth rates stated below. The growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the business for which 
the CGU operates.
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18. non-CuRRent aSSetS – intangiBle aSSetS (CONT.)

(b) Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations
The CGU cash flow projections used for impairment testing assume no material adverse change to economic conditions for 2013 to 2015. 
These projections have been revisited as at year end and compared to actual results for the same period. No significant variances were noted. 
On this basis, no changes to the underlying models and assumptions have been made. 

Terminal values after year three have been determined using a stable growth model, having regard to post tax discount rates and long-
term growth rates.

growth rate discount rate 

CGU
2012

%
2011

%
2012

%
2011

%

Logistics 3-4 3-4 12 12-13

Ports & Bulk 2-4 3-4 10-12 12-13

(c) Impact of possible changes in key assumptions
The base case discount rate used in the impairment testing of goodwill for each CGU where goodwill has been identified ranged from 
10% to 12%. If the discount rate increased by 1% or EBITDA margin reduced by 10% in each year of the valuation it would not result in an 
impairment of goodwill.

19. tRade and otheR PayaBleS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Current:

Trade payables and accruals 82,420 36,394

Share-based compensation payable (refer note 41) 3,900 –

Deferred consideration (refer note 34) 5,420 –

Investment manager fees payable – 849

GST payable 2,765 –

94,505 37,243

non-current:

Share-based compensation payable (refer note 41) 4,713 –

Deferred consideration (refer note 34) 13,810 –

18,523 –

20. CuRRent liaBilitieS – BoRRowingS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Secured

Lease liabilities (note 32) 19,306 7,583

Total secured current borrowings 19,306 7,583

(a) Security and fair value disclosures 
Information about the security relating to each of the secured liabilities and the fair value of each of the borrowings is provided in note 22.

(b) Risk exposures
Details of the Group’s exposure to risks arising from current and non-current borrowings are set out in note 42.

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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21. CuRRent liaBilitieS – PRoviSionS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Employee benefits 36,628 11,312

Onerous contract (property lease) 1,249 1,470

Provision for distribution 349 –

Performance fee (c) – 17,417

38,226 30,199

(a) Movements in provisions
Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

2012

Onerous
contract

$’000

Provision for
distribution

$’000

Performance
fee

$’000
Total

$’000

Current

Carrying amount at start of year 1,470 –  17,417 18,887

Charged/(credited) to profit or loss – – – –

– additional provisions recognised – 349 – 349

Transferred from non-current provision 816 – – 816

Amounts used during the year (1,037) – (17,417) (18,454)

Carrying amount at end of year 1,249 349 – 1,598

(b) Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months 
The current provision for employee benefits includes accrued annual leave, vesting sick leave and long-service leave. For long-service leave 
it covers all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the required period of service and also those where employees are 
entitled to prorata payments in certain circumstances. The entire amount of the provision is presented as current, since the Group does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations. However, based on past experience, the Group does not expect all 
employees to take the full amount of accrued leave or require payment within the next 12 months. The following amounts reflect leave that is not 
expected to be taken or paid within the next 12 months.

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Leave obligations expected to be settled after 12 months 15,041 –

(c) Performance fee
Prior to the Qube Restructure, Qube was a managed investment scheme. In accordance with the terms of the management agreement, the 
manager was entitled to a performance fee if it outperformed a benchmark return. This was assessed after the end of each financial year based 
on the performance for the financial year ended 30 June. A provision was raised in the accounts of $17.4 million (excluding GST) based on the 
performance for the year to 30 June 2011. The manager took up 50% of this fee in the form of shares in the new corporatised Qube entity.
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22. non-CuRRent liaBilitieS – BoRRowingS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

unsecured

Bank loans 311,588 –

Secured

Bank loans 73,147 93,305

Lease liabilities (note 32) 39,129 9,794

Total non-current borrowings 423,864 103,099

(a) Secured liabilities and assets pledged as security 
The total secured liabilities (current and non-current) are as follows:

Bank loan 73,147 93,305

Lease liabilities 58,435 17,377

Total secured liabilities 131,582 110,682

During the current financial year, the Group put in place a $550 million syndicated debt facility which includes term, revolver and multi-option 
facility tranches. The facility is unsecured, non-amortising and has a term of 4 years expiring on 31 May 2016. 

The Group has also put in place a $25 million non-amortising debt facility in relation to the properties it owns at Minto NSW. The facility is 
secured by first ranking mortgages over the Minto properties and expires in August 2013. 

The Group has partially funded its investment in MIPT through a $48.2 million (30 June 2011: $48.2 million) 3 year bullet non-revolving 
cash advance facility which expires in December 2013. The facility is secured by fixed and floating charges over the assets of KIL Property 
Investments Pty Limited (KPI) and KFM Property Logistics 1 Pty Limited (KPL). In addition Qube has guaranteed the obligations of KPI and KPL 
under this facility.

In the prior year, bank loans totalling $45 million were secured by fixed and floating charges over the assets of the Logistics division.

The borrowing facilities require certain financial ratios to be maintained. The Group is currently in compliance with its covenants under 
these facilities.

Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets recognised in the financial statements revert to the lessor in the 
event of default.

The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for current and non-current borrowings are:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Current

Floating charge

 Cash and cash equivalents 4,938 4,046

 Receivables 2 56,825

Total current assets pledged as security 4,940 60,871

non-current

First mortgage

 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss – 92,182

 Investment in Moorebank Industrial Property Trust 69,926 –

 Investment properties 45,400 –

115,326 92,182

Finance lease

 Plant and equipment 60,146 21,730

Floating charge

 Receivables – non-current – 5,079

 Plant and equipment – 100,443

– 105,522

Total non-current assets pledged as security 175,472 219,434

Total assets pledged as security 180,412 280,305

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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(b) Fair value
The carrying amounts and fair values of borrowings at the end of reporting period are:

2012 2011

Carrying
amount

$’000
Fair value

$’000

Carrying
amount

$’000
Fair value

$’000

on-balance sheet 

Non-traded financial liabilities

 Bank loans 384,735 384,735 93,305 93,305

 Lease liabilities 58,435 58,435 17,377 17,028

Traded financial liabilities

 Interest rate swaps 2,662 2,662 – –

 Traded options – – 43 43

445,832 445,832 110,725 110,376

(c) Risk exposures
Details of the Group’s exposure to risks arising from current and non-current borrowings are set out in note 42.

23. non-CuRRent liaBilitieS – defeRRed tax liaBilitieS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

the balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Property, plant and equipment 10,008 –

Intangible assets 12,875 –

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19 26,861

Other provisions 501 –

23,403 26,861

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions (note 17) – (17,369)

Net deferred tax liabilities 23,403 9,492

Deferred tax liabilities expected to be settled within 12 months 116 –

Deferred tax liabilities expected to be settled after more than 12 months 23,287 26,861

23,403 26,861
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23. non-CuRRent liaBilitieS – defeRRed tax liaBilitieS (CONT.)

Movements

Plant and
equipment

$’000

Intangible
assets
$’000

Financial
assets at 
fair value

through profit
and loss

$’000

Other
provisions

$’000
Total

$’000

at 1 july 2010 – – 14,423 – 14,423

(Charged)/credited 

– to profit or loss – – 12,438 – 12,438

– directly to equity – – – – –

Acquisition of subsidiary – – – – –

at 30 june 2011 – – 26,861 – 26,861

(Charged)/credited – – – – –

– to profit or loss 9,267 (1,765)  (26,842) (292) (19,632)

– directly to equity – – – – –

Acquisition of subsidiary 741 14,640 – 793 16,174

at 30 june 2012 10,008 12,875 19 501 23,403

24. non-CuRRent liaBilitieS – PRoviSionS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Employee benefits 5,051 1,790

Onerous contract (Property lease) 4,118 4,934

9,169 6,724

(a) Movements in provisions
Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

Onerous
contract

$’000
Total

$’000

Carrying amount at start of year – 1 July 2011 4,934 4,934

Transferred to current provision (816) (816)

Carrying amount at end of year – 30 June 2012 4,118 4,118

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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25. ContRiButed eQuity

Notes
2012

Shares
2011
Units

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(a) Share capital
Ordinary shares/units (c),(f)

 Fully paid 921,407,185 610,839,329 1,019,583 583,907

total contributed equity 921,407,185 610,839,329 1,019,583 583,907

(b) Movements in ordinary shares/units:

Date Details Notes

Number of
shares (unless

otherwise
stated)

Issue 
price $’000

1 July 2010 Opening balance 468,434,591 427,165

12 July 2010 Non-renounceable rights issue 40,499,941 $0.78 31,590

14 July 2010 Non-renounceable rights issue 6,338,677 $0.78 4,944

30 September 2010 Distribution reinvestment plan 2,594,820 $0.81 2,105

10 March 2011 Placement 36,280,204 $1.28 46,257

31 March 2011 Distribution reinvestment plan 1,582,824 $1.46 2,313

12 April 2011 Placement 55,108,272 $1.28 70,263

Less: capital raising costs (net of tax) – (730)

30 June 2011 Closing balance 610,839,329 583,907

30 August 2011 Qube Restructure – redemption of units (f) (610,839,329) $0.9559 (583,907)

30 August 2011 Qube Restructure – corporatisation (f) 610,839,330 $0.9559 583,959

31 August 2011 Qube Restructure – internalisation (f) 23,094,688 $1.3856 32,000

1 September 2011 Qube Restructure – acquisitions (f) 164,093,576 $1.4300 234,654

1 September 2011 2012 ELTIP Issue 3,900,000 $1.3574 5,294

31 October 2011 Dividend reinvestment plan 1,105,303 $1.2838 1,419

25 November 2011 KFM Performance fee payment 6,613,759 $1.3167 8,708

16 December 2011 Placement 63,909,774 $1.3300 85,000

4 January 2012 Purchase of Logistics NCI 15,848,214 $1.3500 21,395

16 March 2012 Giacci acquisition 13,560,241 $1.4749 20,000 

19 March 2012 victoria Dock acquisition 4,746,085 $1.4749 7,000

4 April 2012 Dividend reinvestment plan 1,696,215 $1.6799 2,849

29 June 2012 2013 ELTIP Issue 12,000,000 $1.5135 18,162

Less: Transaction costs arising on share issue – (1,225)

Current tax credit recognised directly in equity – 368

30 June 2012 Balance 921,407,185 1,019,583
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25. ContRiButed eQuity (CONT.)

(c) Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of and 
amounts paid on the shares held. 

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each 
share is entitled to one vote.

Ordinary shares have no par value and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 

(d) Dividend reinvestment plan
The Company has established a dividend reinvestment plan under which holders of ordinary shares may elect to have all or part of their dividend 
entitlements satisfied by the issue of new ordinary shares rather than by being paid in cash. Shares are issued under the plan at a discount to 
the market price determined by the Board. 

(e) Employee share scheme
Information relating to the employee share scheme, including details of shares issued under the scheme, is set out in note 41.

(f) Qube Restructure
The corporatisation element of the Qube Restructure was completed on 30 August 2011, whereby Qube was restructured from a trust into 
a corporate entity through Qube acquiring 100% of the issued units of Qube Trust. The restructure resulted in Qube being established as the 
ultimate parent entity of the Qube Group as unitholders received one ordinary share in Qube for each unit held in Qube Trust.

The restructure was accounted for as a continuation of the Qube Trust and accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of Qube have 
been prepared as a continuation of the consolidated financial statements of the Qube Trust. 

Consideration for the restructure is deemed to have been incurred by the legal subsidiary (‘Qube Trust’) in the form of equity instruments issued 
to the shareholders of the parent entity. The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred has been determined by reference to the 
carrying amount of Qube Trust’s equity items at the date of the restructure. 

(g) Capital risk management
The role of capital risk management at Qube is to support the maximisation of shareholder value. Qube’s capital risk management strategy, 
therefore, is to establish a framework that supports and facilitates the pursuit of Qube’s business strategy while minimising Qube’s 
costs of funding. 

Qube monitors its capital through a range of measures including net debt to EBITDA, interest cover ratio and other leverage ratios.

Specifically, the components of Qube’s financial strategy are to: 

•	 optimise the capital structure; 

•	 provide sufficient financial flexibility to enable Qube to develop its businesses; 

•	 maintain access to a broad range of funding sources; and 

•	 raise funds in the most cost effective manner possible.

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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26. ReSeRveS and Retained eaRningS

Notes
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(a) Reserves
Business combination reserve 28,436 28,436

Share-based payments  (23,026) –

Transactions with non-controlling interests (39,548) (7,847)

(34,138) 20,589

movements:

Business combination reserve

 Balance 1 July 28,436 –

Revaluation – subsidiary – 28,436

Balance 30 June 28,436 28,436

Share-based payments

 Balance 1 July – –

 ELTIP loans (23,456) –

 Employee share plan expense 41 430 –

 Balance 30 June (23,026) –

Transactions with non-controlling interests

 Balance 1 July (7,847) –

 Acquisition of additional ownership in K-NSS Pty Limited (4,007) –

 Acquisition of additional ownership in KW Auto Logistics Pty Limited (1,952) –

 Acquisition of options from management of subsidiaries (8,751) –

 Acquisition of additional ownership in Qube Logistics (16,991) (7,847)

 Balance 30 June (39,548) (7,847)

(b) Retained earnings
Movements in retained earnings were as follows:

 Balance 1 July 63,299 16,806

 Net (loss)/profit for the year (2,525) 61,838

 Dividends/distributions 28 (32,871) (17,568)

 Non-controlling interests profits acquired – 2,223

 Balance 30 June 27,903 63,299

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Business combination reserve
In April 2011, Qube acquired an additional 47.3% interest in Qube Logistics for a purchase consideration of $99,449,000. The fair value of Qube 
Logistics at the time was $127,885,000. 

The business combination reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid to acquire a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary, 
versus the book value of the shares acquired.

(ii) Share-based payments
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise:

•	 the grant date fair value of options issued to employees but not exercised

•	 the grant date fair value of shares issued to employees

(iii) Transactions with non-controlling interests
This reserve is used to record the differences which may arise as a result of transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result  
in a loss of control.

In June 2011, Qube acquired an additional interest in Qube Logistics for $11,991,000, representing its fair value at the time. The excess  
of Qube’s consideration paid over the $4,144,000 carrying value of the non-controlling interests in Qube Logistics has been booked as  
a debit to reserves.
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26. ReSeRveS and Retained eaRningS (CONT.)

In September 2011, Qube acquired an additional interest in K-NSS Pty Limited for $14,496,000, representing its fair value at the time. 
The excess of Qube’s consideration paid over the $10,489,000 carrying value of the non-controlling interests in K-NSS Pty Limited has been 
booked as a debit to reserves.

In September 2011, Qube acquired an additional interest in KW Auto Logistics Pty Limited for $4,957,000 representing its fair value at the time. 
The excess of Qube’s consideration paid over the $3,005,000 carrying value of the non-controlling interests in Qube Logistics has been booked 
as a debit to reserves.

In January 2012, Qube acquired an additional interest in Qube Logistics for $21,395,000 representing its fair value at the time. The excess 
of Qube’s consideration paid over the $4,404,000 carrying value of the non-controlling interests in Qube Logistics has been booked as a 
debit to reserves.

In July and December 2011, Qube acquired the remaining non-controlling interests in Qube Logistics and Qube Ports & Bulk through the buyout 
of existing management option schemes. The consideration paid of $8,751,000 represented the fair value at the time the agreements were 
entered into and has been booked as a debit to reserves.

27. non-ContRolling inteReStS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Interest in:

Share capital 102,509 12,307

Reserves – –

Retained earnings/(losses) (24,617) 6,285

77,892 18,592

In April 2011, Qube acquired an additional 47.3% interest in Qube Logistics. As a result of this transaction, the Group recognised a decrease in 
the carrying value of the non-controlling interests in Qube Logistics. The carrying amount of the non-controlling interest relating to Qube Logistics 
on the date of acquisition was $42,916,000. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of $38,402,000 and an increase in 
retained earnings of the parent of $2,223,000.

On 8 June 2012, Qube acquired an additional 36.67% interest in the Moorebank Industrial Property Trust (‘MIPT’). As a result of this transaction, 
the Group gained control of MIPT and subsequently consolidated the Trust. The carrying amount of the non-controlling interest relating to MIPT 
on the date of acquisition was $77,927,000. The Group recognised a discount on acquisition of $3,927,000 as a result of this transaction.

28. dividendS/diStRiButionS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(a) Ordinary shares/units
Final dividend/distribution for the year ended 30 June 2011 of 1.9 cents (2010 – 1.5 cents per unit) per fully 
paid share paid on 31 October 2011 (2010 – 30 September 2010)

 Fully franked based on tax paid @ 30% 15,162 7,729

Interim dividend/distribution for the year ended 30 June 2012 of 2.0 cents (2011 – 1.9 cents per unit) per fully 
paid share paid 4 April 2012 (2011 – 31 March 2011)

 Fully franked based on tax paid @ 30% 17,709 9,839

32,871 17,568

(b) Dividends not recognised at the end of the reporting period
In addition to the above dividends, since year end the directors have recommended the payment of a final 
dividend of 2.1 cents per fully paid ordinary share, (2011 – 1.9 cents) fully franked based on tax paid at 30%. 
The aggregate amount of the proposed dividend expected to be paid on 17 October 2012 out of retained 
earnings at 30 June 2012, but not recognised as a liability at the end of the year, is 19,349 15,162

Pursuant to the Qube Restructure the returns to security holders of Qube over the period have changed from distributions, whilst Qube was a 
trust structure, to dividends for payments made after completion of the corporatisation. As Qube was classed as a public trading trust for tax 
purposes, both the distributions and dividends were treated the same in security holders’ tax returns.

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012



73QUBE
Financialreport

(c) Franked dividends
The franked portions of the final dividends recommended after 30 June 2012 will be franked out of existing franking credits or out of franking 
credits arising from the payment of income tax in the year ending 30 June 2013.

Consolidated Parent entity

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate 
of 30% (2011 – 30%) 37,466 10,870 – 10,870

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the reporting period, adjusted for:

(a) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax

(b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date, and

(c) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date.

The consolidated amounts include franking credits that would be available to the parent entity if distributable profits of non-wholly owned 
subsidiaries were paid as dividends.

The impact on the franking account of the dividend recommended by the directors since the end of the reporting period, but not recognised as 
a liability at the end of each reporting period, will be a reduction in the franking account.

29. key management PeRSonnel diSCloSuReS
(a) Key management personnel compensation

2012
$

2011
$

Short-term employee benefits 3,086,768 –

Post-employment benefits 95,977 –

Long-term benefits 52,111 –

Termination benefits – –

Share-based payments 3,032,574 –

6,267,430 –

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report on pages 24 to 36.

(b) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel
(i) Plan shares provided as remuneration
Details of Plan Shares provided as remuneration and the exercise of such Plan Shares, together with their terms and conditions can be found  
in the remuneration report on pages 24 to 36.

(ii) Legacy incentive plans provided as remuneration
Details of the notional shares provided as remuneration and the exercise of such notional shares, under the Shadow Equity Plan together with 
their terms and conditions can be found in the remuneration report on pages 24 to 36.

(iii) Shareholdings
The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited and other key 
management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below.
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29. key management PeRSonnel diSCloSuReS (CONT.)

2012

Balance at 
the start of 

the year

Received 
during the 

year as part 
of ELTIP

Other 
changes 

during 
the year

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

name
directors of Qube logistics holdings limited
ordinary shares

Chris Corrigan – – 15,993,553 15,993,553

Sam Kaplan – – 35,431,696 35,431,696

Maurice James – 2,000,000 1,870,855 3,870,855

Allan Davies – – 2,595,795 2,595,795

Peter Dexter – – 175,000 175,000

Robert Dove – – – –
Ross Burney – – – –
Yutaka Nakagawa – – – –
Aage Holm – – – –
Alan Miles – – 5,600 5,600

Simon Moore – – 100,000 100,000

other key management personnel of the group

ordinary shares

Paul Digney – 500,000 3,562,368 4,062,368

Don Smithwick – 500,000 3,301,854 3,801,854

Paul Lewis – 1,000,000 210,000 1,210,000

Qube operated as a managed investment scheme with a Responsible Entity and an external investment manager for the year ended 30 June 
2011 and up until corporatisation in September 2011. There were no direct or indirect shareholdings by directors or key management personnel 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 and up until corporatisation in September 2011.

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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(c) Loans to key management personnel
Details of loans made to directors of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their 
personally related parties, are set out below.

(i) Aggregates for key management personnel

Balance at 
the start of 

the year
$

Loans 
granted 

during the 
year

$

Interest paid
 and payable
 for the year

$

Interest not
 charged

$

Balance at 
the end of 

the year
$

Number in
 Group at the

 end of 
the year

2012 – 6,464,402 145,905 – 6,464,402 4

2011 – – – – – –

(ii) Individuals with loans above $100,000 during the financial year

2012

Balance at 
the start of 

the year
$

Interest paid
and payable
for the year

$

Interest not
 charged

$

Balance at 
the end of 

the year
$

Highest
indebtedness

during 
the year

$

Name

Maurice James* – 78,000 – 2,715,000 2,715,000

Paul Lewis* – 19,500 – 1,435,500A 1,435,500

Don Smithwick* – – – 756,750A 756,750

Paul Digney* – 48,405 – 1,557,152A 1,587,256

In 2011, there were no loans to key management personnel that exceeded $100,000 at any time.

A Includes FY 13 ELTIP issue on 29 June 2012. 

* eltiP loans

 interest rate: The loan bears interest in an amount equal to the dividend paid on Plan Shares acquired with that loan, excluding any dividend characterised  
as a special dividend by the Board. Interest is payable within 3 business days of the date of payment of each dividend. 

 maturity date: The loan for any Plan Share must be repaid on the earlier of the date 3 months after the Plan Share vests (subject to extension for up to 2 years), 
the date 3 months following the termination of engagement of the executive, the date 5 business days after the Plan Share is sold, the date 5 years and 3 
months after making the loan and any earlier date set by the Board at the time of offer of the Plan Shares. The loan is a limited recourse loan with the amount  
to be repaid limited to the lesser of the principal advanced and the price realised on sale of the Plan Share. 

No write-downs or allowances for doubtful receivables have been recognised in relation to any loans made to key management personnel.
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29. key management PeRSonnel diSCloSuReS (CONT.)

(d) Other transactions with key management personnel 
(i) Legacy incentive plans – Equity Growth Bonus Plan
Paul Digney and Don Smithwick were both eligible senior executives entitled to a cash bonus under the Equity Growth Bonus Plan. The terms 
and conditions and bonus payments provided as remuneration can be found in the remuneration report on pages 24 to 36.

(ii) Purchase of Qube Logistics (Aust) Pty Limited shares
In January 2012, shares held by management in Qube Logistics (Aust) Pty Limited were bought by Qube. Paul Digney, MD of the Qube Logistics 
division held 2,284,087 shares. These shares were acquired by Qube at a price of $1.81 per share, through the issue of 3,062,368 Qube shares 
at $1.35 per share. 

Aggregate amounts of each of the above types of other transactions with key management personnel of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited:

2012
$

2011
$

Amounts recognised as revenue

Director fees 90,000 –

Aggregate amounts of assets at the end of each reporting period relating to the above types of other transactions with key management 
personnel of the Group:

2012
$

2011
$

Non-current assets 800,402 –

30. RemuneRation of auditoRS
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related practices and 
non-related audit firms:

2012
$

2011
$

(a) PwC Australia
(i) Audit and other assurance services

Audit and review of financial statements 440,000 271,886

Other assurance services

 Audit of other subsidiary financial statements 8,900 –

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services 448,900 271,886

(ii) Taxation services

 Tax compliance services 57,300 58,000

 Tax advisory services 384,075 369,426

Total remuneration for taxation services 441,375 427,426

(iii) Other services

 Other services – 274,399

Total remuneration of PwC Australia 890,275 973,711

(b) Non-PwC audit firms
(i) Audit and other assurance services

Audit and review of financial statements 75,000 –

total auditors’ remuneration 965,275 973,711

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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31. ContingenCieS
Contingent liabilities
The Group had contingent liabilities at 30 June 2012 in respect of:

Guarantees
Qube’s subsidiary Qube Logistics has contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2012 of $2,511,200 (2011: $Nil) relating to rolling stock outstanding 
payments, pending full accreditation.

Qube has provided a guarantee on behalf of Northern Stevedoring Services (NSS) for the lower of $6 million or 50% of the funds 
advanced to NSS. 

Qube’s subsidiary Qube Logistics has unsecured bank guarantees amounting to $6,612,668 (2011: $3,522,000).

Qube’s subsidiary Qube Ports & Bulk has unsecured bank guarantees amount to $3,983,466 (2011: $Nil).

32. CommitmentS
(a) Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of each reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Payable:

Within one year 91,927 22,300

Later than one year but not later than five years – –

Later than five years – –

91,927 22,300

Included within the above balance is $33,634,000 in capital expenditure for plant and equipment by Qube Ports & Bulk for contracted work and 
property related costs of $44,500,000 associated with the Macarthur Intermodal Shipping Terminal Pty Ltd (MIST) acquisition.

(b) Lease commitments: Group as lessee
(i) Non-cancellable operating leases
The Group has non-cancellable operating leases in relation to plant, equipment and motor vehicles expiring within two to five years. The leases 
have varying terms including fully-maintained or non-maintained, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases 
are renegotiated. 

It also has non-cancellable land only operating leases in relation to warehouses, rail terminals and offices expiring within two to fifteen years. 
The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. Limited excess occupancy spaces are sub-let to third parties also under 
non-cancellable operating leases or casual rental basis.

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Within one year 55,374 34,639

Later than one year but not later than five years 112,827 79,920

Later than five years 104,760 56,529

272,961 171,088

There are no other outstanding contingent assets and liabilities or commitments as at 30 June 2012 (2011: Nil)
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2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(ii) Finance leases

Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:

Within one year 23,009 7,583

Later than one year but not later than five years 44,235 11,514

Later than five years 6 56

Minimum lease payments 67,250 19,153

Future finance charges (8,815) (1,776)

Total lease liabilities 58,435 17,377

Representing lease liabilities:

Current (note 20) 19,306 7,583

Non-current (note 22) 39,129 9,794

58,435 17,377

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:

Within one year 19,306 7,207

Later than one year but not later than five years 39,124 10,125

Later than five years 5 45

Minimum lease payments 58,435 17,377

33. Related PaRty tRanSaCtionS
(a) Parent entities
The ultimate parent entity and ultimate controlling party of the Group is Qube Logistics Holdings Limited. 

(b) Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

(c) Key management personnel
Disclosure relating to key management personnel are set out in note 29.

(d) Transactions with other related parties
Prior the Qube Restructure, Qube was a managed investment scheme and as such did not have any related party dealings in the year ended 
30 June 2011 other than those set out under (h) responsible entity fees. 

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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The following transactions occurred with related parties:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Stevedoring services 

– received from associates 29,422 –

– received from other related entities 31,678 –

– paid to associates 40,119 –

Logistics services 

– received from associates 5,057 –

– received from other related entities 15 –

– paid to associates 1,352 –

– paid to other related entities 480 –

Management fees earned

– from associates 103 –

Management fees paid

– to related entities – (refer h below) 2,575 –

Consulting fees earned

– from other related entities 162 –

Rental income

– from associates 5,591 –

Dividend and distribution income

– from associates 16,783 –

(e) Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods and services
The following balances are outstanding at the end of each reporting period in relation to transactions with related parties:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Current receivables (provision of services)

Associates and other related parties 267 –

Current payables (payment for services)

Associates and other related parties 8,538 –

(f) Loans to/from related parties

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Loans from Qube Logistics Holdings Limited (ultimate Australian parent entity)

Beginning of the year – –

Loans advanced 5,664 –

Interest charged 97 –

Interest paid  (97) –

End of year 5,664 –

Loans from Qube Logistics (Aust) Pty Limited

Beginning of the year – –

Loans advanced 800 –

Interest charged 48 –

Interest paid  (48) –

End of year 800 –

Loan repayments of $1,500,000 were received from associated entities during the year. Loans to associates are considered part of the Group’s 
investment in associates. 

There is no allowance account for impaired receivables in relation to any outstanding balances, and no expense has been recognised in respect 
of impaired receivables due from related parties.
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33. Related PaRty tRanSaCtionS (CONT.)

(g) Terms and conditions
Transactions relating to dividends and subscription for new ordinary shares were on the same terms and conditions that applied to other shareholders. 

All other transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.

(h) Responsible Entity Fees
Up until 31 August 2011, Qube was a managed investment scheme. Under the terms of Qube’s Constitution, the Responsible Entity was entitled 
to receive a minimum annual fee of $82,500 (including GST) plus a gross asset fee based on a percentage of the gross asset value of Qube.

Kaplan Funds Management Pty Limited (“Manager”) was appointed as investment manager for Qube on the 17 November 2006, through an 
investment management agreement with the Responsible Entity.

Under the terms of Qube’s Constitution, the Manager was entitled to receive a management fee based on a percentage of the gross 
asset values of listed infrastructure, utility and other investments, and a performance fee for a return above the benchmark performance of 
Qube’s portfolio. 

The Manager was also at its option, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and the ASX Listing Rules, able elect to receive the 
investment management fee or the performance fee in units.

The transactions during the year and amounts payable at year end between Qube and the Responsible Entity and Manager were as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Responsible Entity fees to The Trust Company (RE Services) Limited 262 185

Management fees to Kaplan Funds Management Pty Limited 2,312 8,480

Provision for performance fee to Kaplan Funds Management Pty Limited – 17,417

2,574 26,082

34. BuSineSS ComBinationS
(a) Mackenzie Acquisition
On 6 July 2011, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Mackenzie Intermodal Pty Ltd. The acquisition has increased the 
Logistics division’s South Australian capability.

Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

$’000

Purchase consideration

 Cash paid 16,000

 Deferred consideration 1,976

Total purchase consideration 17,976

The determined fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:

Fair value
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 203

Trade & other receivables 3,326

Inventories 39

Plant and equipment 12,081

Investments 1,616

Net deferred tax assets 287

Bank overdraft (346)

Trade payables (2,468)

Provision for employee benefits (843)

Finance lease liabilities (8,122)

Net identified assets acquired 5,773

Add: goodwill 12,203

Net assets acquired 17,976

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
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The goodwill is attributable to Mackenzie’s strategic locations, strong position and profitability in the freight and transport logistics market  
along with synergies expected to arise after the acquisition. Goodwill does not form part of the cost base of the asset.

(i) Acquisition related costs
Acquisition related costs of $146,000 are included in other expenses in profit or loss.

(ii) Deferred consideration
The deferred consideration arrangement requires the Group to pay the former owners of Mackenzie a maximum of $2,000,000 payable  
12 months after the acquisition date, dependent on satisfaction of certain conditions. 

A final payment of $1,976,000 was made on 6 July 2012 under the terms of the deferred consideration. 

(iii) Acquired receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables is $3,326,000 and includes trade receivables with a fair value of $2,963,000 which are expected  
to be collectible.

(iv) Revenue and profit contribution
The acquired business contributed revenues of $30,661,000 and net profit after tax of $2,025,000 to the Group for the period from 6 July 2011 
to 30 June 2012. The acquisition has been recorded in the financial statements as if it occurred on 1 July 2011.

(b) K-POAGS Acquisition
Pursuant to the Qube Restructure acquisitions, the Group acquired the 45.8% interest in K-POAGS Pty Ltd that it did not previously own, 
making K-POAGS Pty Ltd’s operating business a wholly owned entity of Qube. The acquisition consideration was made up of a combination of 
Qube shares and cash. The share component of the purchase consideration comprised 116,084,238 shares with a fair value of $1.43 per share, 
this being the price on the date of Qube obtaining control. The shares were issued on 1 September 2011.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:

$’000

Purchase consideration

Cash paid 5,038

Total cash consideration 5,038

Fair value of shares issued 166,000

Fair value of equity interest held before the business combination 162,079

Total 333,117

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:

Fair value
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 18,068

Trade & other receivables 43,537

Property, plant and equipment 86,485

Investments 240

Intangible assets 30,300

Trade and other payables (26,395)

Tax payable (3,781)

Provision for employee benefits (17,945)

Borrowings (55,000)

Net deferred tax liabilities (4,829)

Other liabilities (4,116)

Net identified assets acquired 66,564

Add: goodwill 266,553

Net assets acquired 333,117

The goodwill is attributable to Qube Ports & Bulk’s operating business’s national presence, strong position and profitability in providing 
stevedoring and other logistics services in the import and export of non-containerised cargo market particularly for the auto, bulk and project 
cargo sectors. Goodwill does not form part of the cost base of the asset.
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34. BuSineSS ComBinationS (CONT.)
(i) Acquired receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables is $43,537,000 and includes trade receivables with a fair value of $41,851,000 which are expected 
to be collectible.

(ii) Revenue and profit contribution 
The acquired business contributed revenues of $301,756,000 and net profit after tax of $19,920,000 to the Group for the period to 30 June 
2012. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2011, revenue and profit after tax for year ended 30 June 2012 would have been $353,329,000 
and $23,725,000 respectively.

(c) Victoria Dock Acquisition
On 19 March 2012, Qube entered into an agreement with Westgate Ports Pty Limited and Westgate Port Services Pty Limited (‘Westgate’) 
to acquire the assets and take assignment of the leases that Westgate holds at victoria Dock in Melbourne for $46.3m inclusive of debt. 
The transaction was completed on 19 March 2012.

The consideration was paid through the issue of 4.7 million Qube shares at an issue price of $1.4749 per share with the balance paid in cash 
funded through the Group’s existing cash and debt facilities. 

The acquisition provides the Group with long-term tenure on a major site located within Australia’s busiest container port precinct.

The provisionally determined fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:

$’000

Purchase consideration

Cash paid 37,954

Total cash consideration 37,954

Fair value of shares issued 7,000

Total 44,954

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:

Fair value
$’000

Plant and equipment 28,771

Finance lease liabilities (1,283)

Net deferred tax liabilities (71)

Net identified assets acquired  27,417

Add: goodwill 17,537

Net assets acquired 44,954

The goodwill is attributable to the strategic advantage of having a major facility with scope for further expansion at the port. Goodwill does not 
form part of the cost base of the asset.

(i) Revenue and profit contribution 
It is impracticable and unreliable to report separate revenue and profit contributions since the acquisition of victoria Dock or from the 
commencement of the financial year. This is the result of the structure and nature of the transaction. Operationally the business assets acquired 
have been integrated within Qube Logistics’ existing victorian business almost immediately.

(ii) Acquisition related costs
Acquisition related costs of $110,000 are included in other expenses in profit or loss.

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
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(d) Giacci Acquisition
On 24 February 2012, Qube reached a binding agreement to acquire Giacci Holdings Pty Limited (‘Giacci’) for $119m. The transaction was 
completed on 16 March 2012. The purchase price included an $18m two year deferred payment subject to adjustments based on the earnings 
of the business in the future which has been discounted to $16m in the financial statements.

The acquisition was funded through the issue of $20m of new Qube shares to the vendor at an issue price of $1.4749 per share with the 
balance of the purchase funded from the Group’s available cash and debt facilities. 

The acquisition will enable Qube to provide a complete mine-to-ship logistics solution covering transport, stockpile management and 
stevedoring. The acquisition sits within the Ports & Bulk division.

The provisionally determined fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:

$’000

Purchase consideration

Cash paid 81,209

Total cash consideration 81,209

Fair value of shares issued 20,000

Deferred consideration 16,062

Total 117,271

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:

Fair value
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 4,041

Trade & other receivables 17,769

Plant and equipment 67,034

Inventories 388

Trade and other payables (8,938)

Tax payable (2,499)

Provision for employee benefits (2,392)

Borrowings (1,345)

Finance lease liabilities (32,686)

Net deferred tax asset 469

Net identified assets acquired 41,841

Add: goodwill 75,430

Net assets acquired 117,271

The goodwill is attributable to Giacci’s strong market position and diversified operations. Goodwill does not form part of the cost 
base of the asset.

(i) Acquired receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables is $17,769,000 and includes trade receivables with a fair value of $13,850,000 which are expected 
to be collectible.

(ii) Revenue and profit contribution 
The acquired business contributed revenues of $31,497,000 and net profit after tax of $1,404,000 to the Group for the period from 16 March 
to 30 June 2012. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2011, revenue and profit after tax for the ended 30 June 2012 would have been 
$99,226,000 and $9,499,000 respectively.

(iii) Acquisition related costs
Acquisition related costs of $2,588,672 are included in other expenses in profit or loss.
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34. BuSineSS ComBinationS (CONT.)
(iv) Deferred consideration
The deferred consideration arrangement requires the Group to pay the former owners of Giacci various amounts, payable up to 24 months 
after the acquisition date. Actual consideration payable is contingent on certain future conditions including financial results for the year ending 
30 June 2013. The minimum amount payable is nil and the maximum is $18,200,000. 

In addition to the deferred consideration there is an arrangement with one of the former owners who has continued with the business as its 
Managing Director, whereby his remuneration for the two years from the acquisition date is dependent on the financial results for the year ending 
30 June 2013. This cost is treated as an operating expense.

(e) Moorebank Acquisition
On 8 June 2012, Qube completed the acquisition of an additional 36.67% interest in Moorebank Industrial Property Trust (‘MIPT’) for a total 
consideration of $82m. The acquisition takes Qube’s overall interest in MIPT to 66.67% giving it control. 

The provisionally determined fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:

$’000

Purchase consideration

Cash paid 82,000

Total cash consideration 82,000

Fair value of equity interest held before the business combination 69,926

Total  151,926

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:

Fair value
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 1,024

Trade & other receivables 15

Investment property 234,000

Trade and other payables (1,259)

Net identified assets acquired 233,780

Less: non-controlling interest (77,927)

Less: discount on acquisition (3,927)

Net assets acquired  151,926

The gain on acquisition is primarily the result of the purchase price reflecting an agreed discount on market value of the assets of MIPT.

(i) Revenue and profit contribution 
The acquired business contributed revenues of $1,053,000 and net profit after tax of $944,000 to the Group for the period from 8 June 2012 
to 30 June 2012. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2011, revenue and profit after tax for the year ended 30 June 2012 would have been 
$21,746,000 and $4,025,000 (including a negative fair value adjustment of $10.6m) respectively.

(ii) Acquisition related costs
Acquisition related costs of $4,453,000 are included in other expenses in profit or loss.

(f) Purchase consideration – cash outflow

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash acquired

Cash consideration 222,201 16,042

Less: Balances acquired

Cash 23,336 15,330

Bank overdraft (346) (2,240)

22,990 13,090

Outflow of cash – investing activities 199,211 2,952

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
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35. SuBSidiaRieS and tRanSaCtionS with non-ContRolling inteReStS
(a) Significant investments in subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with the 
accounting policy described in note 1(b).

equity holding 

Name of entity
Country of

incorporation
Class of

shares/units
2012

%
2011

%

Qube Logistics Holdings Limited * Australia Ordinary

Qube Terminals Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 –

Qube Property Management Services Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 –

Qube RE Services Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 –

Qube Properties Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 –

Qube Logistics Trust* Australia Ordinary 100 –

Kaplan Equity Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 100

KFM Asian Logistics 1 Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 100

KFM Europe Logistics Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 100

KIL Property Investments Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100

KFM Property Logistics 1 Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100

Minto Properties Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 50

Moorebank Industrial Property Trust Australia Ordinary  66.67  30

KW Auto Logistics Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100  77.5

K-NSS Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100  76.6

Oversea & General Stevedoring Co Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100  76.6

K-AA Terminals Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 77.2

P&O Wharf Management Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 77.2

Qube Ports & Bulk:

K-POAGS Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 54.2

KFM Logistics Investments 2 Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 54.2

Qube Ports Pty Ltd (formally known as POAGS Pty Ltd)* Australia Ordinary 100 54.2

Qube Ports & Bulk subsidiaries:

Qube Ports (No 1) Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 54.2

Qube Bulk Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 54.2

Continental Freight Services (Aust.) Pty. Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 54.2

Markhaven Pty. Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 54.2

Qube Defence Logistics Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 54.2

Stonecrest Enterprises Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 –

Giacci Holdings Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 –

Giacci Port Services Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 –

Giacci Limestone Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 –

Giacci Group Operations Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 –

Giacci SA Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 –

Giacci Bros. Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 –

Giacci Management Services Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 –

Giacci NT Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 –

Giacci Contracting Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 –

Qube logistics:

K-POTA Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 100

Qube Logistics (Aust) Pty Ltd (formally known as POTA Holdings Pty Ltd)* Australia Ordinary 100 94.7
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equity holding 

Name of entity
Country of

incorporation
Class of

shares/units
2012

%
2011

%

Qube logistics subsidiaries:

Qube Logistics (Qld) Pty Ltd * Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (Global) Pty Ltd * Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

POTA Global Management (NZ) Limited New Zealand Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (SB) Pty Ltd * Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (NSW) Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (QldT) Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (QldT1) Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (QldT2) Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (QldT3) Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (QldT4) Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (QldT5) Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (QldT6) Pty Ltd* Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (vic) Pty Ltd * Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (WA) Pty Ltd * Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (WA1) Pty Ltd * Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (H&S) Pty Ltd * Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (Rail) Pty Ltd * Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (SA) Pty Ltd * Australia Ordinary 100 94.7

Qube Logistics (SA1) Pty Ltd * Australia Ordinary 100 -

* These subsidiaries have taken advantage of relief from the necessity to prepare financial reports in accordance with Class Order 98/1418 issued by the 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission. For further information refer to note 36.

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests
The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Qube Logistics, Qube Ports & Bulk, K-NSS Pty Limited and KW Auto Logistics Pty Limited  
on the equity attributable to owners of Qube during the year is summarised as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired 17,898 4,144

Consideration paid to non-controlling interests (49,599) (11,991)

Excess consideration paid recognised in the transactions with non-controlling interests reserve within equity (31,701) (7,847)

Further detail in relation to each transaction can be found in note 26(c).

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
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36. deed of CRoSS guaRantee
The parent entity and the companies noted in note 35(a) are parties to a deed of cross guarantee under which each Company guarantees  
the debts of the others. By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial 
report and director’s report under Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

(a)  Consolidated income statement, statement of comprehensive income and summary of movements in consolidated 
retained earnings 

The above companies represent a ‘closed group’ for the purposes of the Class Order, and as there are no other parties to the deed of cross 
guarantee that are controlled by the parent entity, they also represent the ‘extended closed group’.

Set out below is a consolidated income statement, a consolidated statement of comprehensive income and a summary of movements 
in consolidated retained earnings for the year ended 30 June 2012 of the closed group consisting of the parent entity and the entities 
listed in note 35(a).

2012
$’000

Consolidated income statement

Revenue from continuing operations 776,818

Other income 151

Direct transport and logistics costs 251,824

Repairs and maintenance costs 34,569

Employee benefits expense 289,545

Fuel, oil and electricity costs 52,246

Occupancy and property costs 46,183

Depreciation and amortisation expense 35,803

Professional fees 9,394

Refinance costs 7,419

Qube restructure termination payment 40,000

Trust related expenses 274

Other expenses 11,741

Results from operating activities (2,029)

Finance income 4,582

Finance costs (11,926)

net finance costs (7,344)

Share of net profit of associates accounted for using the equity method 12,792

Profit before income tax 3,419

Income tax/(benefit) (603)

Profit for the year 4,022

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Profit for the year 4,022
other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax –

total comprehensive income for the year 4,022

total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:

 Owners of Qube 4,022

 Non-controlling interests –

4,022

Summary of movements in consolidated retained earnings
Retained earnings at the beginning of the financial year 65,105

Profit for the year 4,022

Dividends provided for or paid (32,871)

Retained earnings at the end of the financial year 36,256



88 QUBE
ANNUALREPORT2012

36. deed of CRoSS guaRantee (CONT.) 
(b) Consolidated balance sheet
Set out below is a consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2012 of the closed group consisting of the parent entity and the entities listed 
in note 35(a). 

2012
$’000

aSSetS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 112,634

Trade and other receivables 141,819

Inventories 3,604

Current tax receivable 1,229

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 996

Total current assets 260,282

non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 4,002

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 152,057

Investments accounted for using the equity method 182,763

Property, plant and equipment 362,933

Deferred tax assets 19,205

Intangible assets 593,361

Other 1,396

Total non-current assets 1,315,717

total assets 1,575,999

liaBilitieS
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 46,685

Borrowings 16,619

Derivative financial instruments 1,436

Provisions 37,877

Total current liabilities 102,617

non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 17,710

Borrowings 401,584

Deferred tax liabilities 23,218

Provisions 9,169

Total non-current liabilities 451,681

total liabilities 554,298

net assets 1,021,701

eQuity

Contributed equity 1,019,583

Reserves (34,138)

Retained earnings 36,256

Capital and reserves attributable to owners of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited 1,021,701

Non-controlling interests –

total equity 1,021,701

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
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37. inveStmentS in aSSoCiateS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(a) Movements in carrying amounts
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year – –

Reclassification from financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 221,342 –

Additional investment 33,812 –

Share of profits after income tax 16,431 –

Share of investment property revaluation loss (3,196) –

Dividends received/receivable (15,701) –

Reclassification to subsidiary (69,925) –

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 182,763 –

Prior to the Qube Restructure, Qube was accounting for its interests in associates on the basis of fair value. Therefore there is no comparable 
information for the year ended 30 June 2011.

(b) Summarised financial information of associates
The Group’s share of the results of its principal associates and its aggregated assets (including goodwill) and liabilities are as follows: 

Company’s share of:

Ownership
Interest 

%
Assets
$’000

Liabilities
$’000

Revenues
$’000

Profit
$’000

2012

Australian Amalgamated Terminals Pty Ltd 50 57,691 56,715 30,177 7,094

Northern Stevedoring Services Pty Ltd 50 24,646 20,594 28,289 4,072

Prixcar Services Pty Ltd* 25 14,188 2 14,878 1,353

Moorebank Industrial Property Trust** 30 – – – 443

Mackenzie Hillebrand 50 4,582 2,694 11,586 273

101,107 80,005 84,930 13,235

* Prixcar investment held through Qube’s 50% interest in “K” Line Auto Logistics Pty Ltd

** Moorebank was reclassified to a subsidiary holding as of 8 June 2012, when control was effectively gained. 

All of the above associates are incorporated in Australia. 

38. eventS oCCuRRing afteR the RePoRting PeRiod
(a) Acquisition of Macarthur Intermodal Shipping Terminal Pty Limited (MIST)
On 7 June 2012, Qube executed an agreement to acquire 100% of the issued share capital of MIST which together with its wholly owned 
operating subsidiaries trades as Independent Transport Group (ITG). The acquisition was completed on 22 August 2012.

The total consideration payable for the acquisition of MIST and property is approximately $95 million (excluding stamp duty and associated 
transaction costs) and will be funded from Qube’s new syndicated debt facility. 

The financial effects of this transaction have not been brought to account at 30 June 2012. The operating results and assets and liabilities  
of the Company will be consolidated from 22 August 2012.
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39. ReConCiliation of PRofit afteR inCome tax to net CaSh inflow fRom oPeRating aCtivitieS

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Profit/(loss) for the year (1,470)  65,459

Depreciation and amortisation 36,215 7,396

Non-cash employee benefits expense – share-based payments 9,043 –

Amounts credited to provision against assets 367 –

Fair value adjustment to investment property 4,182 –

Gain realised on acquisition of subsidiary (3,927) –

Termination fee settled by share issue 40,708 –

Profit on sale of property plant and equipment (412) (62)

Share of profits of associates and joint venture partnership (net of dividends received) 2,740 –

Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from purchase of controlled entities

 (Increase) in trade debtors and other receivables (19,755) (3,986)

 (Increase) in inventories (293) –

 (Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9,195 (64,921)

 (Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets (9,295) –

 (Decrease)/increase in trade creditors 6,629 2,550

 (Decrease)/increase in other operating liabilities 4,606 –

 Increase/(decrease) in provision for income taxes payable (10,057) (3,104)

 Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities (2,263) 4,474

 Increase/(decrease) in other provisions (13,044) 18,461

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 53,169 26,267

(a) Non-cash investing and financing items

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

The following items were financed through the issue of Qube shares:

K-POAG’s acquisition 166,000 –

ELTIP issues 23,456 –

Qube Restructure termination payment 32,000 –

Performance Fee 8,708 –

Dividend reinvestment plan 4,268 4,418

Westgate acquisition 7,000 –

Giacci acquisition  20,000 –

261,432 4,418

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
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40. eaRningS PeR ShaRe/unit

2012
Cents

2011
Cents

(a) Basic earnings per share/unit
From continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company – 11.40

Total basic earnings per share/unit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company – 11.40

(b) Diluted earnings per share/unit
From continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company – 11.40

Total diluted earnings per share/unit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company – 11.40

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(c) Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings per share/unit
Basic and diluted earnings per share/unit

(Loss)/profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company used in calculating basic earnings 
per share/unit

 From continuing operations (2,525) 61,838

2012
Number

2011
Number

(d) Weighted average number of shares/units used as the denominator
Weighted average number of ordinary shares/units used as the denominator in calculating basic and 
diluted earnings per share/unit 821,614,733 542,545,605

41. ShaRe-BaSed PaymentS
(a) Executive long-term incentive plan (ELTIP)
Qube has established the ELTIP to assist it to engage and retain the services of senior staff and provide an incentive to promote the businesses 
of Qube, the terms of which are as follows: 

Under the ELTIP, Qube provides an interest-bearing loan to senior executives to finance the purchase of Plan Shares, which vest progressively 
subject to service and performance conditions determined by the Board. 

Qube intends to issue up to a maximum of 5% of the issued capital of Qube under the ELTIP. 

Participation Only those executives invited by the Board to apply are eligible to participate.

Instrument Plan Shares (ordinary shares with vesting subject to performance conditions)

Issue price The issue price for Plan Shares acquired is the volume weighted average price (vWAP) at which shares trade on ASX over  
the 20 trading days prior to the date of issue of the shares.

Performance 
period

5 years and 3 months after making the loan and any earlier date set by the Board at the time of offer of the Plan Shares.

Shareholder 
approval

Shareholders approved the ELTIP at Qube’s 2011 AGM. Issues of Plan Shares under the ELTIP to the Managing Director  
must be approved by shareholders. 

Performance 
conditions

The performance conditions imposed may vary from offer to offer, but generally relate to financial performance and continued 
engagement with Qube. Presently, the financial performance criteria are based on improvements in the profitability of the 
company as measured by a combination of compound annual shareholder return and earnings per share growth. The Board 
may also determine to impose length of service conditions in order to maximise the long-term incentive benefit of the ELTIP.

Method for 
assessing 
performance

vesting of the Plan Shares is typically subject to Qube achieving performance conditions set by the Board linked to 
shareholder return: For the ELTIP as at the date of this report the performance hurdles comprise:
(a) a compound annual shareholder return (ASR), including share price growth and dividends (presently set at 10%),
(b) a compound annual increase in the underlying earnings per share (presently set at 11%). 

vesting criteria The Plan Shares vest in 3 tranches. Once vested, the Plan Shares may be traded subject only to the repayment of the loan 
referrable to those Plan Shares and Qube’s Securities Trading Policy.
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Lapsing and 
forfeiture

Plan Shares will be forfeited, or sold by the company to repay the loan if performance hurdles are not achieved, or the 
executive is no longer employed by Qube.

Dividends A participant in the ELTIP is entitled to receive any dividend or distribution paid in respect of Plan Shares.

Rights and 
bonus issues

Participants in the ELTIP own the Plan Shares in their own right and are entitled to participate in any rights or bonus issue 
undertaken by Qube. Qube may, in its absolute discretion, provide a loan sufficient to meet the subscription price for a 
participant’s entitlement to new shares on terms agreed between Qube and the participant at the time. Any Plan Shares 
issued under a bonus or rights issue will not be subject to any trading restrictions.

Holding lock Qube has a holding lock on Plan Shares until they become vested and the related loan and any outstanding interest have 
been paid. Plan Shares subject to a holding lock are unable to be traded.

Expiry date The loan for any Plan Share must be repaid on the earlier of:
(a) the date 3 months after the Plan Share vests (subject to extension for up to 2 years) 
(b) the date 3 months following the termination of engagement of the executive 
(c) the date 5 business days after the Plan Share is sold
(d) the date 5 years and 3 months after making the loan, and
(e) any earlier date set by the Board at the time of offer of the Plan Shares. 

The loan is a limited recourse loan with the amount to be repaid limited to the lesser of the principal advanced and the price 
realised on sale of the Plan Share.

The making of limited recourse loans by Qube to participants to acquire shares under the ELTIP was approved by a resolution of the sole 
member of Qube for the purposes of section 260C of the Corporations Act. 
Set out below are summaries of Plan shares granted under the scheme:

Grant Date
Last possible
vesting Date

Issue 
Price 

($)

Balance at
start of year

(number)

Granted
during 

the year
(number)

Vested/
exercised

during 
the year

(number)

Forfeited
during 

the year
(number)

Balance at
end of year

(number)

Vested and
exercisable 

at end of 
the year

(number)

1 September 
2011*

30 November 
2014 1.3575 – 3,900,000 – – 3,900,000 –

29 June  
2012**

30 November 
2015 1.5135 – 12,000,000 – – 12,000,000 –

* The first tranche of the ELTIP issue has only the ASR performance hurdle applicable to it. 

**  This issue granted on 29 June 2012 was not expensed in FY12 as it does not relate to current year remuneration and therefore has been excluded from 
the table below.

Fair value of plan shares granted:
The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Monte Carlo simulation method that takes into account the likelihood of the Plan 
shares attaining the ASR performance hurdle, the term of the plan, the share price at grant date, expected price volatility, the expected dividend 
yield and the risk free rate over the term. 

The model inputs for Plan Shares expensed during the year ended 30 June 2012 included:

ASR condition
Plan Shares
(Tranche 1)

ASR condition
Plan Shares
(Tranche 2)

ASR condition
Plan Shares
(Tranche 3)

EPS condition
Plan Shares
(Tranche 1)

EPS condition
Plan Shares
(Tranche 2)

vesting date 31 August 2012 31 August 2013 31 August 2014 30 June 2013 30 June 2014

Grant date 1 September 2011 1 September 2011 1 September 2011 1 September 2011 1 September 2011

vWAP at Grant Date ($) 1.36 1.36 1.36 1.36 1.36

Exercise Price (Plan Loan) ($) 1.36 1.36 1.36 1.36 1.36

volatility of share (%) 30% 30% 30% 30% 30%

Dividend yield in year one 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2%

Risk free rate (%) 3.8% 3.7%  3.8%  3.7%  3.8%

Probability of achievement 100% 100% 100% 75% 60%

Expected life (years) 1.0 2.0 3.0 2.5 3.0

 Plan share value at grant date ($) 0.21 0.26 0.27 0.26 0.28

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012

41. ShaRe-BaSed PaymentS (CONT.)



93QUBE
Financialreport

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the Plan shares), adjusted for any expected changes  
to future volatility due to publicly available information. 

Where Plan shares are issued to employees of subsidiaries within the Group, the subsidiaries compensate Qube Logistics Holdings Limited  
for the amount recognised as an expense in relation to these Plan shares. 

(b) Shadow Equity Plan 
This scheme was offered to certain senior executives of Qube’s Logistics and Ports & Bulk divisions to encourage retention of senior employees 
and focus on growth in the value of Qube. The scheme replaced the existing options schemes in each division when they operated as 
independent entities with different corporate structures.

Under the terms of the scheme, executives have been granted an economic interest in a total of 3,081,470 Qube shares which was equal to 
the estimated value of the option scheme that was terminated. Subject to achieving the vesting hurdle outlined below, they will be paid a cash 
bonus in January 2015 equal to the value of those Qube shares at the time (adjusted for items including dividends paid (disregarding franking 
credits), pro-rata entitlement issues, share splits and similar transactions) from the commencement of the scheme to the payment date.

Essentially, the cash bonus should be approximately equivalent to the value that would have accrued to that employee had they owned the 
Qube shares for the three year period, less applicable tax.

The only vesting hurdle is that the recipient must continue to be employed by the respective business on 31 December 2014 and the relevant 
employer has not become entitled to terminate the recipient’s employment due to adverse circumstances including serious misconduct.

Set out below is a summary of notional shares granted under the plan:

Grant Date Expiry Date

Issue 
Price 

($)

Balance at
start of year

(number)

Notional
shares

granted
during

the year
(number)

Notional
shares

vested/
exercised

during
the year

(number)

Notional
shares

forfeited
during

the year
(number)

Balance
at end
of year

(number)

Notional
shares

expensed
at end of
the year

(number)

15 December 
2011

31 December 
2014 1.35 – 3,081,470 – – 3,081,470 554,665

Fair value of notional shares granted:
The assessed fair value at grant date under the Shadow Equity Plan, granted to the individual is allocated equally over the period from grant date 
to vesting date. Fair values at grant date are determined using a valuation methodology approved by the N&RC that takes into account the share 
price at grant date, expected price volatility of the underlying shares and the expected dividend yield over the term.

The model inputs for shares granted during the year ended 30 June 2012 included:

(a) share price at grant date: $1.35

(b) share price at year end: $1.55

(c) expected dividend yield: 3%

(d) expected life (years): 3 years

(e) expected growth rate: 5%

(f) discount rate: 7%

(c) Equity Growth Bonus Plan
Under the terms of this scheme, eligible senior executives were entitled to a cash bonus if the equity value of Qube Logistics or Qube Ports & 
Bulk (as applicable) exceeded a valuation hurdle on or prior to 31 December 2014. 

For each business, the cash bonus was calculated based on 2% of the expected increase in the equity value from a base valuation at the time 
the relevant scheme was approved to the relevant hurdle valuation. 

To trigger the hurdle, the equity valuation on or prior to 31 December 2014 adjusted for new capital contributed since 30 June 2011, would had 
to have increased by approximately $280 million in respect of Qube Logistics and in the case of Qube Ports & Bulk by $140 million from the 
date the relevant scheme was approved. Based on the valuation of each business as at June 2012, it was considered likely that relevant hurdles 
would be achieved prior to 31 December 2014.

Therefore, given the high probability of the incentive being payable in the future and to ensure that all senior executives were aligned to Qube’s 
long-term growth rather than divisionally focused, it was decided to terminate the Equity Growth Bonus Plan based on an agreed value 
with management.
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41. ShaRe-BaSed PaymentS (CONT.)
Fair value of cash bonus payments:
As a result of the decision to terminate the plan, a payment of $5.2 million to Qube Logistics management and $2.6 million to Qube Ports & Bulk 
management was agreed. The value was based on the expected future payment under the scheme, adjusted to reflect the risk of not achieving 
the hurdle, and the time expected to achieve the hurdle. 

The eligible participants will receive a termination payment in the form of a cash bonus of 50% of the total amount less applicable tax, in 
December 2012 and December 2013. (Refer to note 19). 

(d) Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions
Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period as part of employee benefit expense 
were as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

equity based compensation – expensed

Executive long-term incentive plan 430 –

Shadow Equity plan 813 –

Equity Growth Bonus plan 7,800 –

9,043 –

42. finanCial RiSk management
Qube is exposed to credit risk, market risk (interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and price risk) and liquidity risk arising from the financial 
instruments it holds. 

The Board of Directors is tasked with the risk management process for Qube. The risk management process involves a detailed analysis 
of cash flows and forecasts. The Board of Directors undertakes a continuous review of the performance and prospects of Qube. This will 
include consideration of the gearing levels within each subsidiary entity and the impact of adverse movements in interest rates, the level and 
predictability of cash flows to meet debt obligations and capital expenditure, as well as any change in strategy that changes the underlying risk 
profile for that entity. 

The carrying amounts of Qube’s financial assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date approximate their fair value.

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will fail to perform contractual obligations, either in whole or in part, under a contract. 

Qube is exposed to credit risk as a result of its deposits with banks and investments in fixed interest securities and money market securities. 
Qube mitigates credit risk arising from these investments by investing only in term deposits and money market securities issued by the major 
domestic banks. In relation to trade receivables, where possible, Qube only transacts with credit worthy customers and then continually reviews 
the outstanding amounts for impairment as set out in note 1(n).

Other than as set out in note 9 none of the financial assets are impaired nor past due but not impaired at 30 June 2012 ($Nil 30 June 2011).

There were no significant concentrations of credit risk to counterparties at 30 June 2012 or 30 June 2011. 

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, inventories, and money market securities best represent the maximum credit 
risk exposure at the balance sheet date. The credit quality of these securities is set out in the table below.

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

aa 118,565 78,860

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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(b) Market risk
(i) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. 

Qube’s exposure to interest rate risk arose primarily from its investments in money market securities, term deposits and borrowings. Qube’s 
exposure to interest rate risk is set out in the following table:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Bank loans  443,170 93,180

Cash (118,565) (78,860)

net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 324,605 14,320

The Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis.

The sensitivities of Qube’s monetary assets and liabilities to interest rate risk is summarised in (c) below. The analysis is based on the assumption 
that interest rates changed +/100 basis points (2011 – +/ 100 basis points) from the year end rates with all other variables held constant. The 
impact mainly arises from changes in the fair value of money market securities, interest rate securities, term deposits with banks and borrowings. 

(ii) Foreign exchange risk
The Group may purchases assets internationally and as such is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, 
primarily with respect to the US dollar. 

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not  
the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measuring using sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting. 

The foreign exchange risk relating to non-monetary assets and liabilities is a component of price risk not foreign exchange risk. However, 
management monitors the exposure on all foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities. Qube’s exposure to foreign exchange risk is 
minimal as it mainly purchases assets denominated in Australian dollars.

The sensitivities of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities to foreign exchange risk is summarised in (c). The analysis is based on the 
assumption that the Australian dollar weakened/strengthened by 5% (2011 – 5%) against the US dollar. The impact arises mainly from Qube’s 
purchase of US dollar assets. 

(c) Sensitivity analysis 
The following table summarises the sensitivity of Qube’s after tax operating profit and net assets attributable to shareholders to interest rate risk 
and other price risk (excluding the impact from the unlisted investments). The reasonably possible movements in the risk variables have been 
determined based on management’s best estimate, having regard to a number of factors, including historical levels of changes in interest rates 
and foreign exchange rates, historical correlation of Qube’s investments with the relevant benchmark and market volatility. However, actual 
movements in the risk variables may be greater or less than anticipated due to a number of factors, including unusually large market shocks 
resulting from changes in the performance of the economies, markets and securities in which Qube invests. As a result, historic variations in risk 
variables are not a definitive indicator of future variations in the risk variables.

interest rate risk foreign exchange risk

-100 bps +100 bps
-5% 
uSd

-5% 
uSd

2012
Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

total 
increase/ 
(decrease) (1,385) (1,385) 1,385 1,385 (30) (30) 216 216

interest rate risk foreign exchange risk

-100 bps +100 bps
-5% 
uSd

-5% 
uSd

2011
Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

Total increase/ 
(decrease) (143) (143) 143 143 – – – –
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42. finanCial RiSk management (CONT.)

(d) Liquidity and cash flow risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Qube will experience difficulty in either realising assets or otherwise raising sufficient funds to satisfy commitments 
associated with financial instruments. Cash flow risk is the risk that the future cash flows derived from holding financial instruments will fluctuate. 

Financing arrangements
The Group has access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of the reporting period:

Floating rate
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Expiring within one year – –

Expiring beyond one year  236,811 –

 236,811 –

Subject to the continuance of satisfactory covenant compliance, the bank loan facilities may be drawn down at any time and have an average 
maturity of 4 years (2011: 3 years).

Maturity of financial liabilities
The table below analyses Qube’s financial liabilities excluding gross settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity Groupings based 
on the remaining period to the earliest possible contractual maturity date at the year end date. The amounts in the table are contractual 
undiscounted cash flows.

Consolidated
As at 30 June 2012

Less than
1 month

$’000
1–6 months

$’000
6–12 months

$’000

Greater than
1 year
$’000

Trade and other payables 94,505 – – 18,523

Provisions – –  38,226 9,169

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – 2,662 – –

Borrowings – –  19,306 423,864

total financial liabilities 94,505 2,662  57,532 451,556

Consolidated 
As at 30 June 2011

Less than
1 month

$’000
1–6 months

$’000
6–12 months

$’000

Greater than
1 year
$’000

Trade and other payables 37,243 – – –

Provisions 2,130 28,069 – 6,724

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – 43 – –

Borrowings 632 3,160 3,791 103,099

total financial liabilities 40,005 31,272 3,791 109,823

(e) Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.

The carrying amounts of all Qube’s financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of each reporting period approximated their fair values.

Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss are measured initially at fair value excluding any transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. Transaction costs on financial assets and financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed immediately. Subsequent to initial recognition, all instruments held at fair value through profit or 
loss are measured at fair value with changes in their fair value recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Fair value in an active market
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets is based on their quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period 
without any deduction for estimated future selling costs.

Qube values its investments in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 1(n). For the majority of its investments, Qube relies on 
information provided by independent pricing services for the valuation of its investments.

The quoted market price used for financial assets held by Qube is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market price for financial 
liabilities is the current asking price. When Qube holds derivatives with offsetting market risks, it uses mid-market prices as a basis for 
establishing fair value for the offsetting risk positions and applies this bid or asking price to the net open position, as appropriate.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, 
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions  
on an arm’s length basis.

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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(ii) Fair value in an inactive or unquoted market
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques. These include 
the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current fair value of a substantially similar other instrument, discounted 
cash flow techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation technique that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained in actual 
market transactions.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate 
used is a market rate at the end of the reporting period applicable for an instrument with similar terms and conditions.

For other pricing models, inputs are based on market data at the end of the reporting period. Fair values for unquoted equity 
investments are estimated, if possible, using applicable price/earnings ratios for similar listed companies adjusted to reflect the specific 
circumstances of the issuer.

The fair value of derivatives that are not exchange traded is estimated at the amount that Qube would receive or pay to terminate the contract 
at the end of the reporting period taking into account current market conditions (volatility and appropriate yield curve) and the current 
creditworthiness of the counterparties. The fair value of a forward contract is determined as a net present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at appropriate market rates as at the valuation date. The fair value of an option contract is determined by applying the Black Scholes 
option valuation model.

Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore estimated based on assumptions.

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be determined with certainty, and valuation techniques 
employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions Qube holds. valuations are therefore adjusted, where appropriate, to allow for 
additional factors including liquidity risk and counterparty risk.

The carrying value less impairment provision of other receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value of 
financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that  
is available to Qube for similar financial instruments.

(f) Fair value hierarchy
Qube has adopted the amendments to AASB 7, effective 1 July 2009. This requires Qube to classify fair value measurements using a fair value 
hierarchy that reflects the subjectivity of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

•	 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

•	 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

•	 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair 
value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment based on unobservable 
inputs, that measurement is a level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety 
requires judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or liability.

The determination of what constitutes ‘’observable’’ requires significant judgement by the Board. The Board considers observable data to be 
that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent 
sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.
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42. finanCial RiSk management (CONT.)
The table below sets out Qube’s financial assets and liabilities (by class) measured at fair value according to the fair value hierarchy 
at 30 June 2012.

Consolidated
As at 30 June 2012

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 Equity securities 996 – – 996

 Unlisted investments – – – –

total assets 996 – – 996

liabilities

Derivative instruments – 2,662 – 2,662

total liabilities – 2,662 – 2,662

Consolidated
As at 30 June 2011

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 Equity securities 7,559 – – 7,559

 Unlisted investments – – 398,908 398,908

total assets 7,559 – 398,908 406,467

liabilities

Options 43 – – 43

total liabilities 43 – – 43

Investments, whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and therefore classified within level 1, include active listed 
equities and exchange traded derivatives.

Investments classified within level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they are infrequently traded. In the prior year Level 3 instruments 
included investments in unlisted logistics businesses. As observable prices were not available for these securities, Qube used valuation 
techniques to derive their fair value. Key assumptions used in these valuation techniques included the impact of changes in the company 
discount rate and EBITDA margin. 

For investments in unlisted logistics businesses under level 3, if the discount rate used in the discounted cash flow valuation model was 
increased/decreased by +/ 1% this would have resulted in an increase/decrease in the fair value of:

unlisted logistics Companies

Consolidated
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Opening balance – 454,774

Assets acquired on consolidation – 1,670

Assets consolidated and no longer classed as financial assets – (130,442)

Purchases – 7,445

Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss – 65,461

Closing balance – 398,908

Total gains for the period included in profit or loss that relate to assets held at the end of the reporting period – 47,647

There have been no transfers between levels for the year ended 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011.

noteS to the ConSolidated finanCial StatementS (Cont.)
30 JUNE 2012
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43. PaRent entity finanCial infoRmation
Summary financial information
The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Balance sheet

Current assets 76,744 –

Total assets 1,453,430 –

Current liabilities 3,871 –

Total liabilities 315,490 –

Shareholders’ equity

Issued capital 1,162,880 –

Reserves

 Revaluation surplus – property, plant and equipment – –

 Available-for-sale financial assets – –

 Cash flow hedges – –

 Share-based payments (23,026) –

Retained earnings/(losses) (1,914)  –

1,137,940 –

Profit or loss for the year 31,111 –

total comprehensive income 31,111 –
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diReCtoRS’ deClaRation

In the directors’ opinion:

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 40 to 99 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

 (i)  complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements, and

 (ii)  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of its performance for the financial year 
ended on that date, and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable, and

(c)  at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the extended closed Group identified 
in note 35 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of the deed of cross 
guarantee described in note 36.

Note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board.

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Sam kaplan 
Director

SYDNEY 
22 August 2012
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

xx

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Qube Logistics Holdings Limited

Report on the financial report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited (“the
company”), which comprises the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2012, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies,
other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration for the Qube Logistics Holdings Limited Group
(the consolidated entity). The consolidated entity comprises the company and the entities it controlled
at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the
directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it
contains any material inconsistencies with the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.
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Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001.

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June
2012 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) the financial report and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards
as disclosed in Note 1.

Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 24 to 36 of the directors’ report for the
year ended 30 June 2012. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and
presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion, the remuneration report of Qube Logistics Holdings Limited for the year ended 30
June 2012, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

N R McConnell Sydney
Partner 22 August 2012
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ShaReholdeR infoRmation

toP 20 ShaReholdeRS
As at 21 September 2012, the top 20 shareholders of Qube were as follows:

Rank Name
Number 

of shares
% of 

capital

1 CIP Investments (UK) L P 128,982,461 14.00

2 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 115,969,003 12.59

3 National Nominees Limited 63,166,966 6.86

4 Kawasaki (Australia) Pty Limited 54,525,000 5.92

5 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 53,529,117 5.81

6 Taverners No 10 Pty Ltd 46,908,652 5.09

7 Patterson Cheney Investments Pty Ltd 39,309,603 4.27

8 RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited <PI Pooled A/C> 36,333,498 3.94

9 Taverners No 10 Pty Ltd 24,117,292 2.62

10 Lutovi Investments Pty Ltd 16,790,283 1.82

11 Kaplan Partners Pty Limited 13,782,208 1.50

12 Mr Peter Giacci 13,560,241 1.47

13 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 13,445,769 1.46

14 BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd <Master Cust DRP> 13,168,026 1.43

15 Laddara Pty Limited 11,307,341 1.23

16 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <Colonial First State Inv A/C> 9,754,885 1.06

17 JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited <Cash IncomE A/C> 5,296,103 0.57

18 RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited <PIIC A/C> 4,982,967 0.54

19 Osborne Share Investments Pty Limited 4,501,919 0.49

20 Liangrove Media Pty Ltd 4,117,293 0.45

total 673,548,627 73.10

SuBStantial ShaReholdeRS
As at 21 September 2012, Qube had received notification regarding the following substantial holders:

Substantial shareholder
Number 

of shares
Notice 

date
% of capital 

(as at notice date)

TC Group Infrastructure, L.L.C. and its controlled entities including 
but not limited to, CIP Investments (UK), L.P. (Limited Partnership  
No. LP 14315) by its general partner, Carlyle Infrastructure G.P., Ltd 128,982,461 16 Dec 2011 14.77

Wilh. Wilhelmsen Holding Invest Malta Limited (WWHI Malta) 76,000,000 8 Mar 2012 8.55

Taverners No. 10 Pty Ltd 66,908,777 2 Sep 2011 8.34

Kawasaki (Australia) Pty Limited and Kawasaki Kisen Kasiha Ltd 54,525,000 1 Dec 2011 6.79

Perpetual Limited and subsidiaries 49,109,218 22 May 2012 5.40

unmaRketaBle PaRCelS
As at 21 September 2012, details of parcels of Qube shares with a value of less than $500 were as follows:

Minimum 
parcel size Holders Shares

Minimum $500.00 parcel at $1.4950 per share 335 284 22,506
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diStRiBution SChedule
As at 21 September 2012, the distribution of holdings of Qube shares was as follows:

Range
Total 

holders Shares
% of 

capital

1 – 1,000 717 337,130 0.04

1,001 – 5,000 1,802 5,655,959 0.61

5,001 – 10,000 1,619 12,895,665 1.40

10,001 – 100,000 2,850 82,693,296 8.97

100,001 and over 355 819,825,135 88.98

Total 7,343 921,407,185 100.00

ReStRiCted SeCuRitieS
Qube does not have any restricted securities.  

unQuoted SeCuRitieS
Qube has no unquoted securities. 

CuRRent on-maRket Buy-BaCkS
There are no current on-market buy-backs of shares in Qube.

voting RightS
Shareholders are entitled to one vote per ordinary share. 

ShaReholdeR infoRmation (Cont.)
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COrpOrAtE dirECtOry

Directors
Chris Corrigan (Chairman)
Sam Kaplan (Deputy Chairman)
Maurice James (Managing Director)
ross Burney
Allan Davies 
peter Dexter 
robert Dove 
Yutaka Nakagawa
Aage Holm (Alternate Director)
Alan Miles (Alternate Director)
Simon Moore (Alternate Director)

Secretary
paul Lewis

principal registered office in Australia
Level 22 
44 Market Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

telephone 02 9080 1900

Stock exchange listings
Qube Logistics Holdings Limited shares are listed on the Australian Securities exchange (ASX).

Website address
www.qube.com.au

Share registry
Computershare Investor Services pty Limited 

Level 4 
60 Carrington Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

telephone (Australia) 1300 729 310  
(overseas) +61 3 9415 4608
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